

UNESCO Publishing

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

Charting the Course of Education and HIV

EDUCATION ON THE MOVE



UNESCO Publishing



Charting the Course of Education and HIV

Published in 2014 by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization 7, place de Fontenoy, 75352 Paris 07 SP, France

C UNESCO 2014

Available in Open Access. Use, re-distribution, translations and derivative works of this manual are allowed on the basis that the original source (i.e. *Charting the Course of Education and HIV*, UNESCO) is properly quoted and the new creation is distributed under identical terms as the original. The present license applies exclusively to the text content of the publication. For the use of any material not clearly identified as belonging to UNESCO, prior permission shall be requested to: publication.copyright@unesco.org or UNESCO Publications, 7, place de Fontenoy, 75352 Paris o7 SP France.

ISBN 978-92-3-001226-7

The designations employed and the presentation of material throughout this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of UNESCO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The ideas and opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors; they are not necessarily those of UNESCO and do not commit the Organization.

Cover design: Corinne Hayworth Cover credit: ^(C) Peter Jurik / Panther Media / GraphicObsession Design and printing: UNESCO

Printed in France

Contents

Foreword		5
Education a	nd HIV: Where to from here?	7
Chapter 1. H	low the response has evolved	19
	The role of the education sector in the HIV response	20
	Theories underpinning HIV education	25
	Evolving perspectives	27
	The changing global context	31
	Changes in the education sector response to HIV	36
	The current education sector response	41
Chapter 2. C	Current challenges and debates	49
	Poor quality and delivery	50
	Viewpoint: Teaching about HIV in schools – the missing link?	63
	Comprehensive sexuality education in low-level and concentrated epidemic countries	69
	Viewpoint: Higher education - still grappling with the reality of HIV	
	System weaknesses and underfunding	
	Education within the UNAIDS Investment Framework	
	Monitoring the education sector response to HIV	92
Chapter 3. D	Developments and opportunities	101
	Global commitments and targets	102
	Developments affecting the education sector	105
	Sustaining financing for education and for HIV education	112
Chapter 4. T	owards a new approach	117
	Adapting to an evolving epidemic	118
	Reframing HIV education	128
	Beyond 2015	138
	Conclusion	140
Notes on Co	ntributors	146
Acronyms		150
Glossary		152
References		155

Boxes and Figures

Box 1:	UNAIDS cosponsors	
Box 2:	Education and key HIV-related events	
Box 3:	UNESCO's evolving role in the education sector response	
Box 4:	Conditions necessary for an effective education sector HIV response	40
Box 5:	EDUCAIDS	43
Box 6:	Responses to the UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument	44
Box 7:	Life skills education	45
Box 8:	The education sector response in the Caribbean	50
Box 9:	Integration of HIV into the curriculum	55
Box 10:	Policy context in the Asia-Pacific region	70
Box 11:	Tackling discrimination in Eastern Europe and Central Asia	72
Box 12:	Collecting data on young key populations in Cambodia	81
Box 13:	Impact of Global Fund support to the education sector	86
Box 14:	Illustration of the Investment Framework	89
Box 15:	International education goals (EFA and MDG)	102
Box 16:	Global Education First Initiative's Ten Key Actions	104
Box 17:	Conclusions and recommendations from the UNESCO study of the cost and cost-effectiveness of sexuality education	113
Box 18:	Factors contributing to effective school health promotion	126
Figure 1:	Characteristics of effective HIV education	14
Figure 2:	Inclusion of HIV and sexuality education in the curriculum of the 39 GPS countries	71

Foreword

This book is part of UNESCO's Education on the Move series which was created to provide policy-makers, educators and other stake-holders with state-of-the-art analyses of topical issues. More than three decades into the HIV epidemic, HIV education and the role of the education sector in its provision are among these contemporary issues that deserve to be examined.

From the beginning of the epidemic until today, the education sector has played a central role in the global response. It has contributed to the prevention of new infections, supported testing treatment and care, and reduced stigma and discrimination so often experienced by those living with HIV or AIDS, or vulnerable to it. According to UNAIDS, new HIV infections among adults and children in 2012 have been reduced by 33 per cent since 2001 and AIDS-related deaths have also dropped by 30 per cent since the peak in 2005. This is an important achievement to which the education sector has contributed, but the work is far from done.

Between 2001 and 2012, only 26 countries were successful in decreasing by 50 per cent the annual number of new infections among adults and adolescents. A number of other countries are not on track to reach this globally agreed target of halving sexual HIV transmission by 2015. To this we can add that with 2.3 million new infections in 2012, the world has a considerable way to go to ensure that each new generation of young people has the knowledge, attitudes and skills to protect themselves and others, thus highlighting the importance of sustaining and improving current prevention efforts.

In this juncture, it is therefore critical that we reflect on what we have learned and how we can do better to capitalize on our successes. The objective is to redouble our efforts in the education sector to ensure a strong and continued contribution to the prevention of new infections, fewer AIDS-related deaths and less stigma and discrimination.

One of the most significant lessons learned from decades of engagement in this field is that education is not just about acquiring reading, writing and numeracy skills. Education can transform lives. It has the capacity to create globally-minded citizens able to navigate and thrive in their environment, take healthy decisions and build a more just, inclusive, safe and sustainable world.

This holistic view of education establishes more clearly the connections between education and health - two inextricably linked sectors that are equally paramount to the development of individuals and nations. One without the other condemns a nation and its people to desolation.

This book reviews these and many other lessons learned from HIV education interventions and draws out from among these the strategies and approaches that can be replicated to address other health and life issues and support the development of global citizenship.

It builds on the experience and knowledge of UNESCO staff working in Latin America and the Caribbean, Africa, Eastern Europe and Central Asia, Middle East and North Africa and Asia and the Pacific, and includes contributions from some of the key thinkers and practitioners in this field. UNESCO is very grateful for their contribution, as well as for the time and effort taken by our external reviewers, Ms Margherita Licata and Mr Oliver Liang from ILO, Dr Rafael Mazin from PAHO and Mr David Clarke (independent consultant).

Qian Tang, Ph.D. Assistant Director-General for Education

Education and HIV: Where to from here?

UNAIDS estimates that there are 35.3 million people living with HIV worldwide, of whom 2.3 million were newly infected in 2012.' Even though new infections have declined by 34 per cent in sub-Saharan Africa since 2001, it remains the most affected area, accounting for 70 per cent of all new infections in 2012. Young people are particularly affected. For example, in East and Southern Africa fifty young people are infected every hour.² In other regions, such as Eastern Europe and Central Asia (EECA) and the Middle East and North Africa, new infections are on the rise.³ Eleven UN agencies, including UNESCO, are responding to HIV as UNAIDS cosponsors. UNESCO's contribution focuses on the pivotal role of education in HIV prevention, treatment and care and in reducing stigma and discrimination. As the Executive Director of UNAIDS stated at the launch of the Global Education First Initiative on 27 September 2012, 'Ending AIDS is possible – and education is the key to success'.

HIV education supports prevention, treatment and care (including testing) and helps to address stigma and discrimination. The contents of HIV education should reflect the epidemiological context, for example the disease burden and modes of transmission. In this publication, the term HIV education refers to both HIV and AIDS.

This book provides an overview of the evolution of the role of the education sector and its approaches to HIV education, what has been learned, emerging challenges and opportunities, and future directions. Its themes include policy and funding, teacher training, HIV education content and delivery, and monitoring and measurement. The role of the education sector in responding to HIV and the contribution of school-based HIV education are issues that have been, and continue to be, the subject of much debate. The book explores these debates and proposes a way forward.

Debates covered in this book include the importance of interactive pedagogy to promote life skills, this is in contrast to didactic teaching methods; ageappropriate sexuality education to prevent new HIV infection, this is in opposition to the rigid moralisation of an abstinence-only education policy; and establishing limits to the role of education in promoting behaviour change. This book aims to highlight both the education sector's contribution to the HIV response and the key learnings made within the education sector as a result of responding to HIV. It is based on contributions received from UNESCO staff at headquarters and field offices, other UN agencies, and academics, all with a wide range of experience in education and in HIV education specifically, it is intended to provide a reference for policy-makers, practitioners and researchers in HIV and education from both the education and health sectors.

This volume will touch upon many aspects of education, including nonformal, post-secondary and adult learning; it focuses on formal school-based approaches to HIV education. This reflects the observation that schools are particularly well placed to reach large numbers of youth and that schoolbased education programmes have been effective in developing healthy attitudes and skills among young people, and builds on UNESCO's comparative advantage of supporting ministries of education. However, as we will see later in this book, provision of HIV education is uneven, with disparities across regions and within countries, and is often not commensurate with the disease burden. The focus on formal education, specifically primary and secondary, stems in part from the global commitment to achieve the Education for All goals, which has led to an increase in enrolment in primary schools, as well as a projected increase in secondary school enrolment. This trend looks to continue through to the post-2015 development agenda as education remains a global priority. These increases in enrolment require national education sectors to gear up and be ready to respond to increased need; formal schooling remains one of the most effective ways of reaching the largest number of young people in a systematic and sustained way.

As a contribution to UNESCO's Education on the Move series, this volume explores, over four chapters, the issues, approaches, and debates related to HIV education in view of informing professionals working primarily in education. However, given the centrality of these issues to the health sector as well, it is our hope that this volume will also be helpful to health professionals. HIV is a rare issue for the education sector to address; it is a public health crisis and a development challenge. Issues and debates concerning pedagogy, the role of schools in the sexual lives of young people, and the role of education in contributing to behaviour change are analysed. Chapter one describes how the response has evolved by discussing the global context and the education sector's response to it. Chapter two unpacks the systemic challenges and includes two Viewpoint sections written by recognised global leaders on the issues. Chapter three sets the stage for a way forward by discussing developments and opportunities. Chapter four explains

8

a new way forward for HIV education. It recognises global developments that are breaking barriers, such as global citizenship education, new views on learning assessment and the emergence of widely available and effective new learning technologies that work together to create new opportunities to address the needs of young people and build their skills for health. The volume concludes that education is critical for all to develop the knowledge, attitudes, values and skills to live healthy.

How the response has evolved

The volume starts by setting out the rationale for the role of education in the HIV response and describing the contribution of HIV education. It highlights the links between education and health, both of which are basic human rights promoted by UN agencies. For example, good health can positively affect educational outcomes by increasing enrolment, reducing absenteeism and drop-out, and improving cognitive performance and educational attainment. Education is also a key determinant of health. It develops the knowledge, values, attitudes and skills required to make informed choices and adopt healthier behaviours.⁴ While knowledge on its own is usually insufficient for behavioural change, it is a prerequisite for the adoption of safer sexual behaviours and thus the foundation for an effective HIV response. The cognitive, psychosocial and emotional coping and self-management skills that are the key to HIV and sexuality education can also be used to address a number of other health issues such as violence prevention, substance use prevention and hygiene promotion.

Education is also central to human and social development and an enabler of human rights and gender equality. Gender is a key driver of the HIV epidemic. The roles that boys and men, girls and women are expected to play in many societies can increase risk behaviour and vulnerability. Education can improve awareness of gender inequality, address harmful gender norms and help to reduce gender-based discrimination and violence. These outcomes are important both in their own right for equal, fair and prosperous societies and as critical enablers for an effective HIV response.

The first chapter also provides an overview of the evolution of the global context, the education sector response and approaches to HIV education since the epidemic began. It describes the context in which HIV education became part of the global response to the epidemic. The rapid spread of HIV and, in the early years, the lack of treatment demanded an urgent response to prevent new infections, including among young people who were becoming

sexually active and were thus at risk. This was not something that could be addressed by the health sector alone, and thus the education sector became an important actor in what was increasingly a multisectoral response, as international commitment and funding for HIV grew.

Initially HIV education emphasized providing young people with knowledge about HIV. Most approaches were characterized by teaching about HIV and AIDS as a science or a moral issue. In many contexts, formal education used scare tactics in an attempt to prevent young people from engaging in sexual activity, or promoted 'abstinence-only' messages. These methods did not have the intended effect, and infection rates continued to rise. As HIV education became more established and better evaluated, it became widely understood that knowledge about HIV alone was not enough to produce healthier behaviours. Thus, skills-based approaches such as life skills education, which emphasize cognitive skills but also communication and coping skills, were adopted.

Initially, HIV education was in effect synonymous with HIV prevention, but as antiretroviral therapy has become more widely available it has widened to include treatment education. At the same time, growing recognition of the role of stigma and discrimination, in particular in preventing people from seeking HIV services, has resulted in an increased emphasis on education to reduce stigma and discrimination. And, as the understanding of the epidemic developed, especially with respect to differences in epidemiology and drivers of transmission across regions and countries, it also became clear that HIV education needed to be adapted to reflect these differences: approaches appropriate for countries with generalized epidemics were not

10

relevant to those where specific populations, such as men who have sex with men, sex workers and their clients, and injecting drug users, were most at risk. However, the extent of this adaptation varies, and more needs to be done to ensure that HIV education reflects local epidemic realities.

More recently, HIV education has moved from a stand-alone subject to the wider skills-based health approach, including comprehensive sexuality education. A significant event that had a major influence on the education sector response was a meeting of ministers of health and education in the Latin American and Caribbean region, which coincided with the 2008 International AIDS Conference in Mexico. At that meeting ministers made a commitment to put sexuality education at the core of the sector's response.⁷ The commitment highlighted the need for sexuality education to be an essential component of all curricula in formal education, related as it is to key health outcomes and rights.

In the wider context there was growing recognition of the need for a more systematic education sector response, one that took account of the impact of the epidemic on the sector itself and on educators and learners, especially in the most severely affected countries. This was accompanied by a range of initiatives that aimed to support the education sector and strengthen its capacity to manage and mitigate the impact of the epidemic and to deliver effective HIV education in schools. Despite these initiatives, progress was slow initially, in part due to wider changes, in particular the focus on universal primary education, which placed considerable demands on education systems. Subsequently, concerted efforts were made at global level by UNAIDS cosponsors, bilateral donors and civil society organizations to accelerate comprehensive education sector responses to HIV. As a result, an increasing number of countries have developed policies and plans, expanded training for teachers about HIV and increased the breadth of HIV education. However, weaknesses in implementation of policy and plans remain a problem.

Lessons learned and challenges to delivery of HIV education

Given that young people are a growing demographic group, and that each year a new cohort becomes sexually active, it is imperative that all adolescents and young people are provided with good-quality HIV, sexuality, and health education. However, three decades into the epidemic, although infection rates have decreased in a number of countries and a large number of young people receive adequate education, knowledge levels among learners on

11

how to protect oneself from HIV infection remain unacceptably low. In many places the delivery and quality of HIV education are compromised by competing priorities, teacher shortages, poorly prepared teachers, overcrowded curricula, and inadequate HIV education curricula and teaching materials.

In addition, efforts have focused on provision of HIV education in secondary schools, despite a strong argument for starting such education at primary school level, when children are developing attitudes and values and before they reach puberty and start to become sexually active. These and other challenges are discussed briefly below and in more detail in Chapter 2.

We know what needs to be included in the curriculum⁸ and how HIV and sexuality should be covered. However, available evidence suggests that many existing curricula have weaknesses, including inadequate reference to key aspects of sex and sexuality, lack of information about where to access services, and limited attention to social and cultural factors, sexual rights and sexual diversity.⁹ These weaknesses reflect both the time required to change curricula and also political, religious and societal opposition to teaching certain topics to young people. Even where the curriculum is more comprehensive, selective teaching is often a challenge, particularly in situations where teachers do not feel mandated or supported by the school or community to teach about sexuality, relationships and sex in general, or are uncomfortable with sensitive issues or unprepared to address them.

Effective HIV education requires participatory methods and other learnercentred approaches as well as a logical sequencing that builds on knowledge and skills and introduces subject matter that is age-appropriate and relevant to learners' social situation and cognitive development. Education for younger children, beginning as early as age five, should include basic information, less advanced cognitive tasks and less complex activities. In other words, the acquisition of knowledge, attitudes, values and skills starts at an early age and should be provided throughout a learner's education. This is a challenge in schools where teachers do not have the skills or confidence to use these approaches, class sizes are large and education is focused on examinations. Changes in classroom structure and dynamics can be achieved through a number of techniques,¹⁰ but this requires a move away from authoritarian models of classroom management towards collaborative approaches between teachers and learners," which can be difficult if teachers are unused to such approaches and have to manage large classes. Early on in the epidemic, teachers were mostly prepared to deliver HIV education through in-service training. This was often limited in scope and duration and in many cases based on a cascade model of training, which can result in poor quality training at lower levels of the cascade.¹² It has become increasingly evident that in-service training is insufficient, given the sensitivity and complexity of HIV and sexuality education. Teachers need quality pre-service training and follow-up in-service training and support. It has also become clear that the most effective training involves teachers in its design, builds their knowledge, skills and confidence, allows them to explore and address their attitudes and values, recognizes their vulnerabilities, and helps to develop their life skills so that they can protect themselves and others. Training for teachers as well as other members of staff within an educational setting also needs to cover issues such as human rights, gender, sexuality and sexual diversity, and inclusion and non-discriminatory practices.¹³

Teacher training should equip teachers to deal with modern realities, including the dramatic increase in the availability of information through new communication technologies and media. Teachers can no longer be the gatekeepers of information, but they can help learners to make sense of the information they receive. Teachers are also responsible for helping learners to interpret information and the world around them, in line with the four pillars of education proposed by the International Commission on Education for the Twenty-First Century – Learning to Know, Learning to Do, Learning to Live Together and Learning to Be – which are the foundation of UNESCO's educational mission.¹⁴ But again, inadequate training means that many teachers are ill-prepared to play this role.

We have learned¹⁵ that when comprehensive sexuality education, including HIV, is age-appropriate, gender-sensitive, rights-based, contextually adapted, scientifically accurate, life skills-based and provided in a building-block approach, it does not lead to early sexual initiation but can help learners to develop and maintain safer behaviours, while reducing stigma and discrimination towards people affected by and living with HIV. However, inadequate provision of good-quality HIV and comprehensive sexuality education remains a major challenge, and relatively few countries are implementing comprehensive sexuality education at scale.¹⁶ This reflects lack of political commitment, weak long-term planning and investment, and lack of clarity about how to implement comprehensive sexuality education,⁷⁷ as well as wider education system and capacity challenges. In countries struggling to improve the quality of education and to cope with the increase in primary school enrolment resulting from the push for Education for All, HIV, sexuality and life skills education may be given low priority.

Figure 1: Characteristics of effective HIV education



In addition, HIV financing has increasingly been directed towards treatment and other biomedical interventions and a relatively small proportion of available funding is allocated to prevention through school-based education. This is partly the result of the current emphasis of the global response on interventions that deliver improved biological or behavioural outcomes. This is a challenge for the education sector, since measuring how knowledge contributes to behaviour change and, in particular, attributing change to the effect of formal education rather than to other interventions, is extremely difficult. In addition, one aim of HIV education is to develop the knowledge, attitudes and skills that provide the foundation for healthy behaviours; as such, it cannot be expected to deliver behavioural outcomes alone. This challenge, as discussed in greater detail in Chapter 2, is also reflected in the indicators currently used for the monitoring and evaluation (M&E) of the global response, which do not provide a comprehensive assessment of the education sector's contribution.

14

Recent developments in a changing international context

Chapter 3 discusses the ways in which wider changes in the global context and emerging issues will present both opportunities and challenges for the education sector response to HIV and also for HIV education.

The global context is changing, as the international community debates priorities beyond the Millennium Development Goals. The process of defining the post-2015 global development agenda has highlighted the importance of addressing the world's most pressing challenges, including those facing children, adolescents and young people.¹⁶ Education is recognized as the foundation for sustainable development, promoting inclusive human development, economic growth, environmental sustainability, peace and security. Comprehensive sexuality education, including HIV education, also features prominently in discussions of the post-2015 global development agenda, and there is growing pressure to recognize comprehensive sexuality education as a basic human right.¹⁹

The Global Education First Initiative (GEFI), launched in September 2012 by the UN Secretary-General, seeks to re-energize the global community to achieve the 2015 Education for All and education-related Millennium Development Goals. It seeks to address the problems that undermine goodquality education and learning outcomes and to foster global citizenship, promoting education that is transformative, that cultivates shared values, and that promotes respect and responsibility across cultures, countries and regions. It highlights the fundamental role of good-quality education, including education on HIV, in achieving better health outcomes, progress towards gender equality, economic opportunities and sustainable development. It also promotes a new vision of education that builds on basic skills for empathy, global stewardship, and capacitating learners to 'answer the big questions of the day.²²⁰

The changing global education agenda offers promising and innovative ways to teach and learn. For example, the work of the Learning Metrics Task Force, co-convened by UNESCO through its Institute for Statistics (UIS) and the Center for Universal Education (CUE) at the Brookings Institution, has the opportunity to shift the focus of global education debates from an idea of simply accessing schooling to the quality of learning through a focus on competencies and skills. The Task Force proposes seven domains of learning that encompass what every child needs to learn – physical well-being, social and emotional, culture and the arts, literacy and communication, learning approaches and cognition, numeracy and mathematics, and science

and technology. This holistic framework of learning domains provides an opportunity to ensure that life skills including HIV and health education, is a core area of learning. This opportunity will only be realized if there is systemic change in the education sector, however.

Emerging issues that will have significant implications for the education sector, and for HIV and sexuality education specifically, include changing demographics, the need to address educational disparities, growing emphasis on universal access to secondary education, and the role of new technologies. In the last 60 years, the number of adolescents in the world has increased dramatically, from just below 500 million in 1950 to just over 1.2 billion in 2010, and the UN²¹ expects the main population increases to occur in the least developed countries in the future. With increasing numbers of learners entering formal education, schools will more than ever be the most important setting for HIV and sexuality education. At the same time, this will pose significant challenges for education ministries, for the provision of education in general, and for HIV and sexuality education more specifically, requiring increased investment to meet growing demand and to ensure that children and young people receive good-quality education.

Despite progress in increasing primary school enrolment, a significant number of children remain out of school. Greater efforts will be needed to address disparities in access and learning outcomes across regions and also geographical, socio-economic and gender disparities in primary school access, completion and learning outcomes within countries, as well as to ensure that those who are out of school receive effective HIV and sexuality education. Formal secondary school is the most effective way to develop skills for life and for work, and is thus essential for the future development of individuals and countries. However, the focus on universal access to primary education has resulted in a lack of emphasis on secondary schooling. To address this, the global education agenda is now shifting to greater emphasis on universal access to secondary education. This offers the opportunity to ensure that increasing numbers of adolescents and young people receive good-quality HIV and sexuality education, but it will place additional pressure on education systems.

In education, the rapid spread of new technologies can contribute to universal access, equity, the delivery of quality learning and teaching, teachers' professional development, and more efficient education management, governance and administration. Growing access to the internet and telecommunications and increasing use of social media have the potential to contribute to improvements in education, including comprehensive sexuality

education. Technology is also challenging traditional didactic approaches to teaching as it facilitates young people's opportunities for participation, interactivity and creativity and gives teachers new tools to build and assess skills in real time. Virtual classrooms offer new ways of teaching for educators and new ways of assimilating knowledge for learners, both of which are particularly relevant to sexuality education.

Towards a new approach

Chapter 4 looks to the future, describing how HIV education, and in particular the way in which it is framed and delivered, needs to change in order to respond to new challenges and developments and to ensure that it is effective and relevant to the needs of learners.

Firstly, HIV education will need to adapt to an evolving epidemic, to new developments and approaches, including recent advances in prevention and treatment, and to the needs of adolescents and young people who are living with HIV. The availability of antiretroviral therapy has enabled a generation of children born with HIV to become adolescents. These adolescents and future young adults have specific needs with respect to relationships and sexuality that are often not covered in existing HIV and sexuality education.

Secondly, education ministries and their approaches to HIV education need to respond to the growing demand from young people and parents for comprehensive sexuality education and related services. This will require the education sector to incorporate HIV education within broader skillsbased health education, including comprehensive sexuality education and to strengthen the links between education and integrated HIV and sexual and reproductive health services. It will also require new ways of working and new partnerships at all levels.

Thirdly, we need to rethink the way in which HIV and sexuality education is delivered. During the last two decades education ministries have addressed HIV through a range of responses. Most have focused on curriculum-based interventions, which aim to equip children and young people with the knowledge and skills they need, and related pre- and in-service training of teachers and development of teaching and learning materials. As will be discussed in the book, HIV education and life skills programmes face numerous challenges in their implementation and coverage, which means that many learners leave school unprepared to lead healthy sexual lives. Experience has highlighted the importance of learner-centred participatory teaching methodologies and of the need for teachers to be well prepared and supported to deliver HIV education. Teachers should be able to customize each class and lesson to meet the needs of their learners and to build their skills to negotiate the challenges and vulnerabilities they face daily in their community.

Fourthly, we need to set out clearly what education can contribute to the HIV response, as well as what it cannot be expected to achieve, and to measure its contribution using educational rather than health metrics. The education sector measures outcomes such as knowledge, attitudes and skills. These can contribute to safer behaviours but will only be realized in the long term.

In conclusion, this book argues that education is fundamental to an effective HIV response and that lessons learned from experience in HIV education can contribute to modernising education and making it more relevant to learners by building their skills to navigate the many challenges they face. HIV education is entering a new phase, one that builds on experience and enables learners to make healthier choices throughout their lives. There has been substantial progress; further change will take time but will ensure that education helps learners to achieve their full potential and cope with future challenges, promoting good health and reducing new HIV infections, HIVrelated mortality and HIV-related stigma and discrimination.

Chapter 1

How the response has evolved

The role of the education sector in the HIV response

This chapter provides a brief overview of the rationale for education sector involvement in the HIV response and, more specifically, for school-based HIV education. HIV education has three main components: prevention, treatment and care, and education to address stigma and discrimination.

Education is central to human and social development. Globally, investment in education has resulted in significant gains in human and social development. For example, the evidence underpinning the United Nations Secretary General's Education First Initiative²² shows that:

- Getting all children into basic education, while raising learning standards, could boost growth by 2 per cent annually in low-income countries. Some 171 million people could be lifted out of poverty reducing the global poverty rate by 12 per cent if all students in low-income countries acquired basic reading skills.
- Some countries lose more than US\$1 billion a year by failing to educate girls to the same level as boys. Each additional school year can increase a woman's earnings by between 10 and 20 per cent.
- Women with secondary education are more likely to know how to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV.
- Over the past four decades, the global increase in women's education has prevented more than four million child deaths. In sub-Saharan Africa, approximately 1.8 million children's lives could have been saved in 2008 if all their mothers had had at least secondary education.

Education is a critical enabler for human rights and gender equality. Children and young people have the right to education, including to education that enables them to stay healthy and to protect themselves from risk. To meet the Education for All (EFA) goals, education must be inclusive. A key pillar of inclusion is the Convention against Discrimination in Education, adopted by UNESCO in 1960, that aims to eliminate discrimination in education. It also promotes the adoption of measures that promote equality of opportunity and treatment. 'Every child has the human right to education, health and security. The central role of schools is teaching and learning, but they are also a unique community resource to promote health and development for children, families and teachers.²³

The education sector can play a key role in ensuring that all children and young people are aware of their rights and the rights of others, through formal education and a supportive school environment. Sector-wide and in-school anti-discrimination policies can ensure that all learners enjoy their right to education. More specifically, both school-based and non-formal education can play a role in addressing HIV-related stigma and discrimination faced both by children and young people and by teachers, and can foster positive attitudes, tolerance and respect for diversity.

Gender inequality is increasingly recognized as a key driver of the HIV epidemic, as the roles that men and women are expected to play in many societies can increase risk behaviour and vulnerability. Where women are in positions of less power, their ability to decide when, where and with whom to have sex, and to negotiate safer sex, is compromised. Equally, social expectations of masculinity in many countries may lead men to take risks, to adopt a dominant position in relationships with women and, in some cases, to perpetrate violence against women.

Education has a direct impact on gender equality. The global movement to achieve gender parity in education is based on recognition of the beneficial effects, for individuals, families and societies, of educating girls. Education can also improve awareness of gender inequality and address harmful gender norms, which in turn helps reduce the risks associated with gender inequality both for boys and girls and to reduce gender-based discrimination and violence. These outcomes are important both in their own right for equal, fair and prosperous societies and as critical enablers for an effective HIV response.

Various studies have explored the link between literacy and HIV, including ways in which non-formal education programmes to improve literacy can contribute to HIV prevention.^{24,25,26} Formal education can reduce vulnerability by exposing boys and girls to information, building self-esteem and skills, improving economic prospects and influencing the balance of power within relationships. In addition, education has specific HIV-related benefits for girls and women. Studies have shown that girls who have completed secondary education have a lower risk of HIV infection than those who have only completed a primary school education.²⁷ Formal schooling delays first sex, marriage and childbearing.²⁸

There is also emerging evidence²⁹ that shows that gender-responsive HIV education can help learners understand their individual and social vulnerability to HIV and perceive the power and gender dynamics that play out in sexual relationships. Critical thinking skills can give children and young people the opportunity to challenge existing social norms that may put them at risk, and develop more equal gender relations. Such skills can enable young people to, for example, analyse what the barriers to negotiating sex or condom use are (for a girl or a boy), and how to address these issues.

The most damaging manifestation of gender inequality is gender-based violence (GBV), which has far-reaching physical and psychological effects for the victim and is detrimental for society more broadly. GBV has a powerful effect on HIV vulnerability and risk both directly, through trauma or unsafe sex, and indirectly.³⁰ Education is a key element of a comprehensive response to GBV. More specifically, secondary school completion has a protective effect on females' risk of intimate partner violence.³¹

Homophobia and transphobia are other manifestations of gender-based violence. Bullying undermines all three dimensions of a human rights-based approach to education - access, quality and respect within the learning environment.³² It is important to link efforts aimed at tackling homophobia and transphobia with comprehensive sexuality education, including HIV education, because it affects the physical and mental health and the rights of those directly victimized. In Latin America, for example, where sex between men is the leading mode of HIV transmission (in Brazil men who have sex with men are 11 times more likely to be HIV-positive than the population as a whole), homophobia fuels the epidemic, isolating individuals and making them less likely to seek help and support.³³ Education can help promote positive attitudes towards sexual diversity and the need for changes geared to addressing intolerance and tackling homophobic and transphobic bullying. These are associated with a range of adverse outcomes in gay, lesbian and transgender youth, including poor academic achievement, dropping out of school, violence, anxiety and depression. In some countries, schools have anti-bullying policies that include protections based on sexual orientation and gender identity. These policies have been associated with learners' reports of feeling safer, experiencing less abuse and feeling better about themselves, including highly significant decreases in self-harm, suicidal ideations and attempted suicide.34

In sum, education is central to the HIV response in terms of its potential for change in the area of gender equality. Keeping girls in school, implementing HIV and sexuality education, and taking a gender-responsive approach to education in general and HIV education in particular can all play a role.

Education is also critical to good health, and good health is critical to maximizing the benefits of education. Healthy learners learn better and better educated learners have the knowledge and skills to be healthy. Addressing the health of learners is central to meeting the health and education Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) – achieving universal primary education (MDG 2), promoting gender equality and empowering women (MDG 3), combating HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases (MDG 6)³⁵ – and the EFA goals, as well as the new development goals that are emerging for the post-2015 period.

The report of the Global Thematic Consultation on Health,³⁶ one of a number of thematic consultations that will inform the post-2015 agenda, highlights the need to focus more broadly on good health and well-being, rather than only on preventing and treating disease, and tackling gender and other inequalities, discrimination and human rights violations:

"Education is a key determinant of health. Early childhood development is a critical enabler of health, with early childhood experiences having a long-lasting impact on the mental and physical health of individuals. Health has an important role in cognitive development in the pre-school years, from birth to age five. Improving access to nutrition and health care for children from lower socio-economic strata improves their school attendance and their scholastic performance. Education of girls is a crucial building block for improving women's and children's health. Equally, women who are empowered through education and good health generally choose to have fewer children and are able to invest more in the health and education of their children, thereby creating a positive cycle for growth and development. Schools can also encourage the early adoption of healthy behaviours, including abstaining from tobacco use, increasing physical activity, avoiding alcohol and encouraging healthy dietary habits. Sexuality education has a beneficial impact on sexual and reproductive health." ³⁷

There is a growing body of evidence showing that good health can positively affect educational outcomes, by increasing enrolment, reducing absenteeism, reducing dropping out and improving cognitive performance. Conversely, poor health has a detrimental effect on school attendance and academic performance. For example, iron deficiency anaemia reduces children's test scores,³⁸ and malnourished children are more likely to start school late and to drop out early.³⁹

The relationship between educational attainment for girls and health outcomes for children is also well recognized, and maternal education has a statistically significant effect on child health outcomes even after controlling for other factors.^{40,41,42} The 2011 EFA Global Monitoring Report (GMR) highlighted research showing that each additional year of maternal education can reduce the risk of child death by between 7 and 9 per cent.⁴³

Education is central to enabling people to make healthy choices. Much has been written about how education serves as a 'social vaccine' against disease and HIV and how higher levels of educational attainment have clear benefits in terms of preventing new HIV infections, promoting access to treatment and combating stigma and discrimination. Education itself, even in the absence of HIV-specific education, offers an important measure of protection against HIV.⁴⁴ Global efforts to achieve EFA will therefore continue to have a significant impact on the epidemic.

Education is also central to developing the values, attitudes and skills required to make informed choices and to adopt healthy behaviours, as well as to learn to live with HIV in affected communities and societies. More specifically, health literacy and life skills are essential for accessing and using HIV prevention and treatment methods and services.

The education sector has demonstrated that it can enable young people to acquire knowledge, develop attitudes and build skills for HIV prevention. School-based HIV education can increase knowledge and develop the attitudes and skills required to reduce HIV risk behaviour. The impact of HIV education on knowledge has been confirmed by numerous studies.⁴⁵ For example, a review of 23 studies in sub-Saharan Africa concluded that school-based, adult-led, curriculum-based lessons improve knowledge of what young people need to do in order to reduce their HIV risk.⁴⁶ Improving knowledge⁴⁷ is a key foundation for behaviour change.^{48,49} Although this alone is not sufficient for behaviour change, it is a critical element that depends on the contribution of the education sector.

24

As one author notes,

"It is clear that although correct knowledge of HIV prevention and transmission methods does not necessarily translate into safe sexual behaviours, some knowledge of HIV prevention and transmission methods among young people is associated with safe sexual behaviours. After all, knowledge of protective behaviours is a prerequisite to the adoption of safe sex behaviour. Young people must learn the facts before they become sexually active and the information needs to be regularly reinforced and built on."⁵⁰

Properly implemented school-based HIV education can also help to develop the skills required for healthy behaviours and the positive attitudes required to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination.⁵¹ Healthy behaviours established at younger ages can have long-lasting beneficial effects on health and well-being.

HIV education can also be an entry point for addressing other health risks. The cognitive, psychosocial, emotional coping and self-management skills which are at the centre of HIV education can also be used to tackle other risks to health, such as violence and substance use, as well as to promote a healthy lifestyle. Integrating HIV education into comprehensive sexuality education, and integrating this in turn within skills-based health education and a holistic education sector approach to school health, can therefore have wider health benefits beyond HIV prevention. In addition, a more comprehensive approach to addressing the health of learners is a more effective use of limited resources than separate interventions to tackle specific health issues in isolation.⁵²

Theories underpinning HIV education

The theory underpinning HIV education has also evolved over time. Early approaches described above, in particular those that emphasized facts and fear and those that took a moralistic approach, were based on a view of the learner as a 'recipient' of information. Many of the theories underpinning HIV education were derived from behaviour change models based on this view, assuming that if a learner understands X they will do Y. The X in this case can refer to a moral code or to scientific facts about HIV. The corresponding Y is an action or behaviour, such as abstaining from sex or using a condom. The most commonly used theories and models in HIV education are built on the assumption that knowledge will lead to the adoption of safe behaviours.

For example, the theory of reasoned action⁵³ 'operates under the premise that a person's intention is a function of two basic determinants, which are attitude towards the behaviour and "subjective norms" or social influence'.⁵⁴ The theory of planned behaviour⁵⁵ extended the theory of reasoned action by adding a dimension of measurement of perceived ability to act. Social learning or social cognitive theory⁵⁶ recognizes social influences on learning, but its link to behaviour is not always clear. The health belief model is built on social learning theory, bringing in aspects of personal belief to interrogate the barriers and the efficacy of behaviour.⁵⁷ The stages of change model⁵⁸ recognizes the complex process that an individual goes through from thinking about change to doing it and maintaining it. Similarly, the AIDS risk reduction model⁵⁹ 'uses constructs from the health belief model, the social cognitive theory and the diffusion of innovation theory. The model identifies three stages involved in reducing risk for HIV transmission, including behaviour labelling, commitment to change, and taking action'.⁶⁰

However, some have argued that these theories and models that expect behaviour change are fundamentally flawed. They argue that learners' knowledge, skills and intention to make healthy choices are only part of the conditions necessary for reducing their risk of HIV infection.⁶¹ Young people live in complex situations with many influences on their behaviour that are beyond their individual control, such as political, economic and cultural factors.⁶² The theories and models stem from an individualist understanding of human behaviour that does not always apply, for example in societies where identity is associated with group structures such as the family or village.⁶³ This theme of the rational person, or 'neo-liberal agent', is reinforced by the biomedical approaches to HIV prevention, where the atomized individual can be counselled and tested and 'what works' can be replicated.⁶⁴ This approach is an enduring backdrop to HIV education and the elusive quest for an intervention that can be taught to learners with the confidence that it will lead to a certain type of action or change in behaviour. This is not possible. Education can provide young people with the ability to develop and maintain healthy behaviours, but whether these are realized is a function of broader factors that influence agency, such as culture, social and gender norms, and access to services.

This view is supported by a 2008 review of life skills programmes that included HIV. The authors found that it is 'unrealistic to think that short-term skills-based interventions will lead young people to think clearly and stay safe considering all the barriers they face in accessing information, condoms, contraception and in overcoming social stigma associated with

sex and relationships^{4,65} An individual's skills are only part of the equation. The structures that affect an individual's ability to apply those skills are also deserving of attention.⁶⁶ This observation is not restricted to education but has been observed across the spectrum of HIV prevention activities, in a call for an ecological approach that S. Kippax has called 'social public health'. She argues that 'effective prevention entails developing community capacity and requires that public health addresses people not only as individuals but also as connected members of groups, networks and collectives who interact (talk, negotiate, have sex, use drugs, etc.) together⁴⁶⁷ Some refer to this as the fourth generation of HIV management, with community mobilization as the change agent and 'attention . . . shifted upwards to the . . . powerful and not downward to the marginalised⁴⁶⁸

We have learned that there are strengths to build on. The education sector has shown that it can help young people acquire knowledge, develop attitudes and build skills for HIV prevention.^{69,70} And, as described above correct knowledge of HIV prevention and transmission methods does not necessarily translate into safe behaviours but is a pre-requisite. These findings, which could apply equally to unsafe drug use, are echoed by other researchers who state that improving knowledge and skills are an essential part of behaviour change.⁷¹ Thus, education's role in the HIV response is central.

Evolving perspectives

In many settings HIV education has taken a path through short-term interventions, isolated from the curriculum, towards a more integrated approach where it is part of life skills and sexuality education. However, where the epidemiological context has not spurred a change in the curriculum and conservative views about sex education prevail, HIV has stayed outside the formal curriculum. In concentrated epidemics HIV remains a low priority for the education sector, but experiences from countries with generalized and hyperendemic disease burdens have taught us that integrating HIV into broader life skills and sexuality education helps prepare learners to navigate life challenges of their own, such as reducing risk of HIV infection, and those relative to others, such as reducing stigma and discrimination.

Within formal education, early HIV education initiatives took a range of approaches, although most were characterized by teaching about HIV and AIDS as a science or health topic or as a moral issue, with a strong emphasis in the latter approach on messages about sin and abstinence. Some mirrored

public education campaigns that relied heavily on fear.⁷² Where HIV was taught as a science topic, there was often little or no consideration of sexuality, sexual behaviour or sensitive aspects of the subject.⁷³ Where the emphasis was on abstinence, this often reflected the agenda promoted by the early years of PEPFAR and by some churches.⁷⁴ It was not until conclusive evidence of harm was presented to US policy-makers in 2009 that political pressure for a focus on abstinence in US policy was reduced.⁷⁵ In a few countries, the education sector took a different approach, using HIV education programmes informed by notions of rights that aimed to empower learners to protect their health. Examples of these are the South African initiative 'Today's Choices' and the Namibian programme 'My Future is My Choice'.⁷⁶

HIV education had differing entry points in the education sector depending on the region and where in the curriculum education authorities thought it appropriate to place it. In sub-Saharan Africa, for example, life skills education, or variations of it, became the dominant framework, with life skills either taught as a stand-alone topic or integrated into other subjects. Similarly, in the Caribbean, life skills education, delivered through Health and Family Life Education, has been the main approach used across the region.

Growing emphasis on 'Know your epidemic, know your response', which highlighted the differences in the epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa and in other regions, led to a rethink of the education sector response and of HIV education in other parts of the world, seeking to ensure that it was relevant to the epidemic and the country concerned.⁷⁷ The 'Know your epidemic, know your response' approach^{78,79,80} meant understanding the epidemiological scenario, such as the modes of HIV transmission and key drivers of the epidemic; the behavioural and social conditions that affect an individual's ability to access and use HIV information and services, including the legal and policy environment; the resources available and the cost of interventions; and the combination of interventions required to achieve the desired impact.

So, for example, the 2008 Asia Commission report⁸¹ shifted the response in the region to focus on the dynamics of the epidemic. The report recognized that the epidemic in Asia was of a different nature to that in sub-Saharan Africa, with transmission of HIV, including among young people, largely occurring through unprotected sex between men, unprotected paid sex and unsafe injecting drug use. In some countries in the region, such as Cambodia, India, Lao PDR, Nepal, the Philippines and Papua New Guinea, children, adolescents and young people most at risk have been identified as particular target groups for the education sector, reflecting improved understanding in recent years of the epidemiological situation, including modes of transmission, and of the specific needs of young people from key populations.

In Eastern Europe and Central Asia, concentrated epidemics among the same populations also increasingly became the focus, although in some countries in the region the discussion in schools of sex between men and drug use remains challenging. Growing recognition of the need for national responses to reflect epidemic priorities also led to debates about the role of education in places where the prevalence of HIV was low and other sexually transmitted infections and unintended pregnancy are a more immediate concern for young people and communities.

The increasing availability of treatment also influenced HIV education. As HIV in effect became a manageable chronic illness, education played a role in treatment literacy. Getting the information was as important as getting the drugs, an issue highlighted by activists at the 14th International AIDS Conference in Barcelona in 2002 and since.⁸²

More recently, HIV education has been marked by a shift from considering HIV in isolation to situating it within a wider school health and sexuality education context. A significant event with a major influence on the education sector response was a meeting of ministers of health and education in the Latin American region, which coincided with the International AIDS Conference in Mexico in 2008. Under the leadership of the Mexican government, and with strong support from UNAIDS and cosponsors including UNESCO, UNFPA, WHO and UNICEF, ministers made a political commitment to put sexuality education at the core of the sector's response.⁸³ The commitment highlighted the need for sexuality education, related to key health outcomes and rights, to be an essential component of all curricula in formal education. How sexuality education would be defined and delivered was left open; the central issue was to ensure that children and young people receive accurate, evidence-based, age-appropriate education about sex, relationships and HIV.

This need was not confined to Latin America. It was evident in other regions that HIV education was not addressing fundamental issues of sexual behaviour, safer sex, contraception, and gender and power relations.⁸⁴ However, the shift in Latin America gave momentum to the policy, technical and programme work of UN agencies and civil society, which has refocused school-based responses to HIV and reinforced the need to address the education and health needs of young people in an integrated manner,

including through linking schools and health services. It was recognized that there was a problem in the way responses to the sexual and reproductive health of adolescents and young people were typically managed: the health sector provided services and commodities and the education sector provided information and skills, but the two were rarely coordinated.

Although the education and health sectors had been collaborating on school health programmes, guided by initiatives such as Health Promoting Schools and Child Friendly Schools, the Mexican initiative highlighted the need for health and education to work together on sexual health. It underscored that sexuality education and services need to be viewed as part of a continuum in which school education programmes are linked with and supported by access to good-quality services and reliable affordable commodity supplies. Experience in countries such as Estonia⁸⁵ has since demonstrated the value of linkages between school-based sexuality education and health services.

Whereas Latin America had a tradition of state-supported sexuality education programmes in public schools,⁸⁶ a critical challenge in acceptance of this approach in other regions was the absence of global guidance that could provide convincing evidence in support of sexuality education. Although sexual and reproductive health policies and programmes for young people were well established in Africa, Asia and other parts of the developing world, many policy-makers in education remained unconvinced that sexuality education was an issue to be addressed in the classroom (see also Chapters 2 and 4).

In 2008, UNESCO conducted a systematic review to inform the development of International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education,⁸⁷ drawing on research studies⁸⁸ and the work of organizations focused on young people's rights to education, health and other services.⁸⁹ All of the programmes included in the review were designed to reduce unintended pregnancy or sexually transmitted infections (STI), including HIV. The review found that 'sexuality education rarely, if ever, leads to early sexual initiation. Sexuality education can lead to later and more responsible sexual behaviour'.⁹⁰ It also found that almost all of the programmes increased knowledge about different aspects of sexuality and risk of pregnancy or HIV and other STI. Some programmes also had additional benefits. For example, more than a third delayed the initiation of sexual intercourse and a similar proportion decreased the frequency of sexual intercourse and the number of sexual partners while increasing condom use. This international guidance, which was released in 2009,⁹¹ was intended to provide clear information for education and health decision-makers about why sexuality education was needed and what was required for a comprehensive approach. The publication does not prescribe what every lesson plan might look like; rather, it provides a set of age-specific standards and stimulated adaptation for regional and country level use. Since the publication of the international guidance, a number of countries have adopted sexuality education into formal curricula and are expanding coverage in schools.⁹²

There has also been increasing focus on how sexuality education is taught⁹³ and on issues such as gender and power relations⁹⁴ and sexual diversity. In addition, there is growing recognition of the need for sexuality education, both in the formal education sector and in non-formal education, to address the sexual and reproductive health needs of young people living with HIV.⁹⁵ This reflects both the significant number of young people who are living with HIV and the high proportion of new HIV infections that occur among those aged 15–24. In addition, thanks to improvements in treatment and care, many of the children who were infected perinatally are now reaching adolescence and young adulthood. Like all young people, young people living with HIV need information and skills to help them make safe, healthy choices about sex, relationships, family planning and other aspects of reproductive health.⁹⁶ Thus they have specific sexual and reproductive health needs, and guidance has been developed to ensure that comprehensive sexuality education is relevant to them.⁹⁷

The changing global context

From the outset, the global response to HIV has been characterized by debates about the respective merits of a purely biomedical approach versus a multisectoral one. The initial response was centred on the health sector, led by the WHO's Global Programme on AIDS and at country level by national AIDS control programmes within ministries of health. The Global Programme on AIDS provided strong leadership but was focused on a biomedical response, lacked funding, and was unable to mobilize the levels of UN and international support required.⁹⁸

In the absence of treatment, the health sector at country level struggled to cope with the epidemic. National responses concentrated on awareness and prevention campaigns for the general public, condom distribution, counselling and testing. Efforts to encourage people to seek counselling and testing where this was available were undermined by concerns about confidentiality, given the stigma associated with HIV, and about the value of knowing one's HIV status without the hope of effective treatment.

The nature of HIV transmission, the prevalence of HIV among young adults, and the impact of the epidemic on families and communities, as well as the denial, fear and discrimination associated with AIDS, made it increasingly clear that all sectors of society needed to be involved. However, many health ministries lacked the mandate and capacity to lead or engage other ministries and non-state actors in national responses.

In the worst-affected countries, civil society and faith-based organizations started to take action both to prevent the spread of HIV by educating communities and also to mitigate the impact of AIDS by providing care and support for those infected and for orphaned and vulnerable children. Much of this mobilization preceded global or national recognition of the need for action across a range of sectors and at every level of society.

In 1995, the Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) was established to coordinate a multisectoral response. Altogether, UNAIDS had ten UN cosponsors by 2004, and eleven by 2012 with the addition of UN Women.

ILO	International Labour Organization
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNICEF	United Nations Children'Fund
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
UN Women	United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women
WB	World Bank
WFP	World Food Programme
wнo	World Health Organization

Box 1: UNAIDS cosponsors

The creation of UNAIDS resulted in the establishment at country level of national AIDS councils or commissions, in some cases under the health ministry and in others as separate structures, and the development of national multisectoral plans. This represented a significant shift from a medicalized response to one that recognized the social, economic and human rights dimensions of the epidemic. Advocacy played a critical role in this, in particular advocacy for the human rights of those most at risk of HIV infection – men who have sex with men, injecting drugs users and sex workers. These persons were already marginalized and stigmatized in most societies even before their vulnerability to HIV was recognized.

In 2000, HIV responses were included in the Millennium Development Goals. In 2001, at the UN General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS (UNGASS), 189 nations agreed that HIV/AIDS was an international and national development issue of the highest priority. Following this, international funding for HIV increased dramatically, often exceeding national budgets for health. The aid architecture also evolved rapidly, with the establishment in 2002 of the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria (Global Fund) as a major funding mechanism, soon followed by the US government's US\$15 billion commitment to the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). In many countries, this rapid increase in resources resulted in the development of vertical AIDS programmes outside the health system, reflecting the emergency nature of the response.

More funding was made available for non-health sectors, including education, and for civil society. For example, in 2000 the World Bank launched its Multi-Country HIV/AIDS Programme for Africa (MAP) to strengthen national HIV strategies and multisectoral responses, through support for sector ministries and civil society and for the mainstreaming of HIV. The move towards a multisectoral response brought a dramatic increase in the number of stakeholders involved in a national response. In 2004, in order to promote coordination of efforts and to achieve the most effective and efficient use of resources, UNAIDS cosponsors and other key international organizations, national governments and donors agreed to three core principles, the Three Ones:

- One agreed HIV/AIDS Action Framework that provides the basis for coordinating the work of all partners
- One National HIV/AIDS Coordinating Authority, with a broad-based multisectoral mandate

 One agreed HIV/AIDS country-level Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) system to ensure effective coordination of national responses to HIV and AIDS.

This trend towards a wider multisectoral response continued into the new millennium and supported the emergence of education sector responses in many countries.

At the same time, activists around the world – many of them living with HIV – were instrumental in advocating for the development of drugs to treat HIV. Treatment became available initially only to those in high-income countries, and activists shifted their attention to demanding universal access. This, together with Global Fund and PEPFAR funding, resulted in a dramatic increase in the number of people living with HIV who received treatment.

Box 2: Education and key HIV-related events

1984	Uganda begins promoting sexual behaviour change in response to HIV.
1986	The US Surgeon General's Report on AIDS calls for education and condom use.
1987	AIDS becomes the first disease ever debated on the floor of the UN General Assembly. The Assembly designates the WHO to lead the effort to address AIDS globally, and the Global Programme on AIDS is launched.
	The US Congress adopts the Helms Amendment banning use of federal funds for AIDS education materials that 'promote or encourage, directly or indirectly, homosexual activities'.
1988	First World AIDS Day is declared by WHO.
1990	The Jomtien World Conference on Education establishes Education for All as a goal, and highlights the link between health and education.
1993	UNESCO cooperation with WHO leads to the implementation of pilot school AIDS education projects in various regions and the development of a resource package for curriculum planners, adapted to different socio-cultural contexts and translated into more than ten languages.
1995	Highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) becomes available. Within two years, death rates due to AIDS will have plummeted in the developed world.
	The Global Federation of Teachers Unions, Education International, passes a resolution on school health and HIV prevention at its first world congress in Harare, Zimbabwe.
1996	UNESCO joins four other UN organizations and the World Bank to form a joint and cosponsored programme on HIV/AIDS, called UNAIDS (comprising 11 organizations by 2013).
	Annual global spending on AIDS in low- and middle-income countries is \$300 million.99

2000	Millennium Development Goals are adopted, including reversing the spread of HIV/AIDS, malaria and TB (MDG 6), achieving universal primary education (MDG 2), and promoting gender equality and empowering women (MDG 3) as three of eight key goals.
	The Dakar Framework for Action is adopted at the World Education Forum, committing to work in partnership to achieve the EFA goals and targets, including to 'implement as a matter of urgency education programmes and actions to combat the HIV/AIDS pandemic'.
	The Focusing Resources for Effective School Health partnership is launched.
2001	At a UN Special Session (UNGASS), world leaders set long-term targets on HIV/AIDS.
	The World Trade Organization announces the Doha Agreement, to allow developing countries to buy or manufacture generic medications to meet public health crises such as HIV/AIDS.
	Adult and child deaths due to AIDS approximately 1.9 million.
2002	UNESCO establishes clearinghouses on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (at IIEP) and on a Curriculum for HIV/AIDS Preventive Education (at IBE).
	Establishment of the UNAIDS Inter-Agency Task Team on Education.
	The Global Fund is established to boost the response to AIDS, TB and malaria.
	The first HIV rapid tests are approved, enabling the test to be performed outside the laboratory, allowing more widespread use.
2003	The '3 by 5' campaign is launched by WHO to widen access to AIDS treatment.
	PEPFAR, the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief, a \$15-billion initiative to address HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria primarily in hard-hit countries, is launched.
2004	The Three Ones Principles are agreed upon by stakeholders to accelerate and improve national responses.
	EDUCAIDS, the Global Initiative on HIV and AIDS on Education, is launched.
2008	A report by the Commission on AIDS in Asia calls for a refocusing of responses on 'Know your epidemic, know your response'.
	In Mexico, ministers of health and education make a political commitment to work together to put sexuality education at the core of the response.
	An estimated US\$14.2 billion is available for HIV and AIDS in low- and middle-income countries (57 per cent from international sources). ¹⁰⁰
2010– 2011	Results from the iPrEx trial show a reduction in HIV acquisition among men who have sex with men who take pre-exposure prophylaxis. Results from the HPTN 052 trial show that early initiation of antiretroviral treatment reduces the risk of HIV transmission by 96 per cent among HIV-discordant couples.
	Trials show efficacy of treatment, but this may affect future resource allocation and educational needs.
	An estimated US\$16.8 billion is available for HIV and AIDS in low- and middle-income countries (49 per cent from international sources). ¹⁰¹
2012 Launch of the Global Education First Initiative (GEFI), which highlights that quality education, including education on HIV, is fundamental to better health outcomes, progress towards gender equality, economic opportunities and sustainable development.

A High Level Panel on the Post-2015 Development Agenda places education and health at the centre of the development agenda.

2013 The Learning Metrics Taskforce proposes seven domains of learning and recommendations that encompass what every child needs to learn.

Ministers of education and health in East and Southern Africa commit to work together to improve comprehensive sexuality education and sexual and reproductive health services for adolescents and young people.

Changes in the education sector response to HIV

As previously stated, the initial education sector response reflected the unprecedented public health crisis of the HIV epidemic. Something needed to be done to prevent new infections, and schools were identified early on as providing the opportunity to potentially reach large numbers of youth,¹⁰² although some took the view that HIV was a health issue and resisted the idea of school-based HIV education.¹⁰³

The need for a systematic education sector response to HIV was highlighted in a number of international and regional arenas, especially in Africa where the impact of the epidemic on the sector was the most severe. Responses included the 1999 Lusaka International Congress on HIV/AIDS and STDs in Africa, and the 2000 Dakar World Education Forum. As the global response to HIV shifted towards a multisectoral approach, there was an increased focus on planning, financing and management of the education sector's response to the epidemic. In the worst-affected countries, the impact on education systems as a whole (in terms of teacher mortality and morbidity, the large and growing number of children orphaned and made vulnerable by the epidemic, and the impact on enrolment, attrition, attainment and educational quality) came to the fore, and UNESCO's International Institute for Educational Planning initiated a series of publications focusing on these issues.^{104,105,106}

Box 3: UNESCO's evolving role in the education sector response

Between 1988 and 1991 UNESCO collaborated with the WHO Global Programme on AIDS on a school AIDS education project that included establishing a clearinghouse on AIDS at UNESCO headquarters. In the mid-1990s UNESCO joined with four other UN agencies and the World Bank as a founding cosponsor of UNAIDS.¹⁰⁷ Following the launch of UNAIDS, UNESCO's actions broadened to involve all its programme sectors including education, culture, communications, and natural, social and human sciences.

Preventive education on drugs and HIV was adopted by the organization within its major planning framework, with a regional focus on Latin America and the Caribbean and the Arab States. In Africa, teacher training and curriculum development were the priority entry points. At the same time, cultural and media programmes were supported as a vehicle for preventive education, as well as work on youth, girls and women.

In addition, UNESCO's Institute of Education Planning launched an initiative to measure the impact of the epidemic on the sector and to support countries to manage the response. Shortly after, in 2002, UNESCO established a comprehensive global information clearinghouse on HIV and education (see http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org) and assumed the leadership of the UNAIDS Inter-Agency Task Team (IATT) on HIV and Education. By 2004, UNESCO's work on HIV was consolidated under the umbrella of EDUCAIDS, a global UNAIDS-supported initiative led by UNESCO.

The 2011–2015 UNESCO Strategy for HIV and AIDS states that UNESCO's work on HIV and AIDS focuses on three key priorities:

- Building country capacity for effective and sustainable education responses to HIV
- Strengthening comprehensive HIV and sexuality education
- Advancing gender equality and protecting human rights.

Various other initiatives were established to support and strengthen the education sector response. These included initiatives by the UNAIDS Inter-Agency Task Team on Education, established in 2002 to bring together UNAIDS cosponsors, including UNESCO; donor agencies; and civil society actors with an active portfolio in education and HIV. The IATT worked with the Mobile Task Team to investigate the impact of HIV and AIDS on education. The Mobile Task Team is a technical support network designed to assist African education ministries and their development partners to develop sector-wide HIV policy and plans to manage and mitigate the impact of the epidemic on education systems. Another example was the Accelerate initiative, established in 2002 by the IATT on Education to support countries in sub-Saharan Africa to 'accelerate their education sector responses' through the establishment of programmes with strong local ownership, capable of accessing suitable funding and implementation at all levels of the education sector. As part of Accelerate, networks of ministry of education HIV and AIDS focal points were established and used to share good policies and practices.

Subsequently, UNESCO led the Global Initiative on Education and HIV and AIDS known as EDUCAIDS, which seeks to support comprehensive education sector responses to HIV and specifically to utilize education to help prevent the spread of HIV and to protect the core functions of the education system from the effects of the epidemic. A range of EDUCAIDS technical briefs related to quality education; content, curriculum and learning materials; educator training and support; policy, management and systems; and approaches and entry points, as well as Practical Guidelines,¹⁰⁸ were published in order to support the education sector HIV response implementation process on a national and local level. Teachers' unions also became increasingly involved and, in 2006, Education International, WHO and Education Development Center, Inc. launched the EFAIDS Programme, which combined the efforts of teachers' unions in advocating for EFA and their commitment to HIV education in schools. The programme was active in nearly 50 countries and trained nearly 200,000 teachers in how to keep themselves and their learners healthy and support their profession.

However, in parallel with these developments, the education sector was undergoing a dramatic transformation, especially in regions such as East and Southern Africa (ESA). The Education for All (EFA) Fast Track Initiative (FTI) was established in 2002 to support low-income countries to achieve the MDGs and EFA goals. Between 2002 and 2013, the FTI (subsequently the Global Partnership for Education), channelled an additional US\$1.6 billion to education.¹⁰⁹ At the December 2007 meeting of the High-Level Group on EFA, ministers, senior officials of multilateral and bilateral agencies, and civil society organizations reaffirmed their financial commitment to the pledge that 'no country seriously committed to EFA will be thwarted in its efforts because of a lack of resources'.¹¹⁰ The EFA FTI Working Group of the UNAIDS IATT on Education analysed the extent to which the education sector plans of the endorsed FTI countries address HIV and AIDS and supported FTI partners to mainstream HIV in education sector plans.

The advent of universal free primary education for the first time in countries such as Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania and Malawi brought a major influx of new entrants to education systems. This was a positive development for the many children who had been excluded from education, but it increased the pressure on already overstretched and under-resourced education systems, as large numbers of new schools and teachers were needed. Consequently, despite agreement that the education sector had a crucial role to play in reaching young people with HIV education through schools,¹¹¹ as well as teachers and other employees, the formal education sector was slow to respond, even in the most severely affected countries.¹¹² For example, a global survey conducted on behalf of the UNAIDS IATT on Education in 2004 on education sector readiness and responses to HIV found that only 32 per cent of ministries of education had adopted a sector-specific HIV policy.¹¹³ In addition to the wider changes affecting the sector, this also reflects the nature of education systems, which are large and complex and adapt slowly to change.

In many countries, civil society organizations took the lead in HIV education, pioneering the use of non-formal education and community-based approaches in populations and communities hardest hit by the epidemic as well as implementing interventions in schools and through extra-curricular activities.^{114,115} These initiatives were well in advance of the formal sector and established the early basis for much that followed.¹¹⁶ Existing programmes, such as REFLECT¹¹⁷ a participatory adult education methodology, also took on the issue of HIV and AIDS, while others, such as Stepping Stones,¹¹⁸ linked HIV and AIDS to issues of sexuality, gender and power. In 2004, the World Bank documented thirteen education-based programmes targeting children and youth in seven countries in sub-Saharan Africa. Most were small-scale and implemented in non-formal settings, or concentrated on the production and dissemination of information, education and communication materials. Few were led by ministries of education and none was part of the formal curriculum.¹¹⁹ There was also growing interest in the role of young people themselves in HIV education, in particular through use of peer education approaches; again these were often initiated by civil society organizations.

Attempts to set up dedicated HIV units within ministries raised the profile of the response but did not always address the need to mainstream HIV within policy and management. This started to change after 2000, as education ministries in a number of countries developed sector policies that defined the roles and responsibilities of a range of stakeholders and took a more comprehensive approach that also included prevention, mitigation, workplace issues and management of the impact of the epidemic on the sector.¹²⁰

Box 4: Conditions necessary for an effective education sector HIV response

'The primary education objective is that all learners, regardless of wealth, health status or sex can access good quality education in a safe environment, and that they receive an age-appropriate, scientifically accurate and contextually adapted HIV education that helps them acquire the knowledge and develop skills to adopt healthy behaviours. The education should be rights-based, gender-sensitive and life skills-based. It should be delivered by a well-trained teacher who is competent in interactive methods and participatory pedagogy and is comfortable talking about HIV and connected topics such as sexuality in a constructive way with learners. This teacher should have the knowledge, skills and access to services to live healthy themselves. This teacher, along with all education staff, should be protected to do their job, regardless of their HIV status. The teacher should be equipped with a curriculum and support materials. The teacher should have the support of administration and the protection of a policy. Finally, parents and the community should be involved to support and reinforce this learning. Collectively, these are the necessary and sufficient conditions needed for an education sector response to HIV that promotes lifelong healthy development and global citizenship.'

'Many of the necessary conditions for an effective education sector response to HIV and AIDS are trending in the positive direction since 2004. Almost all countries have an education sector HIV policy; there is increasing space within the curriculum to teach about HIV and more teachers have been trained to teach HIV; there are more EMIS units in place; and, there are increased protective policies and services for learners and teachers.'

Source: UNAIDS IATT on Education, 2013. 2011-2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO

The establishment of the aforementioned IATT on Education marked the beginning of a concerted effort at global level by UNAIDS cosponsors, bilateral donors and civil society organizations to accelerate comprehensive education sector responses to HIV. Donors encouraged governments, particularly in Africa, to develop sector policies, engage with the national response and plan for mitigating the impacts of the epidemic.¹²¹ Sector policies were established in a number of heavily affected countries including South Africa, Namibia, Kenya, Zambia and Uganda.¹²²

However, while significant resources were provided to support countries to expand access to education, in particular universal primary education, two assessments of education sector plans, in 2004¹²³ and in 2008,¹²⁴ found that these plans did not address HIV adequately and that there was limited evidence of countries using any of these additional resources to support the education sector response. In the 2008 assessment, only three of the eight country sector FTI-endorsed plans reviewed included a comprehensive HIV response and detailed costing of HIV-related activities.¹²⁵ The authors concluded that the FTI appraisal and endorsement process had yet to apply a consistent methodology to support the development of evidence-based education responses to HIV, despite specific references to HIV and AIDS in the guidelines for appraisal of the primary education component of education sector plans.¹²⁶ The three countries that had developed more comprehensive sector plans had received direct technical assistance through other processes.

The initial response of education ministries in most countries also focused on curriculum-based programmes: one of the first activities of the IATT on Education¹²⁷ and UNAIDS¹²⁸ was to provide recommendations and practical guidelines for integrating HIV education in schools. However, the challenge of equipping teachers and schools to deliver a curriculum-based response was enormous, ownership by ministries of education was low and efforts were often dependent on donor funding.¹²⁹ The additional demands on teachers to deliver HIV education and to take on a wider pastoral role in care and support of learners were also often underestimated, especially where teachers were already struggling with an overloaded curriculum, large classes, and inadequate training, supervision and support.

In some cases teachers – in particular those who were living with HIV – took the lead in highlighting their needs and challenging denial and stigma.¹³⁰ Female teachers were often at the forefront of these initiatives, reflecting the gendered dynamics of HIV and indicating who was willing at that time to test, disclose positive status, and seek treatment as a way of raising awareness and mobilizing support.¹³¹

The current education sector response

Information on the current status of the education sector response is incomplete because of existing monitoring and evaluation limitations (see Chapter 2 below for a discussion of this topic). However, surveys have been conducted, such as the IATT on Education's 2011–2012 Global Progress Survey (GPS),^{132,133} which aimed to measure progress and trends in education sector responses to HIV since the 2004 Global Readiness Survey¹³⁴ and to provide a comparative analysis of the situations in 2004 and 2011–2012.¹³⁵

The GPS reviewed the current status of the education sector response in four main areas:

 the enabling environment and mainstreaming of HIV in the education sector, including political advocacy by education policy-makers, policy development and implementation, education management information systems, dedicated national education sector HIV management structures, and the extent to which the HIV response is mainstreamed in education management and planning processes at the national level

- human resources, including HIV workplace policies, referral systems, and teacher demand and supply analyses
- curriculum and teaching, including the content and coverage of generic life skills programmes, teacher training and orientation, orientation for parents and communities, and HIV education at tertiary level
- orphans and vulnerable children, including programme coverage, school feeding, school fee waivers and exemptions, and out-of-school youth.

The main findings are described below.

The policy environment has improved, but implementation lags behind. The GPS¹³⁶ found a substantive increase in policy development. In 2004, only ten of thirty education ministries had a specific HIV policy. By 2011–2012 that had increased to nineteen out of thirty with another five policies in development.

In addition, by 2011–2012 only two countries with a generalized epidemic did not have a policy in place or were not developing one; both of these reported that HIV is mainstreamed in the national education sector policy.

The high level of commitment to policy development in the most affected countries is a dramatic improvement since 2004, and has been due in part to countries adapting regional policies to speed up the process. However, countries with a concentrated epidemic are lagging behind. In 2011–2012, only 44 per cent of these countries had a policy, with another 12 per cent reporting that a policy was in development.

The GPS findings show that while the policy context has improved significantly, implementation of policy remains a challenge. More than half of the 22 countries with a policy in place reported an implementation rate below 50 per cent. Only five of the twelve countries with a generalized epidemic and a policy reported an implementation rate above 75 per cent.

The findings are similar for implementation of education sector HIV action plans. Of the 22 countries that reported having an action plan, more than half reported implementation rates below 50 per cent. Only three countries reported an implementation rate above 75 per cent.

The low rate of implementation of action plans is often due to lack of funding. Only 3 of the 22 countries with an action plan reported that their plan was

42

76 per cent to 100 per cent funded. Over half of the 22 countries reported a funded rate of 50 per cent or less. These findings support other research showing that only 3 per cent of national HIV budgets are spent on prevention for youth in school, and only 1 per cent on prevention for out-of-school youth.¹³⁷ Without adequate funding for implementation, policies and action plans are of limited value.

Box 5: EDUCAIDS

What is EDUCAIDS?

EDUCAIDS, the Global Initiative on Education and HIV & AIDS, is a UNAIDS initiative led by UNESCO. EDUCAIDS seeks to encourage and support countries to mobilize the education sector to design and implement effective responses to HIV and AIDS; it is an approach to guide actions that are planned and delivered in partnerships.

While EDUCAIDS is led by UNESCO, its success largely depends on the effective collaboration of various key stakeholders such as governments and national AIDS authorities, civil society organizations, teacher unions, networks of people living with HIV, and bilateral and multilateral agencies, including other UN agencies and programmes.

What are the goals of EDUCAIDS?

EDUCAIDS has two main goals: to prevent the spread of HIV through education, and to protect the core functions of education systems from the worst effects of the epidemic. It does this by promoting, strengthening and supporting the scale-up of effective national education sector responses to HIV and AIDS. EDUCAIDS draws together the many different dimensions of effective education sector responses to HIV and AIDS - for example, quality education on HIV and AIDS, learning materials, workplace policies, teacher education programmes on HIV, etc. - and views the impacts and challenges of HIV and AIDS in relation to the whole education system. It was designed as an emergency response approach, and has subsequently been superseded by the comprehensive sexuality education approach to addressing HIV.

Source: http://www.unesco.org/aids

While development of policies and implementation plans increased between the two surveys, the number of countries with a dedicated response structure – including committees or units – declined during the same period. In 2004, out of 71 countries, 72 per cent reported having a dedicated management unit and 7 per cent reported they were in the process of developing one. By 2011–2012 only 54 per cent of the 39 countries surveyed had dedicated structures. Fourteen of the seventeen countries with a generalized epidemic and six of sixteen countries with a concentrated epidemic reported having dedicated management units in 2011–2012. This decline could be due to a range of factors, including a shift from AIDS 'exceptionalism' and a 'crisis mode' to normalization and a transition towards a more sustainable response that is mainstreamed across the education sector. The fact that 29 out of 39 countries (74 per cent) reported that their HIV response is mainstreamed in education management and planning processes at the national level suggests that this may be the case. However, while the apparent shift to mainstreaming is a positive development, there is little consensus on how to define mainstreaming, and the extent to which it is being implemented effectively is not known.

The GPS found other evidence of greater policy commitment and stronger systems, including an increase in public statements about HIV by education ministers, and growth in the number of functioning education management information systems (EMIS) from 19 out of 30 countries in 2004 to 29 out of the same 30 countries in 2011–2012. However, only 13 of these countries could confirm that their EMIS had been reviewed or amended to include HIV-sensitive indicators.

Box 6: Responses to the UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument

Responses to the UNAIDS National Commitments and Policy Instrument (NCPI) by countries in 2005, 2007 and 2010 confirm that there has been progress. Between 2005 and 2010, among reporting countries categorized as having generalized, concentrated or low HIV epidemics (75 countries in 2005, 103 in 2007 and 107 in 2010):

- The percentage of countries with the education sector included in the multisectoral strategy for HIV increased from 80 per cent to 95.3 per cent; those with a specific HIV budget for the education sector's activities increased from 0 per cent to 72.9 per cent; and those addressing the school setting from 0 per cent to 94.4 per cent.
- The percentage of countries having a policy or strategy promoting HIV-related sexual and reproductive health education for young people increased from 81.3 per cent to 96.3 per cent, and those with an HIV education strategy for out-of-school young people increased from 0 per cent to 80.4 per cent.
- The percentage of countries reporting that HIV is part of the curriculum increased from 50.7 per cent to 75.7 per cent for primary schools; from 65.3 per cent to 92.5 per cent for secondary schools; and from 0 per cent to 84.1 per cent for teacher training colleges and institutions.

More countries now report provision of HIV education. The inclusion of HIV education in the curriculum, either through life skills or other topics, is essential to ensure that it is taken seriously and is actually taught. In 2011–2012, 31 of the 39 countries surveyed (79 per cent) indicated that they provided generic life skills at lower primary and upper primary school levels, a slight increase since 2004. A higher number reported provision of life skills at lower secondary schools: 35 countries (90 per cent) provided life skills at lower secondary level and 32 (82 per cent) at upper secondary level. Most but not all countries reported that there were support materials for life skills and HIV education.

These findings are reflected in a 2012 UNICEF life skills evaluation,¹³⁸ which found that coverage is increasing as life skills education becomes integrated into national education systems and curricula, and in a recent review¹³⁹ of the status of HIV and sexuality education in East and Southern Africa, which found that twelve out of thirteen countries reported having made HIV and related life skills issues a compulsory part of the curriculum, with eight of them making it examinable.

Box 7: Life skills education

'Life skills education is an important vehicle to equip young people to negotiate and mediate challenges and risks in their lives, and to enable productive participation in society. UNICEF is an advocate for life skills education (LSE), and has been a source of support for life skills education programmes in many countries. A global evaluation was commissioned by the UNICEF Evaluation Office to assess the relevance, coverage, efficiency, effectiveness and sustainability of LSE initiatives. . . The evaluation found that LSE programmes are relevant in that they were introduced in each country as part of national responses to identified priorities, and are thus closely aligned to national and sectoral policies and plans. There is evidence to credit LSE programmes for developing relevant knowledge, skills and attitudes among learners, both in thematic risk areas and general psychosocial skills. However, apart from traditional examinations in which knowledge acquisition tends to dominate, there is no commensurate effort in systematic monitoring and evaluation at the system level or at the level of the individual learner. Also, there is evidence of the influence of social norms (both supportive and constraining) on the design, implementation and outcomes of life skills education at all levels, yet few LSE interventions have undertaken detailed analyses of social norms to understand their impact, or have explicitly recognized and found appropriate ways to address them.'

Source: UNICEF Evaluation Office. 2012. Global Evaluation of Life Skills Education Programmes. New York, UNICEF.

The term 'life skills' as used in this book relates to a pillar of work conducted by Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (FRESH) partners including UNESCO, UNICEF, the World Bank, WHO and civil society organizations in skills-based health education. This focuses on communication and interpersonal skills, decision-making and critical thinking skills, and coping and self-management skills. A related and important aspect of life skills are literacy, numeracy and other applied skills developed through technical and vocational training (TVET), which are vital for poverty reduction, economic recovery and sustainable development.

Similarly, in 2012 country reports for Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting (GARPR: see Chapter 2 for more details on this reporting system) reveal that all the 21 ESA countries have a policy or strategy to promote life skills-based HIV education for young people, and that these strategies include age-appropriate, gender-sensitive sexual and reproductive health elements. UNESCO's support in the ESA region is focusing heavily on strengthening curriculum development, teacher training and advocacy to support scaling up of sexuality education.

However, implementation remains variable and there is a significant gap between quality standards in design and in implementation. Competing priorities, teacher shortages, overcrowded curricula, limited teaching material and a focus on traditional examination topics mean that life skills is often the first topic to be cut.

Teachers need the mandate, support and skills to teach successfully about HIV and other 'sensitive' subjects. Teacher training is critical. The GPS found that the number of countries providing orientation for teachers had increased since 2004, when only sixteen out of thirty countries reported that this was provided. By 2011–2012, countries were reporting relatively high levels of in-service training and slightly lower levels of pre-service training.¹⁴⁰ This form of professional development is positive, but at the same time we have to recognize the broader context and conditions of service that teachers work in, which can help or impede implementation of these newly acquired skills –administrative support, adequate and timely remuneration, and manageable workloads, among others. Orientation for parents and other community members is also essential to increase acceptance and mandate teachers. The GPS found that the number of countries providing orientation for parents had increased from 8 out of 30 (27 per cent) in 2004 to 18 out of 30 (60 per cent) in 2011–2012.

Data from the GPS show that the extent to which countries address HIV and human resource issues varies considerably. Countries with a generalized epidemic tend to take a more comprehensive approach. Yet very few countries had analysed the impact of the epidemic on the demand for and supply of human resources in the education sector, with little improvement since 2004. By 2011–2012 only 26 per cent of countries surveyed reported having conducted such an analysis.

Improvements in policy frameworks were, however, evident. Nondiscrimination and confidentiality policies were available in most countries, and the number of countries with a workplace policy doubled, albeit from a very low baseline. As with other aspects of the response, implementation of policy is a challenge. The proportion of countries implementing awareness and prevention programmes for sector staff increased from 33 per cent in 2004 to only 50 per cent in 2011–2012. Condom provision and referral systems were available to staff in only 50 per cent of countries in 2011–2012. There has been progress in meeting the needs of vulnerable children and young people. The 2011–2012 survey found that 94 per cent of countries with a generalized epidemic had programmes in place to address the needs of orphans and vulnerable children. Of the 39 countries, 95 per cent reported that they provided free education for these children, 77 per cent reported having a school feeding programme and 65 per cent reported that teachers received training in caring for HIV-infected learners. However, this support is not necessarily available in every school or region, and some school feeding programmes, for example, are subject to the availability of resources on a month-to-month basis. In addition, the proportion of children reached is unknown.

Finally, many of the countries surveyed reported efforts to reach out-ofschool youth. Fifteen of seventeen countries with a generalized epidemic reported action to reach this group. However, this was the case for only just over half of countries with a concentrated epidemic.

Summary

This chapter has described the ways in which HIV has evolved from an emergency response for a public health crisis, characterised by isolated programmes, to one that is integrated within a broader school health context, such as in life skills education and comprehensive sexuality education. We have seen that there is an increase in systemic support for modern HIV education through policy and training; but as the next chapter will explore, there are still debates about roles and approaches and challenges to implementation.

Chapter 2

Current challenges and debates

Poor quality and delivery

Considerable challenges remain. Sustaining efforts over time to ensure that new cohorts of children and adolescents receive HIV education, is one. Improving knowledge levels among young people, now unacceptably low, is another. Poor levels of knowledge reflect inadequacies in the quality and delivery of HIV education and failure to implement comprehensive sexuality education at scale, including in countries with low-level and concentrated epidemics and at all levels of the education system. This is due in part to underlying sector challenges, such as weak and under-resourced ministries of education, and in part to the contested nature of sexuality education. Inadequate funding for comprehensive sexuality education also reflects wider debates about what such education should be expected to deliver and the related challenge of demonstrating and measuring its impact.

Low levels of HIV knowledge among young people

Three decades into the epidemic, although infection rates have decreased in a number of countries and a large number of young people are reached with HIV education, knowledge levels among learners remain unacceptably low. In 2012, in low- and middle-income countries, only 24 per cent of young women and 36 per cent of young men responded correctly to the five questions on HIV prevention and HIV transmission included in the international indicator on HIV knowledge among young people aged 15–24.¹⁴¹ Paradoxically, what these data also show is that in the last 30 years millions of young people have been reached with what could be considered a new body of knowledge.

Box 8: The education sector response in the Caribbean

There is a high level of commitment to the education sector response to HIV in the Caribbean, and efforts to strengthen it have been supported by the Education Sector HIV and AIDS Coordinator Network (EduCan), established in 2006 with the endorsement of Caribbean ministers of education and national AIDS authorities. A rapid survey, conducted by EduCan in 2008 in Anguilla, Antigua, Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, Jamaica, St Kitts and Nevis, St Lucia, St Vincent and the Grenadines, and Trinidad and Tobago, found that there was a supportive policy environment for the sector response to HIV. Ministries of education in ten of the thirteen countries had a framework in place to manage and mainstream their response and a national policy on free education to reduce barriers for orphans and vulnerable children. Twelve of the thirteen countries had a national HIV strategy, six had an education sector HIV action plan.

In all thirteen countries the education sector provides skills-based health education, including HIV prevention, to school students and staff, mostly within Health and Family Life Education, and schools use both curricular and peer education approaches to deliver life skills education. All countries also reported that teachers are trained to teach HIV prevention education, although this training is mostly provided in-service rather than pre-service. Education ministries in nine of the thirteen countries had workplace policies or regulations that ensure an inclusive environment for those affected by HIV.

Source: EduCan et al. 2009. Strengthening the Education Sector Response to School Health, Nutrition and HIV/AIDS in the Caribbean Region: A Rapid Survey of 13 Countries. Christ church, EduCan

50

In Africa, the 2007 HIV-AIDS Knowledge Test (HAKT), commissioned by the 15 ministries of education associated with the Southern and Eastern Africa Consortium for Monitoring Educational Quality (SACMEQ), was administered to approximately 60,000 Grade 6 pupils aged around 13.5 years and their teachers in over 2,500 schools in the SACMEQ countries. It found that only 36 per cent of pupils reached the 'minimal' knowledge level and only 7 per cent reached the 'desirable' level. In addition, these average figures hide significant differences between countries. The proportion of students with minimal knowledge levels ranged from 70 per cent to 7 per cent, and the proportion with desirable knowledge levels from 24 per cent to 2 per cent. The proportion who reached minimal levels of knowledge was below the average of 36 per cent in seven of the fifteen countries, and the proportion who reached desirable levels of knowledge was below the average of 7 per cent in nine of the fifteen countries.¹⁴²

In other regions, such as Asia-Pacific, high levels of ignorance about HIV, and about sex in general, persist.¹⁴³ For example, a recent evaluation of India's Adolescent Education Programme, implemented since 2005 and reaching roughly 400,000 learners on an annual basis, found that there is significant scope for 'improvement in knowledge levels among the students on issues related to HIV transmission and prevention'.¹⁴⁴ In Viet Nam, only 30.5 per cent of young women aged 15–24 have comprehensive knowledge about HIV.¹⁴⁵ In China, only 43 per cent of young people in a recent study reported knowing how to use a condom correctly.¹⁴⁶ The focus on key populations may be contributing to this, by neglecting the broader needs and rights of adolescents to information on sex, sexuality and reproductive health.¹⁴⁷

Reported data suggest that knowledge levels are also relatively low in the Caribbean. Of the six countries in the region that reported on young people's knowledge about HIV transmission in 2010 UNGASS reporting, only Cuba, Jamaica, and Trinidad and Tobago reported levels of knowledge above 50 per cent. Five countries reported knowledge of HIV among young people who inject drugs, young men who have sex with men, and young sex workers: levels of knowledge ranged from 5 per cent of young sex workers in Haiti to 65 per cent of young men who have sex with men in Cuba.

In most countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, young people know how to prevent sexual transmission of HIV, but few have comprehensive knowledge. Of fourteen countries for which data are available, only Belarus reports a relatively high level of comprehensive knowledge about HIV among young people (62.7 per cent), while in other countries the proportion of young people aged 15–24 who have correct knowledge of HIV does not exceed 40 per cent.¹⁴⁸ At the same time, age of sexual debut is low in a significant proportion of young people and the proportion reporting that they had had sex before the age of fifteen has increased in a number of countries.^{149,150}

Despite the significance of HIV transmission through unsafe injecting in some regions, little information is available about young people's knowledge of this mode of transmission and data on this are not collected through GARPR (see below, this chapter, for more details on this reporting system).

Weaknesses in HIV and sexuality education curricula

Experience in the past decade has generated a growing evidence base about HIV and sexuality education. Broadly speaking, successful programmes have been characterized by a comprehensive approach¹⁵¹ and by student-focused participatory learning as opposed to a more traditional teacher-focused pedagogical approach.¹⁵² Comprehensive sexuality education takes a broad view of sexuality that includes human rights and gender equality as well as safer sex and contraception. It views sexuality as an area of human potential, and aims to help children and young people to understand their sexuality and to develop responsible and fulfilling relationships at each stage of their lives, as well as to develop the skills to protect themselves from possible risks.¹⁵³

This comprehensive approach is different from traditional approaches to sexuality education, which have tended to focus on the risks of sex, such as HIV, other STIs and unintended pregnancy, and to ignore rights and equality aspects. Such traditional approaches have often failed to provide children and young people with the information and skills they need or to reflect the realities of their lives. In contrast to the scare tactics and other hard-hitting approaches for disease prevention used in the initial stages of the response, comprehensive sexuality education can help learners to develop healthy attitudes and skills concerning sex and relationships.¹⁵⁴

Low levels of knowledge reflect inadequacies in the scope of HIV and sexuality education. Findings from the GPS show that HIV and sexuality education curricula and teaching materials are not always comprehensive. For example, a recent review of school-based programmes on HIV prevention in China found that they tended to prioritize an 'abstinence-only approach', focusing on 'self-discipline' and 'sexual morality' and encouraging the delay of sexual debut.¹⁵⁵

52

An assessment of curricula in ten of the most heavily affected ESA countries¹⁵⁶ highlighted a number of weaknesses:

- References to sexuality tended to be negative and fear-based.
- Other key aspects of sex and sexual health were lacking, including information about reproduction, STI, abortion, and where to access condoms and sexual health services.
- Most curricula addressed the experience of puberty strictly as a biological process without acknowledging the changed social environment (for example increased harassment, parental monitoring) that can also generate considerable confusion and difficult feelings for pubescent girls.
- Most curricula did not pay enough attention to empowering young people, building agency or teaching advocacy skills.
- Most curricula did not address sexual rights and none addressed sexual diversity in an appropriate way.

In addition, by default or design, many curricula retained an abstinence focus and were unwilling to recognize that significant numbers of adolescents and young people are sexually active or may choose to be sexually active before marriage. The assessment found, for example, that most curricula did not contain enough basic information about contraception and male and female condoms, even though knowledge about these is a key protective factor.

In 2010, seven countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia – Azerbaijan, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russian Federation, Ukraine and Uzbekistan – reported that between 58 per cent and 100 per cent of schools were providing life skills-based HIV education. However, this did not translate into high levels of student awareness. For example, in Ukraine, although HIV education had been a part of the curriculum in all schools since 2001, only 40 per cent of young people aged 15–24 had comprehensive knowledge in 2011. Knowledge levels were below 40 per cent in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Moldova and the Russian Federation, and only 12.5 per cent in Uzbekistan. Poor learning outcomes in the region are attributed to a combination of factors including irregular and inconsistent teaching, inadequate numbers of lessons, didactic teacher-centred instruction and avoidance of 'sensitive' issues.^{157,158} The time allocated for HIV and sexual and reproductive health education in mandatory subjects such as biology or life skills is generally insufficient for learners to develop in-depth knowledge and the necessary skills for safe and healthy living. Educational institutions are often inadequately supplied with resource materials and do not have the right environment to support interactive approaches to teaching and learning.

Most school-based education does not address sexuality, sexual behaviour or reproductive and sexual rights, although there are some exceptions. In the Caribbean, for example, the Health and Family Life Education curriculum addresses sexuality and sexual health. Gender diversity, in particular the issue of transgender people, is often ignored. Alternatively, gender diversity is presented as an 'abnormality',^{159,160} for example, in lessons for Grade 9 students in Serbia. Teachers' guides on sexuality education published in Belarus in 2008–2010 defined homosexuality and bisexuality as a psychosexual disorder.¹⁶¹ In 2013, the Russian Federation passed a law that imposes a fine on any citizen or organization who shares information with minors (under 18) that discusses 'non-traditional sexual relations' and might cause the 'distorted understanding' that gay and lesbian relationships are 'socially equivalent' to heterosexual pairings. In addition, HIV education has also tended to focus on sexual transmission, neglecting the role played by unsafe drug injecting in HIV transmission in many areas of the world.

Another shortcoming of current curricula in sexual and reproductive health education, including HIV education, is that too often they focus exclusively on prevention at the expense of recognizing and addressing the specific sexual and reproductive health needs and rights of young men and women living with HIV. Young people living with HIV face stigma and discrimination on a daily basis, ranging from bullying and various naming and shaming practices to denial of access to education (where the provision of education is made conditional upon disclosure of HIV status). Moreover, due to the pervasive and inextricable linking of HIV and blame, HIV-positive learners carry the burden of self-stigma in addition to the physical burden of infection. To be effective, comprehensive sexuality education has to be both inclusive and non-stigmatizing, that is, it has to tackle sexual and gender-based bullying and promote gender equality, as well as take into consideration the existence, needs and rights (rights to education, privacy, fulfilling romantic relationships and sexual lives) of all young people living with HIV.¹⁶²

There have also been ongoing debates about whether HIV and sexuality education should be a stand-alone subject with specialized teachers or integrated into the curriculum. Regardless of the approach taken, such education can only be provided when enough time is allocated for it. A study of Canadian teachers and HIV education^{163,164} highlighted difficulties linked to

54

the time and space given in the curriculum to HIV and sexuality education in particular, because it was not a stand-alone subject but was integrated into other subjects. Teachers felt that there was not enough time and that they had neither the training nor resources to ensure quality teaching. A UNICEF review of health and family life education in four countries in the Caribbean region identified similar implementation challenges. Despite enthusiasm, teachers expressed concerns about the time available to complete lessons and had ongoing problems with scheduling class time, given other priorities and school schedules. In addition, many teachers had little classroom experience of using the pedagogic, interactive strategies that are integral to the HFLE curriculum.¹⁶⁵

Box 9: Integration of HIV into the curriculum

Many countries in the Asia-Pacific region report integrating HIV into their curriculum (depending on the country, this may be called reproductive health education, adolescence education, family life education, life skills education or sex education). Out of 28 countries, 12 report addressing HIV at primary level,¹⁶⁶ with a further 2 indicating their intention to do so in the near future; 22 out of the 28¹⁶⁷ report addressing HIV in the curriculum at the secondary level. Information on integration into tertiary curricula is scarce. Just under two thirds of countries report including HIV content in teacher training.¹⁶⁸

In Eastern Europe and Central Asia, for example, despite significant differences in the approach, content and scale of life skills-based health and sexuality education, all countries have integrated HIV prevention into either mandatory subjects or optional courses. Implementation, however, varies, with the proportion of schools reported in 2009 to provide HIV education ranging from 16.5 per cent in Bulgaria to 100 per cent in Azerbaijan and Uzbekistan.

In countries in Southern Africa a policy of infusion and integration was adopted by ministries of education in an effort to mainstream the topic and keep it on the learning agenda. Consider this definition from a curriculum in Botswana:

'Infusion: This entails the incorporation of HIV and AIDS issues into the content of other subjects such that they blend well with the lesson. This method allows for HIV to be spread across as many subjects as possible to provide learners with frequent encounters with the issues being addressed. Infusion therefore allows for HIV to be part of every aspect of the curriculum, such as programmes and instructional materials. As infusion does not require strong affinity between the subjects, as in the case of integration, it results in easy mention of the concepts being infused.

'Integration: This entails the combination of two or more subjects to form a single discipline, for example, Integrated Science and Social Studies. It may also take the form of incorporating a minor or carrier subject into common or strongly related topics. There are subjects that can cater for several HIV objectives; for example, Natural Science, Moral Education, and Home Economics are known as the main carrier subjects. Subjects that allow for fewer issues to be incorporated are known as the minor carrier subjects. Though integration is not as pervasive as infused curriculum, it is very useful in HIV education in that it enables the teacher to ensure that HIV issues are addressed when they appear in the teaching objectives, especially since these issues become examinable.⁽¹⁶⁹

Limitations of the classroom setting and teaching methods

Class sizes make a major difference to the strategies that teachers can use at classroom level. In many developing countries, in particular in Africa where enrolment rates have increased rapidly in recent years, classes are often very large. In some schools, teachers may have classes with a hundred or more students. In addition, classes often include learners of different ages, especially in places where many children enrol in school late or repeat grades. Large and mixed-age classes are less conducive to using participatory and learner-centred methods that enable children and young people to explore attitudes and develop skills. In large groups it is difficult to ensure the full and equal participation of all students or to address a wide range of abilities and needs.

Maintaining discipline at the same time as creating space for safe and open discussion of sensitive issues is a challenge for even the best teachers when class sizes are large. Teachers need skills in classroom management and ways of relating to their students that foster healthy development. This means examining sources of authority, power and hierarchy in the classroom and creating space for safe and open dialogue at the same time as being able to maintain discipline.⁷⁰ New ideas about teacher training are emerging that show promise. One example is the use of action research techniques to explore gender dynamics within the school and the educational process.⁷¹

HIV education has also been implemented using different pedagogical approaches. On one side is the view of the learner as a passive recipient of knowledge given from their teacher. Early HIV education was based on this view, and facts were delivered to students in the belief that this information could be translated to action. We know that this view is too simplistic and removed from the life of learners. On the other side is the idea that learning is much more complex than a hierarchical transfer of information. Learners do not approach new information with a blank slate; rather, they bring their own experience to the issue, and information has to be internalized and contextualized to be useful. Those taking the latter view argue that while the recipient approach can work in certain disciplines, such as mathematics, it is less effective for more situation-specific issues such as HIV and sexuality, where learners need to be an active participant in their learning so that they can translate information to healthy behaviours within their life context.

Poorly prepared and supported teachers

Experience has shown that effective HIV and sexuality education depends on capable and motivated educators who receive quality training as well as ongoing management, supervision and support.^{172,173} Without skilled teachers who can have open, honest and non-judgmental discussions with learners and help them to understand risk in their context, and who are able to employ participatory approaches, even the best curriculum will have little impact. Teachers are often assumed to be professionals who are ready to teach anything, but in practice they may not have the necessary subject knowledge or the participatory and interactive teaching skills required to deliver successful HIV education.

In the past decade the number of teachers trained has increased markedly, as the GPS findings in the previous chapter show. The aforementioned EFAIDS programme trained 200,000 teachers through a cascade system in almost fifty countries in Africa, Asia, Latin America and the Caribbean. An independent evaluation concluded that 'Based upon the evaluation data there seems to be no doubt that the teachers that received training through the programme have increased their knowledge about and understanding of HIV and AIDS. In a lot of countries where the programme has operated there is little training available for teachers on this specific topic.¹⁷⁴ It also found that 'By being involved in the programme teachers have developed their teaching competencies (teaching methodologies, tools, and pedagogical skills) not only with regard to HIV, but also in a way that can be applied across a range of subjects.¹⁷⁵ Further, 'teachers attest to having more self-confidence and self-esteem when it comes to broaching the topic of HIV. Trained teachers feel more at ease to discuss issues related to the virus, and other sensitive topics associated with taboos, in and outside the classroom.¹⁷⁶ The evaluation also noted that the trainings had positive ramifications in that the 'increased self-esteem and pride has also reflected in a positive change of attitude of trained teachers towards their own profession. In many of the countries studied, the teaching profession is not considered a strong career, neither in terms of status nor remuneration. The programme has acknowledged their professionalism and the valuable contribution they can make based upon their skills and position.'177

However, while these numbers and effects are impressive, this programme relied on the cascade model of training to reach teachers throughout the country, and there are concerns about the quality of training at lower levels of the cascade.⁷⁸ A key element of this method is the lack of resources and

the fact that life skills education has often been donor-driven and may not be part of the general curriculum.⁷⁹

According to a 2012 report by UNICEF,¹⁸⁰ there is a strong demand for additional teacher training and support, but limited evidence of approaches to teachers' engagement and professional development that effectively address the specific demands of life skills education delivery beyond knowledge content. Effective delivery is commonly seen as dependent on the introduction of participatory teaching and learning methodologies, but significant challenges exist to the implementation of such methodologies in the context of resource-constrained systems and more traditional didactic modes of delivery.

Findings from the GPS highlight the lack of appropriate pre- and in-service teacher training on HIV and sexuality education. Similar findings have been found in other reviews. For example, an assessment of pre- and in-service teacher training for HFLE in Guyana found that insufficient time was allocated to the topic during training and that teachers needed to receive more training in the use of interactive and participatory activities.¹⁸¹

In Eastern Europe and Central Asia, efforts to date have mostly focused on in-service training to deliver HIV and life skills education, in some cases (for example, Azerbaijan, Belarus and the Russian Federation) on a significant scale, mainly through the support of international donors and UN agencies. This is beginning to change slowly, as a number of countries, such as Armenia, Moldova and Ukraine, have started to integrate HIV and sexual and reproductive health into pre-service training in selected teacher training institutions. However, since sexuality, health and life skills education is not a mandatory subject it is difficult to decide which teachers to train to teach courses that schools may or may not choose to deliver. At the same time, in-service training for teachers of mandatory subjects, such as biology or civic education, has proved to be inadequate, with many teachers still feeling uncomfortable about discussing sensitive issues and unable to apply participatory methods to health and life skills education.

New technologies offer potential. For example, many teacher training institutes in Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan use an interactive e-course,¹⁸² developed with UNESCO assistance, to raise trainee teachers' awareness about HIV. In the Caribbean, UNICEF, UNESCO and CARICOM are developing an online professional diploma in instructional approaches to HFLE delivered by the University of the West Indies Open Campus, and some pioneering work in discourse theory concerning teachers and HIV has been conducted

in South Africa at the Faculty of Education, University of the Western Cape. However, the 2007 SACMEQ study found a significant gap between teacher knowledge and student knowledge, suggesting that lack of knowledge is not the only barrier to effective teaching about HIV and sexuality. A recent UNICEF evaluation highlighted the facts that existing training does not adequately address important elements such as teachers' psychosocial skills and attitudes and that teachers often feel that they do not have a mandate to teach about HIV and sexuality.¹⁸³

Evidence from studies of teaching about HIV and sexuality in the classroom conducted between 2000 and 2008 also found that many teachers were not able to deliver HIV and sexuality education successfully, due to lack of skills or lack of an enabling environment.¹⁸⁴ For example, a study conducted in Mozambique found that teachers in lower primary school in particular lacked the skills to talk about sensitive sexual issues. There were also challenges at secondary level, where learners were more experienced than younger children and often asked difficult questions. Younger teachers often found it easier to talk openly about HIV and sexuality. The same study found that support from colleagues and management contributed to teachers' willingness to teach about HIV, while lack of support had a negative impact on teaching.¹⁸⁵

Teachers are often viewed as neutral transmitters of information,¹⁸⁶ but in reality they bring their life experiences, attitudes and values to the process. The practice of 'selective teaching', where teachers avoid content that they feel uncomfortable with, has been widely reported.¹⁸⁷ Teachers' willingness to communicate about HIV is also affected by concerns that children will initiate sex or become promiscuous, or that parents or religious leaders would not approve of sexuality education. As one teacher commented, 'We will be accused of provoking disgrace'.¹⁸⁸ Teachers have raised similar issues in other studies and in other countries.¹⁸⁹ As Kelly notes, in ESA countries teachers question their role in this form of education. They have 'anxiety concerns' and 'resistance concerns'. Anxiety concerns refer to fears of violating taboos, giving offence to parents, being accused of encouraging promiscuity and loose moral practices in the young, or being regarded as using their teaching in this area as a form of personal sexual outlet. Resistance concerns relate to doubts whether sex education, the formation of appropriate sexual attitudes and the transmission of very specific behavioural guidelines really belong to their work as teachers, when their whole training and orientation were directed towards what are essentially academic areas.¹⁹⁰

In addition to selective teaching, teachers have found other ways to avoid difficult or challenging issues. A review of HIV education in ESA countries¹⁹¹ found that teachers often opted to focus on knowledge rather than skills and to use textbooks instead of engaging pupils in participatory approaches. Similarly, a study in Togo reported that teachers in primary schools do teach about sexual transmission of HIV but do not explain about sex. Teachers commented that they leave it to experts from outside organizations to address this and noted the benefits of involving these organizations in schools.¹⁹²

Recent studies show that these challenges persist. For example, a study in Tanzania found that teachers were unable to discuss sexuality, sex, condom use and family planning.¹⁹³ Tanzanian teachers were afraid that talking about sexuality could encourage sexual activity and felt that discussing issues such as homosexuality, masturbation, condoms and sexual pleasure was counter to community norms, culture and religion. The authors commented that professional teachers are part of society and are therefore not immune to the influence of community norms, culture and religion on attitudes towards young people's sexuality. A five-country study conducted in the Latin America region in 2010 highlighted the need to strengthen pre-service and in-service training, to give teachers the opportunity to consider their own attitudes and the challenges of lack of time in the curriculum and limited resources.¹⁹⁴ Evidence from the Caribbean also suggests that teachers experience challenges in teaching about sensitive topics.¹⁹⁵

One study of Canadian teachers found that they avoided using the words 'HIV' and 'AIDS' directly and used words such as 'it' or 'that situation' instead, suggesting that they were not comfortable discussing the subject.^{196,197} In addition, teachers were not able to tackle issues related to ethnicity, poverty and sexual orientation. The author concluded that teachers needed more information and training, more suitable teaching aids and access to external resource-persons. They also needed more time to discuss sensitive issues and to engage in critical self-reflection and assessment of values.

"While education is a starting point, teachers must likewise continue to acknowledge their discomfort when taboo topics such as HIV/AIDS are introduced and their uncertainty regarding how to dissect their own misinformation and biases. . . . Teachers who decide to discuss HIV/ AIDS in their classroom must first self-evaluate and acknowledge their pedagogical model. They should take into critical consideration what they wish their students to learn, and what responsibility they hope to hold when imparting this information. Derek [an interviewed teacher] was clear that he was timid in discussing sexuality, and that he had to be cautious. Rightly so, however, perhaps a thorough assessment regarding his own values concerning sexuality and, as an extension, all teachers' thorough assessment on sexuality would serve them well when talking of HIV/AIDS. Ignorance has been a ruling factor in why people shy away from gaining awareness on HIV/AIDS. Once teachers acknowledge their lack of understanding and relinquish their concern over how their students will perceive them, they will be better suited to discuss HIV/AIDS critically and extensively."¹⁹⁸

Cultural and gender challenges

Other research has highlighted the influence of culture, ethnicity and religion on teaching about HIV. For example, one study of multicultural, multireligious refugee schools in Kenya^{199,200} focused on gender, multicultural and multireligious beliefs and practices, and how they affect teaching and learning about HIV education. It concluded that teachers lack the skills to deal with multicultural classes. For example, while Christian Turkana and Ugandan girls were active participants in HIV education activities, Somali and Ethiopian Muslim girls remained quiet. They were reserved and shy because, according to their culture and religion, this was a way of showing respect to male teachers and pupils. However, Kenyan Christian teachers misinterpreted this behaviour as being rude or found it uncomfortable. In some cases, as a result, teachers avoided teaching about HIV and sexuality. As one teacher commented, 'when you go in and try to talk to them about matters of HIV/AIDS and sexuality, you find them looking down, whispering, covering their faces and that is very funny according to me. It's quite annoying and uncomfortable to teach such girls.' 201,202

The same study also emphasized the influence of gender on the provision of HIV and sexuality education, in particular the impact of culturally influenced gender roles adopted by both teachers and learners on interaction in the classroom. For example, learners reacted differently depending on the gender of the teacher and vice versa. Girls and boys also reacted differently to the contents of the lessons, with boys preferring the sexual content and girls preferring content concerning love and care of people living with HIV. In some cases, the involvement of male pupils in preparing HIV education materials resulted in the development of gender-biased materials that perpetuated patriarchy and male dominance. During lessons about HIV, many girls found the behaviour of boys intimidating and thus disliked mixed classes for HIV education.

In addition, male and female teachers were perceived differently depending on their age. While older male and female teachers were culturally regarded as 'parents' and therefore respected, young female teachers were seen as 'afraid age-mates' and young male teachers as having a hidden 'sex agenda'. Most of the refugee girls had experienced sexual harassment and did not trust men, including male teachers. Female teachers were considered to be gossipers and hence were not trusted either.

The study highlights the importance of considering the culture, religion and gender of teachers and learners in planning the delivery of HIV education, and the need for HIV and sexuality education to be delivered by teachers who are properly trained. Other studies have noted that for HIV education interventions to be sustainable and effective, teachers need to identify and position themselves within the content as a condition to facilitate learner-centred approaches that explore life issues such as identity, anxiety and health.²⁰³ For example, they need to explore their own gender constructs as a necessary first step to the creation of more gender-sensitive teaching practices.

Viewpoint: Teaching about HIV in schools – the missing link?

This contribution was provided by Padmini Iyer, Peter Aggleton and David Clarke. Given the centrality of teachers to effective HIV education, they discuss what is known about teacher education and training for HIV education and key issues requiring further review and research.

Introduction

To date, much work on education and HIV internationally has either focused on systems issues – for example, assessing and getting education systems ready, training for policy-makers and education department staff – or on curricular materials.^{204,205,206} However, the need to prioritize HIV education for teachers – both initial preparation and training and continuing professional development – is increasingly recognized.^{207,208,209,210,211,212} The absence of goodquality training that sensitizes teachers to the issues to be addressed as part of HIV education, and provides them with the skills to teach the subject to students, constitutes a significant barrier to the effective implementation of HIV education in many countries.^{213,214,215,216,217} The situation is made more complex because education about HIV encompasses at least three different but related components: education for HIV prevention, treatment education and education to mitigate the negative social effects of the epidemic.²¹⁸

Among the challenges and barriers to be confronted, socio-cultural taboos relating to the discussion of HIV and sex-related issues, with teachers' consequent embarrassment or reluctance to implement HIV education, have been well reported.^{219,220,221,222,223,224,225,226} Teachers' political and religious beliefs can lead to the exclusion of HIV-related material in curricula.^{227,228,229} Teachers' lack of knowledge can lead to incorrect information being shared with students.^{230,231}

While the importance of improved teacher education and training for HIV education (both initial teacher education and continuing professional development) has been acknowledged, little research has addressed issues such as which type of teacher education and training works best, how long training programmes should last, how to involve the community in these forms of education, and what forms of education take place in classrooms subsequently.^{232,233,234}

What do we know about teacher preparedness?

It is widely accepted that teachers cannot simply be engaged as 'academicians or communicators of knowledge' for HIV education.^{235,236,239} Knowing what to teach is only one element that prepares a teacher to address HIV in the classroom; a supportive policy context and the willingness and confidence of teachers to undertake this work are also key.²⁴⁰

As well as a focus on the cognitive domain (e.g. knowing ways to avoid contracting the virus), there is therefore also a need to emphasize the affective aspects of education (e.g. examining personal values) and change behaviours (e.g. making good decisions).²⁴¹ By providing trainee educators with opportunities to examine their own attitudes about sexuality and behaviours, understand the content they are teaching, and gain confidence in discussing sensitive and controversial topics, teachers can be 'transformed ... into committed, responsible and effective agents of positive social change'.^{242,243,244,245}

The use of learner-centred, participatory teaching methodologies for HIV education - both for teachers and students - is recommended by many researchers and practitioners. But, 'telling teachers in general about strategies that might be used in the classroom, without examples and models, does not typically lead to deep understanding'.²⁴⁶ Alternative, participatory methods to teach about HIV can turn the focus towards creating an open and safe environment, while also engaging appropriately with cultural, gender and age behaviours.²⁴⁷ The use of a simulation game in HIV education with pre-service teachers in South Africa offers one example of such an approach: findings suggest that this novel experiential pedagogy was particularly effective in light of student-teachers' relative naivety concerning the intersection of biological, socio-cultural and economic issues in HIV transmission.²⁴⁸ In Jamaica, it has been found that teachers trained using experiential teaching methods, participatory exercises, role-plays and performing arts were more likely to use these methods in their classrooms than those who were trained with more traditional pedagogies.²⁴⁹ Similarly, pre-service teacher training based around participatory methods has been found to improve teachers' HIV-related knowledge in Cambodia.²⁵⁰

Both pre-service and in-service programmes are necessary in order to prepare teachers adequately for their role in HIV education. It has been noted that a pre-service setting 'offers an opportunity for future teachers to explore their own beliefs and concerns' relating to HIV education; it can also be a cost-effective place to start such programmes.^{251,252} While pre-service teacher

64

training programmes are usually carried out in teacher training colleges or in the education departments of universities, in-service training for those already teaching is often sponsored by international organizations or local NGOs, which are sometimes supported by the government and linked to its ministry of education.²⁵³ When used in isolation, both approaches have potential weaknesses. HIV education components in pre-service training programmes are often not implemented in reality, while continuing education programmes may have limited success in reaching significant numbers of teachers and in developing the required understanding and teaching skills.^{254,255,256}

Pre-service and in-service training programmes can be strengthened by teachers' active involvement in their development and implementation. For example, teacher involvement in planning and implementation to improve the design of an HIV education intervention in West Java, Indonesia, was found to encourage teacher motivation.²⁵⁷ Experiential and context-specific action-based learning and research into the educational aspects of HIV has been notably employed in South Africa and Kenya, with the aim of breaking the silence and reducing stigma, and equipping teachers to provide care and support for infected and affected learners and colleagues. Training through action research enables teachers to examine their own experiences and attitudes and also encourages them to hypothesize, test their own suggestions and engage with their colleagues in reflective dialogue about effective teaching on HIV.258,259 This approach is consistent with preparing teachers to become 'lifelong learners who are able to learn from their own practice while maintaining reflective dialogue with other teachers, subject specialists and researchers'.²⁶⁰

What do we know about barriers to effective work?

Several obstacles prevent the implementation of effective teacher training for HIV education. Socio-cultural factors, for example cultural taboos relating to the discussion of HIV-related issues, particularly sex and drugs, can mean that HIV education is neglected in schools in spite of the availability of teacher education and training programmes. The political sensitivity of discussing contentious issues in the classroom places teachers at risk of making themselves and their students feel uncomfortable, or of offending parents and administrators (e.g. in Latin American²⁶¹ and sub-Saharan African countries²⁶²). Teachers' religious beliefs play a considerable role in determining the topics they are willing to discuss. The sensitivity of discussing drugs and sex in a Muslim society has been cited as an obstacle to teachers implementing HIV education in Indonesia,²⁶³ while teachers' evangelical Christian beliefs have been shown to lead to a firmly 'abstinence-only' focus in Uganda.²⁶⁴

Several other challenges to providing teacher training on the scale required for effective national implementation – 100 per cent coverage – have been observed. In many countries in Asia and the Pacific, the scope, quality and focus of initial teacher education in the areas of HIV education often fail to prepare teachers adequately for the challenges they face within schools, which in turn can mean that teachers' embarrassment and anxieties remain unaddressed. Once again, this leads to the subject not being taught at all.^{265,266}

Lack of available resources is also a barrier to the implementation of effective teacher education and training for HIV education. In Timor-Leste, limited budget allocation for the education sector response to HIV has led to a lack of available resources for pre-service training, including time and materials.²⁶⁷ Meanwhile, the cascade model of in-service training for teachers widely adopted in countries such the Philippines²⁶⁸ and Thailand²⁶⁹ has been criticized for its limited success in changing teachers' practices and behaviour through an initial one-off 'workshop' format, and for the subsequent dependence on a small group of teachers to both understand and pass on new information to their colleagues.²⁷⁰ Similar problems have been encountered in Kenya, where the Ministry of Education aimed to prepare teachers for HIV education through a week-long, cascade-model training course. Unsurprisingly, this approach to training frequently failed to address teachers' anxieties and concerns, or to prepare them adequately for the implementation of HIV education.²⁷¹

What do we know about factors that contribute to success?

The duration and length of the training offered appears to have a considerable impact on teachers' effectiveness. A correlation between the duration of training and the degree of HIV education content taught to students has been observed in sub-Saharan African countries.²⁷² Short-term or one-off training courses may be insufficient to affect teacher confidence and competence in the medium to longer term, and it seems unlikely that required changes in teachers' attitudes and behaviours will happen in a short period of time.^{273,274} Teachers who receive both initial training in a pre-service setting and follow-up in-service courses are therefore expected to benefit more.²⁷⁵ Examples of successful longer-term approaches include teachers working in teams, obtaining periodic observation for constructive

feedback, and attending refresher courses which can reinforce new skills and knowledge and help teachers address issues and concerns.²⁷⁶ Countries including Thailand, Mexico, Jamaica, Zambia and Kenya have adopted this approach to support teachers after pre-service training.^{277,278,279}

Numerous pre-service and in-service training programmes for HIV education have encountered problems because the teaching staff themselves do not have a theoretical and practical understanding of the epidemic and its implications.²⁸⁰ A priority in the implementation of such programmes must therefore be to develop appropriate skills and knowledge, including research skills, among education staff in universities and teacher education institutions.^{281,282,283}

Beyond the structure of teacher training programmes themselves, effective coordination seems essential for successful teacher training for HIV education. Teacher training should not be seen as isolated from the wider community. Experience from Uganda and Malawi has shown that involving local leaders and parents in both pre-service and in-service training can serve to sensitize communities about HIV and to reduce opposition to school-based HIV education.²⁸⁴ The support of the school administration, and particularly the school principal, is also essential in order to add legitimacy to HIV education, increase teacher and community comfort, and ensure that the content is actually covered.^{285,286,287}

Partnerships and support beyond the school level are also required to ensure the success of teacher education programmes. In particular, the support of national ministries is essential in providing leadership and commitment to sustainability, ensuring that information is consistent across programmes and maximizing limited resources.²⁸⁸ Recent experience of HIV and sexuality education in six Latin American countries (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Paraguay, Peru and Uruguay) has pointed to the advantages of harmonizing public policies, strengthening links between health and education sectors, and placing an emphasis on training both teachers and students.²⁸⁹ Generating political will among educational communities has facilitated capacity-building for teachers, the development of operational guidelines and the preparation of pedagogic guidelines, which have all facilitated the implementation of sustainable HIV and sexuality education in these countries.²⁹⁰

What issues need to be reviewed and researched?

There appears to be some consensus on best practice when training teachers to implement HIV education. A combination of pre-service training and in-service support for teachers, implemented by tutors who are themselves well-trained, and programmes which actively involve teachers, increase their knowledge of HIV issues and encourage them to examine and challenge their own attitudes and beliefs, are all conducive to the implementation of good-quality HIV education in schools. Yet research examining how such programmes take shape in reality, and their impact on classroom practices, remains limited.

Debates persist as to whether training for HIV education should be offered as a separate curriculum element or integrated into the more general aspects of the teacher education curriculum.^{291,292} A UNICEF review of life skills programmes in sub-Saharan Africa found that placing education about HIV within the context of personal development and health skills (where such subjects exist and are taught) may work better than integrating the material into other subjects, where it may get lost.²⁹³ However, the review from which this evidence derives was carried out in 1999 and reported on findings prior to this date; there is an urgent need to revisit this issue in the context of recent 'AIDS fatigue' in schools, especially in contexts where the impact of the epidemic has been greatest.²⁹⁴

Greater attention to teacher education and training for HIV education is also required, including a focus on the models and approaches that are costeffective and work best.²⁹⁵ Recent work on HIV and sexuality education in Latin America suggests that, subsequent to the 2007 Regional Harmonization Agreement and the 2008 Mexico Declaration, an impressive emphasis has been placed on capacity-building and teacher sensitization education programmes.²⁹⁶ However, in these countries and all over the world, more disaggregated data (e.g. issues relating to gender and age, primary versus secondary teacher training, rural and urban settings) are required to provide a more nuanced understanding of effective teacher education and training.

More information is also required concerning the ways in which teacher education and training for HIV education is incorporated into broader reforms on teacher education, and how teachers are selected for training and implementation of HIV education. Overall, there is a need for further research examining what actually goes on in classrooms, in order to understand and address any potential disconnects between policy intent, teacher training practice and classroom realities.

Comprehensive sexuality education in low-level and concentrated epidemic countries

Low levels of knowledge also reflect the fact that relatively few countries are implementing comprehensive sexuality education at national scale.²⁹⁷ These include, for example, Nigeria²⁹⁸ and India,²⁹⁹ both of which are increasing coverage of programmes with a focus on sexuality, health and education, though many learners are still not reached. In Latin America and the Caribbean, where the International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF) has conducted reviews of the status of sexuality education and recently launched a database of related information,³⁰⁰ there has been reasonable progress: for example, in Colombia the government is implementing an innovative new approach to sexuality education and citizenship,³⁰¹ and in Peru sexuality education is being brought to 900 schools.³⁰²

However, a recent review³⁰³ found that comprehensive sexuality education is a long way from being institutionalized in most low- and middle-income countries where the HIV epidemic poses a disproportionate burden. Even in countries with the highest HIV rates, small-scale pilot projects were the norm, and there were relatively few examples of scaled-up, sustainable programmes within educational curricula. Failure to institutionalize comprehensive sexuality education is due to factors including lack of political commitment, of long-term planning and of adequate investment, education system constraints, lack of clarity about how to implement these programmes and how to scale them up in diverse contexts, and, most importantly, lack of coordination between different actors.³⁰⁴ In Thailand, for example, the TeenPath project, which aimed to integrate sexuality education and HIV prevention into the Grade 7–12 curriculum in selected schools, faced challenges to scaling up: these included the difficulty of institutionalizing a pilot project within governmental structures and a decentralized education system, and a perception among educational administrators that the issue had limited relevance in a system that prioritizes 'academic excellence'.³⁰⁵

A key question is how sexuality education translates into curricula, lesson plans and teaching in the classroom, given that the curriculum is contested space. In India, for example, controversy around the Adolescent Education Programme led to its being withdrawn in a number of states. Some teachers may have some autonomy in deciding how to interpret the curriculum, while others may be expected to follow a more prescribed path. In HIV and sexuality education, this can make a significant difference to both quality and outcomes.

Sexuality education has also been viewed as controversial in other regions. In a number of countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, sexual and reproductive health education programmes were introduced in the 1990s, mostly by NGOs, but without adequate preparation of teachers or engagement of parents and other stakeholders. As a result there were objections from parents and religious organizations, strengthening the views of those who argued that sexuality education was counter to traditional values and morality and that it was not appropriate to discuss condoms in schools; most of these programmes were suspended. Between 1999 and 2006 attempts were made to re-introduce sexuality education in the context of life skills education, avoiding use of the term 'sexuality'. Today, HIV education is delivered in all countries of the region, although significant differences exist in approach, content and scale of implementation. In some countries, concerns continue to be raised about the sexuality and HIV content of teaching materials, and consequently sexuality education has not been incorporated into the curriculum nor delivered on a national scale.

Box 10: Policy context in the Asia-Pacific region

The Asia-Pacific region has a highly favourable policy environment for the implementation of HIV education: the education sector included sexual and reproductive health, HIV or related issues in sector policies and decrees early on in countries as diverse as China (1988), Indonesia (1997), the Philippines (1995) and Thailand (1991).^{306,307} A decade later, countries including Cambodia, Lao PDR, Nepal, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea and Viet Nam had integrated HIV into sector policies, typically in the context of school health or health education, while two countries – Cambodia and Papua New Guinea – established HIV policies specifically for the education sector.^{308,309} In a recent review of policies and strategies in the region, 21 out of 25 countries' national HIV strategies or plans included some reference to the role of education, including in some cases reference to detailed sector strategies. Most of these target in-school youth, mention capacity development of teachers, and promote HIV and life skills education.³¹⁰

Lack of HIV and sexuality education in primary schools

Comprehensive sexuality education, including HIV education, should be provided in a building block approach over the critical years of development from five to eighteen years of age. Learning objectives should be logically staged with concepts for younger learners including more basic information, less advanced cognitive tasks and less complex activities.³¹¹ To maximize learning, it is essential that the basics are put in place at primary level.³¹² In addition, as discussed below and in more detail in Chapter 3, in many countries rates of primary school completion and secondary school

70

enrolment remain low, so it is critical to ensure that children receive some education about HIV and sexuality in primary school.

This does not always happen, and efforts to date have focused mainly on delivery of HIV and sexuality education in secondary schools. The GPS showed that most countries at secondary level included HIV and sexuality education in their curriculum.³¹³ However, the figures decrease for primary education, with only 38 per cent reporting the inclusion of sexuality education and 54 per cent the inclusion of HIV education in the lower primary curriculum (see Figure 2). A number of respondents to the survey also pointed out that inclusion in the curriculum does not ensure that it is taught, especially if the topics are sensitive. This means that the number of children receiving appropriate education on the topics at the appropriate age is likely to be lower than officially reported.



Figure 2: Inclusion of HIV and sexuality education in the curriculum of the 39 GPS countries

Source: UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Raw data file available upon request from aids@unesco.org

These and other shortcomings have been confirmed by recent country reviews using tools such as the UNESCO-developed Sexuality Education Review and Assessment Tool (SERAT). For example, in 2012 the Tanzania Institute of Education used SERAT to conduct a review³¹⁴ of content by key concept at different levels of the education system. This showed that for the
5–8 year age group, youth empowerment and sexuality and sexual behaviour were the weakest areas.

The curriculum review of ten countries in East and Southern Africa³¹⁵ discussed earlier found that while content is often age-appropriate there was delayed delivery of some topics. Covering topics too early or too late reduces the effectiveness of sexuality education, as knowledge, attitudes and skills are not built on in a coherent manner.

Concerns about opposition from parents, religious leaders and others in the community are often cited by education ministries and by teachers who are reluctant to teach about HIV and sexuality, especially to younger children. However, in practice, parents are often more supportive than teachers suppose. An early study by ActionAid in India and Kenya, for example, found that over 80 per cent of parents wanted their children to learn about HIV at school while only 4 per cent were opposed or strongly opposed.³¹⁶

There are other strong arguments for providing comprehensive HIV and sexuality education in primary schools. Firstly, in many countries, the age of sexual debut is low. In the developing world, 11 per cent of girls aged 15–19 and 5 per cent of boys aged 15–19 have had sex before the age of 15. The highest rate of early sexual debut is in Latin America where 17 per cent of 15–19-year-olds had sex before the age of 15. In sub-Saharan Africa the proportion is 14 per cent.³¹⁷ According to a WHO survey, 45 per cent of 15-year-old boys in Armenia, 40 per cent in Ukraine and 37 per cent in Russia had their first sexual experience before reaching this age.³¹⁸ Data from the Caribbean region also suggest that age of sexual debut is low in a number of countries, particularly among girls.³¹⁹

Box 11: Tackling discrimination in Eastern Europe and Central Asia

The increase in the number of children born to HIV-positive parents in the region, in particular in the Russian Federation and Ukraine, in the early 2000s, added another dimension to HIV education. Both countries launched training and sensitization programmes for teachers to prevent discrimination in schools towards children living with or affected by HIV and acceptance and tolerance of people living with HIV was enhanced in HIV education.

These programmes paved the way for adoption of national policies on HIV in the education sector, for example in Belarus, Ukraine, Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan in 2012–2013. Developed with technical assistance from UNESCO, and based on UNESCO-ILO 2012 regional practical recommendations on HIV policy implementation in the education sector, these policies provide management and staff of educational institutions with a framework for supporting learners and educators living with or affected by HIV and protecting them from discrimination.

72

Secondly, there is good evidence that HIV and sexuality education is most effective in terms of knowledge acquisition and skills development if it targets children before they become sexually active.^{320,321,322,323,324,325,326} Before puberty, all young people should learn about sex and sexual health, including how to protect themselves from HIV and other STI, early pregnancy, sexual violence and exploitation. Education can strengthen children's skills to negotiate their emerging sexuality, while increasing awareness of gender, violence and rights. For too many children, such knowledge and skills are imparted too late, if at all.^{327,328,329} Numerous research studies have shown that teaching about sex and relationships before young people become sexually active increases neither the likelihood that they will start having sex nor the frequency of sexual activity of those who are already sexually active.³³⁰

For example, a review in Kenya³³¹ showed that a national primary school HIV intervention can have positive effects if it is provided in a timely manner. The programme had a significant impact on its stated objectives, including increased HIV-related knowledge and increased communication with parents and teachers about HIV and sexuality. However, the impact was different depending on gender and sexual experience, with the most beneficial effect being on sexually inexperienced young people. Boys reported increased condom use while girls were more likely to decrease or delay sexual activity. The reviewers point out that given the higher impact on non-sexually active youth, and the fact that nearly half of young people reported that they were sexually experienced at baseline (patterns of sexual experience were similar for males and females, increasing from 37.5 per cent of 11–12-year-olds to over 60 per cent of 16–17-year-olds), the programme should be implemented with the youngest age groups possible. This review strengthens the argument for implementing age-appropriate HIV and sexuality education in lower primary settings.

Thirdly, there is increasing evidence that gender socialization of boys and girls begins early, and efforts to promote gender-equitable norms should, therefore, also begin early, including in primary school. Education at an early age can also build understanding of health, communications, values and attitudes.^{332,333}

Primary education is now compulsory in almost every country, and 91 per cent of children who enter school stay there until the end of primary school,³³⁴ making it the best opportunity to reach the largest number of children in a cost-effective manner. Rates of primary school completion and secondary school enrolment are low in many countries, including countries in sub-Saharan Africa worst affected by HIV.³³⁵ Failure to provide HIV and

sexuality education before secondary school means that a large proportion of children and young people receive little or no education about HIV before they become sexually active. Without comprehensive education about HIV and sexuality, young people are at risk of lacking the knowledge and skills to understand and interpret the increasing amount of information that is available to them through new technologies and social media.

Those most affected by missing out on sexuality education are girls in countries where the female school drop-out rate at the end of primary school is high. One in four adolescent girls aged 15-19 in the developing world (excluding China) is married or in a union; in the least developed countries nearly half of women aged 20-24 are married before the age of 18.336,337 During this period HIV risk also increases, particularly in highly affected ESA countries.^{338,339,340} In addition, many girls have their first child at a young age. Globally, approximately 16 million girls aged 15-19 give birth every year, 95 per cent of them in low- and middle-income countries. Niger, for example, which has one of the lowest rates of primary school completion for girls, has the highest rate of childbearing in this age group.³⁴¹ Early pregnancy is associated with higher risks of birth complications and maternal mortality. In low- and middle-income countries, complications of pregnancy and birth are the leading cause of death in girls aged 15–19.342 The need for comprehensive sexuality education is also underlined by high rates of unintended pregnancy and unsafe abortion among adolescents.³⁴³

In summary, high primary school drop-out rates, early onset of sexual activity, the need for sequential comprehensive sexuality education sessions over critical years of development³⁴⁴ and the fact that the best results are found in individuals who are targeted before they become sexually active^{345,346} add up to a compelling argument for providing comprehensive sexuality education, including about HIV, to children in primary school.

HIV education beyond secondary school

"The role of universities as opinion formers within society, their pivotal position in the creation and dissemination of knowledge and the fostering of innovation, and their contribution to their nation's human resource capacity marks them out as an essential site for the establishment of national, regional and global responses to ... HIV/AIDS."³⁴⁷

Reviews of the impact of and responses to HIV in higher education have also highlighted the need for HIV education at tertiary level.^{348,349} Students in

74

higher education – technical and vocational training institutions as well as universities and colleges – are the future public servants and entrepreneurs who will play a central role in a country's development and an important target population for HIV and sexuality education. Such education is essential to ensure that they have the knowledge and skills to protect themselves from HIV, other STI and unintended pregnancies.

Students in tertiary education are vulnerable to HIV infection. They may be alone and away from family and friends for the first time. They have more freedom and, in some places, easier access to alcohol and drugs. In some institutions, they may be at higher risk of sexual abuse and harassment or pressured by staff to exchange sex for grades. Financial pressures can also result in students engaging in sex work.

South Africa is one of the few countries to have conducted extensive research on the vulnerability of students and staff in higher education. In a study of 21 higher education institutions,³⁵⁰ academic staff had the lowest overall HIV prevalence at 1.5 per cent, followed by students at 3.4 per cent, administrative staff at 4.4 per cent, and service staff at 12.2 per cent. Female staff and students were three times more likely to be HIV positive than their male counterparts, with HIV prevalence of 4.7 per cent compared with 1.5 per cent. This study showed that sex with older partners was a risk factor. Among the 7 per cent of female students who reported that their most recent sexual partner was ten or more years older, 12.8 per cent were HIV positive. In contrast, those with partners fewer than ten years older had a prevalence rate of 3.1 per cent.

It is often assumed that because students have reached the level of tertiary education, they have received HIV and sexuality education; however, studies on knowledge and attitudes among students show low levels on both areas. For example, a study in China found that while 24 per cent of students surveyed considered themselves to be at moderate to very high risk of contracting HIV, 40 per cent of sexually active students never used condoms.³⁵¹ Low levels of knowledge are also reflected in negative attitudes towards people living with HIV. For example, a study in Malaysia found that only 9.2 per cent of pharmacy students would be willing to assist HIV-positive patients.³⁵²

To date, efforts to ensure that students in higher education have access to information and to include HIV in the curriculum have been mixed. A recent global review assessed access to HIV information and prevention materials among students in higher education.³⁵³The review found that access ranged from 10 per cent to 100 per cent, with the highest levels of access in countries

with a generalized epidemic. The proportion of countries reporting that they have reviewed and adapted their tertiary curriculum to address HIV increased from 30 per cent in 2004 to 60 per cent in 2011–2012.

However, available evidence suggests that the quality of information provided and of revised curricula is variable, and that the extent of implementation varies. Many country respondents to the review commented that adaptation of the curriculum to include HIV and related issues does not automatically mean these issues will be allocated time in the lecture room or will be adequately covered, as tutors may be reluctant to teach subjects they find uncomfortable or embarrassing.³⁵⁴

This suggests that there has been limited progress since 2006, when a study conducted by the Association for the Development of Education in Africa (ADEA) Working Group on Higher Education found that tutors lacked both the requisite knowledge to impart to students and the skills to address the complex and value-laden issues related to HIV.³⁵⁵ Country studies have come to similar conclusions. For example, a 2012 report from South Africa by the University of Cape Town HIV/AIDS Institutional Co-ordination Unit (HAICU) found that there had been little implementation progress, even though HIV components had been piloted in 2010.³⁵⁶

While examples of good practice exist,³⁵⁷ in most cases the response of higher education institutions to HIV has been neither comprehensive nor systematic. The University of Cape Town and an HIV Co-ordination Unit at the University of Cape Town report warns of the risk of 'cosmetic' responses that incorporate useful additions in the curriculum but do not go far enough in developing the commitment, academic understanding and analytic ability required to address HIV. More needs to be done, both to ensure that students in higher education are equipped with the knowledge and skills they need to stay healthy and to create 'HIV-competent' individuals and societies.

Viewpoint: Higher education - still grappling with the reality of HIV

Mary Crewe provides a perspective on tackling HIV in tertiary education in Africa.³⁵⁸

Dominance of the public health approach

Just over ten years ago, in keeping with the spirit of the time, an article in *The Lancet* stated that 'HIV/AIDS is the greatest threat to life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness and prosperity in many African countries. Interventions, therefore, must be quantitatively and qualitatively commensurate with the magnitude of the threat posed by the disease.³⁵⁹ Somewhat controversially, it also suggested that the emphasis on human rights had reduced the importance of public health, which offered a framework for prevention that might be more relevant to people's lives and was more likely to be effective.

An earlier assessment of HIV education for university students had suggested that 'any programme targeting HIV/AIDS can be included in a more comprehensive initiative for improving and maintaining student health. The skills learned to reduce the risk of HIV infection are transferable to other health issues and involve empowering students to take control and responsibility for their actions.'³⁶⁰

This approach has bedevilled the response of higher education institutions in sub-Saharan Africa, such that 'almost a quarter of a century into the AIDS epidemic, many universities are still trying to grapple with this reality. They have not fully grasped the fact of their HIV/AIDS condition and its implications for its effective functioning. In the naïve belief that they were responding effectively to the epidemic, many institutions have regarded HIV/ AIDS as essentially a health problem.'³⁶¹

This view also resonates with the emphasis to be found in the HIV/AIDS toolkit for tertiary institutions developed by the Association of African Universities and the Association of Commonwealth Universities. The toolkit provides a 'framework and a process'³⁶² for institutions to assess, plan, design, implement, and monitor and evaluate HIV responses. However, although the toolkit identifies the need to confront 'personal and cultural' sexual issues, it mainly takes an education management perspective, underpinned by the

need for capacity building for university managers,³⁶³ and does not address the role and function of universities and higher education institutions or their history in dealing with social issues.

Ten years later, the focus is still on curricula, teaching methods and access to services. How can higher education institutions in Africa move away from this approach, with its portrayal of young people within these institutions as 'subjects of risk' rather than 'citizens of empowerment'?

Higher education about HIV

Universities are subject to and tend to express the conflicts and contradictions of society,³⁶⁴ but some have argued that they have a role in bringing about wider change in society.³⁶⁵ Badat³⁶⁶ has identified five features that are important to the role and functions of universities and institutions of higher education:

- the cultivation of highly educated people
- democracy and democratic citizenship
- development needs and challenges
- engagement with the intellectual and cultural life of societies
- research and scholarship.

He highlights how increasingly students are drawn from diverse social backgrounds and need skills to enable them to function in a changing society and world. In addition, societies need sensitive intellectuals and critical citizens who understand pressing development needs and challenges. Graduates need to be able to engage with the life and culture of the society in which they live and to be involved in all kinds of rigorous scholarship.

These functions are thrown into sharp relief by calls for the tertiary sector to respond to HIV. Sub-Saharan Africa, particularly East and Southern Africa, continues to experience high rates of HIV infection and, despite the success of some treatment programmes and reports of declining infection rates,³⁶⁷ the need for education, prevention and awareness remains high. However, it is the nature of these programmes that is contested. In many higher education settings, most students have had access to information about prevention and how to access treatment and are aware of the need to use condoms and to practise safer sex. Giving more of the same knowledge is not primarily what

tertiary institutions should be about. Rather, good education about HIV is at the heart of what universities are about – linked closely to the roles and functions identified above.

The role of tertiary institutions in dealing with HIV is about creating welleducated – as opposed to well-informed – young people who can critically engage with wider social and political issues. To understand how to engage with HIV in their personal and professional lives, they need to have a critical intellectual engagement with epidemiology and the ways in which issues such as poverty, race, globalization and class drive the epidemic.³⁶⁸ Students in higher education also need the conceptual and intellectual means to engage critically with sexuality, sexual practice and sexual preferences, sexual tolerance, understanding and acceptance. They need to understand and be able to challenge the racial, gender and cultural stereotypes with which they are confronted daily. They need less peer education and more intellectual curiosity. They need more ability to critically engage with notions and interventions such as testing and male circumcision that turn them into subjects rather than respecting them as citizens.³⁶⁹

The challenges in engaging with HIV in tertiary institutions on the African continent are to address their institutional integrity and culture and the fact that universities are workplaces of a special type,³⁷⁰ and to consider how they can respond to the multiple social, political, economic and rights issues that exist in the societies from which their staff and students are drawn. 'Global figures of the numbers of men and women at tertiary institutions address only access to study and employment, and tell us very little about the institutional cultures and conditions in Africa's universities. What is clear is that Africa's campuses remain difficult and challenging places for women at many levels, in ways that are further complicated by the dynamics of growing poverty, and by persistently inequitable ethnic, religious, sexual and other social relations.'³⁷¹

The need for a robust intellectual response

While the logistical response to HIV in tertiary institutions in Africa is important – in terms of policy, condoms, student health, voluntary counselling and testing, and awareness and prevention campaigns – such actions need to be supported and sustained by a robust intellectual response. 'African intellectuals have to be at the forefront of responsible citizenship' and in the creation of an African agency in dealing with the social and cultural issues that come with HIV and AIDS.³⁷²

Students in higher education are curious and intelligent, the future leaders of their countries, and they need to be able to engage with HIV as critical intellectuals. The approach in higher education should, therefore, be about creating critical and informed sexual citizens rather than compliant subjects. This requires a critical intellectual and fundamentally educational response that shapes and drives programmatic interventions to ensure that young people not only understand their epidemics and their societies, but also know how to change them.

Challenges for countries with low-level and concentrated epidemics

Although much attention has focused on countries with generalized epidemics, young people are at risk in other regions.^{373,374} For example, although the Pacific region has primarily low-level epidemics, the proportion of HIV cases among young people is reportedly increasing, particularly among young women,^{375,376} and high rates of other STIs are a major concern: on average one in four of all sexually active young people in the region has an STI.³⁷⁷

In countries with concentrated epidemics, available evidence suggests significant risk and vulnerability among young key populations.^{378,379,380} The Commission on AIDS in Asia estimated that 95 per cent of infections among young people in the region occur among young men who have sex with men, young transgender people, young people injecting drugs, or young people selling sex.³⁸¹ In Pakistan, for example, HIV prevalence is higher among young people under the age of 25 who inject drugs than their older counterparts.³⁸² In India, 17 per cent of female sex workers surveyed reported entering sex work before the age of 15.³⁸³

The challenge is that, in most regions, strategic information on the profile of young people from key populations is inadequate, and stigma and discrimination continue to hinder access to information and services, including within the education sector. The 2011 UN General Assembly Resolution noted that prevention strategies do not adequately focus on populations at higher risk of HIV, and that only 33 per cent of countries had prevalence targets for young people.³⁸⁴ Education ministries in a number of countries have made efforts to better understand and meet the needs of young people from key populations. For example, in Bhutan and Cambodia targeted surveys have been conducted to understand alcohol, drug and sexual behaviours and knowledge, access to and use of sexual and reproductive health services among young key populations (see Box 12).^{385,386,87}

Box 12: Collecting data on young key populations in Cambodia

In 2010, the Cambodian Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport, with support from UNESCO, UNAIDS, UNFPA, UNICEF and WHO as well as NGOs working on HIV and AIDS, conducted a Most-at-Risk Young People Survey to assess risk behaviours, perceptions and preferences concerning sexual and reproductive health programmes, and made programme recommendations. The survey was conducted in eight provinces and included qualitative and quantitative methods. Many respondents cited family problems, peer pressure, exposure to alcohol, drugs and pornography at a young age, and the lack of employment opportunities as factors leading them to engage in high-risk behaviours. Many questioned the value of education and cited social acceptance and popularity with peers as more important.

Recommendations informed the 2011 National Policy on Cambodia Youth Development, with interventions including

- review of school and teacher training curricula in order to include up-to-date information on highrisk behaviours and risk reduction skills
- engagement of youth peer educators
- facilitating access to alternative education opportunities
- creation of more protective school environments that support safer behaviours
- ensuring access to psychological counselling services for in-school and out-of-school young people.

Source: UNESCO. 2011. EDUCAIDS Country Snapshot: Cambodia. Producing Evidence-Based Information for Better Planning for Most-at-Risk Young People. Paris, UNESCO.

Other school-based surveys, such as the Global School Health Survey (GSHS), provide critical information on drug and sexual risk behaviours and protective factors among students.³⁸⁸ This evidence is an important foundation for ministries of education in developing programmes, including for learners at higher risk of HIV exposure. However, in many settings it has been difficult to translate evidence into effective school-based programmes that address issues such as sexual diversity and the behaviours that drive HIV infection among young people from key populations, including unprotected anal sex between men, unsafe injecting drug use and unsafe sexual intercourse during sex work.

In order to reach the highest possible number of young people engaging in behaviour which places them at risk of HIV exposure, it is vital that sexuality education incorporates the topic of sexual diversity. In Latin America and the Caribbean, for example, not addressing sexual diversity in the HIV response would do a serious disservice to young people affected by and vulnerable to HIV, since the HIV rates among men who have sex with men, including young men who have sex with men, are extremely high.³⁸⁹ Sexual diversity is a topic currently underrepresented in school curriculum. In a recent study in Australia, many young people consulted agreed that only 'straight sex' was discussed in classroom settings.³⁹⁰ The ESA curriculum review mentioned

earlier, covering ten countries, found that almost none of the curricula addressed sexual diversity in an appropriate way.³⁹¹ In China, where one third of new infections are among men who have sex with men, and HIV prevalence in this population is estimated to be as high as 17 per cent in some cities,³⁹² learning materials had mainly focused on transmission of HIV through heterosexual sex. Although this is now changing, HIV prevention information still does not 'adequately address issues such as anal sex'.³⁹³ In addition, few countries are addressing the issue of homophobic and transphobic bullying, either in the context of sexuality education or more broadly, although there is increasing recognition of its negative impact on young people's health and academic attainment. It is important to note that these issues need to be addressed in all epidemiological settings, not just in countries with concentrated epidemics, but this is not consistently the case.

Similarly, there is a critical need for education to address substance use and its link to HIV vulnerability among young people. Globally many people who use drugs are young people between the ages of 10 and 24; in some countries the majority of drug users are in this age group.³⁹⁴ The need is especially urgent in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, where national epidemics are largely driven by drug-related transmission and by further transmission to the sexual partners of people who use drugs.^{395,396} The average age of initiating drug injection in the region is low, and consequently HIV prevalence has more than doubled among young people aged 15–24 during the past decade.³⁹⁷ In Albania, Serbia and Moldova, for example, between 35 per cent and 68 per cent of young people who inject drugs started when they were under 18 and between 5 per cent and 30 per cent before the age of 15.³⁹⁸

However, many drugs education campaigns have been found to be ineffective because they are unrealistic, abstinence-focused, do not acknowledge the deep and often complex social and psychological causes of drug use, and often target those who need it least.^{399,400,401,402,403} For example, a study examining the initiation of injecting drug use among vulnerable adolescents and young people in the Ukraine found that 'information and educational campaigns aiming to prevent drug use are generally directed at a broad youth audience, not to those young people most at risk of drug use initiation nor those experimenting with substance use. General educational programmes influence confirmation of anti-drug attitudes among convinced abstainers, but are not effective in preventing the initiation of drug use, and of injecting drugs in particular, neither do they delay nor prevent experimentation with drugs'.⁴⁰⁴ The study called for 'an increase in the effectiveness of school programmes and harm reduction projects'.⁴⁰⁵ The education sector can play a critical role in all epidemiological settings, and in particular in those with concentrated epidemics, in preventing and tackling stigma and discrimination experienced by young people from key populations. However, this may require addressing the attitudes and beliefs of teachers and other education sector staff, many of whom may hold and consciously or unconsciously convey negative views about key populations. For example, in a survey in Europe among young lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender youth, 14 per cent of those who had negative experiences in school mentioned teachers as the source or part of the problem.^{406,407}

For young people living with HIV, stigma and discrimination and other barriers to accessing, remaining in and achieving in school are key issues. While there has been greater focus on addressing their needs in generalized epidemics, there are ongoing challenges in low and concentrated epidemics. At a global consultation in 2010 hosted by UNESCO and the Global Network of People living with HIV, one young person commented, 'If there is a very low HIV prevalence, HIV gets given very low priority. Young people living with HIV are almost invisible and our needs are given low priority'.⁴⁰⁸ Moreover, in concentrated epidemics where HIV disproportionately affects people who sell sex, people who inject drugs, men who have sex with men and transgender people, assumptions are often made about the behaviour or sexuality of young people living with HIV, leading to further judgment and blame.⁴⁰⁹

There is also an important role for non-formal education in regions and countries with concentrated epidemics. In such contexts, many of the young people who are at elevated risk of HIV are often less likely to be in school or only attend school erratically. It is therefore critical that they are reached by non-formal education programmes and other initiatives targeting out-of-school youth.

System weaknesses and underfunding

Case studies conducted in preparation for the GPS highlighted four main systemic challenges that affect the education sector and have implications for a comprehensive education sector response to HIV. In most of the countries surveyed, these challenges have yet to be successfully addressed.⁴¹⁰

Firstly, the success of the sector's response is highly dependent on effective governance and the functionality of the education system itself. If the capacity and efficiency of the system is compromised in any way, this will limit the potential of the HIV management unit or focal points to coordinate and direct the response. If the budget is under pressure and subject to competitive stresses, the flow of funds to the HIV response will be affected. Funding for the education sector response is further discussed below.

The second challenge is the variability of EMIS operations. The authors of the GPS noted that if an education system does not have reliable and up-to-date management information, it cannot monitor or analyse performance and efficiency, particularly in respect of supply and demand, outputs and quality. Without such data, monitoring, evaluation and reporting on the sector response will be difficult. Data and monitoring and evaluation challenges are discussed in more detail below.

The third challenge in some countries is the high and increasing number of private schools, which are often run by churches or other faith-based organizations. These may not always implement national policies and curricula concerning life skills, HIV and sexuality education.

The final challenge is the future impact of the recent significant growth in primary school enrolment as a result of the push for universal primary education. In many countries, little planning or preparation is taking place to deal with the impact of increased primary school enrolment on secondary education in the coming years. The expansion in student numbers has resulted in higher teacher-pupil ratios, a risk of declining educational quality and pressure on existing infrastructure. Resources available for the sector to respond to HIV and, specifically for HIV and sexuality education, may be reduced as budgets are increasingly allocated to increasing teacher recruitment and training, expanding infrastructure, and production of teaching and learning materials.

Inadequate resource allocation

Inadequate resource allocation is the underlying reason for many of the challenges discussed above. According to a UNAIDS costing of resource needs in low- and middle-income countries in 2005, an estimated US\$313 million was required to scale up HIV education in schools to cover 10 per cent, 20 per cent and 50 per cent of students in low, concentrated and high prevalence countries respectively during the period 2006–2008.⁴¹¹ Another study⁴¹² estimated the annual costs in international dollars⁴¹³ of achieving 90 per cent coverage of school-based HIV education in two regions at 77 million for sub-Saharan Africa and 176 million for Southeast Asia.

Although HIV resources have been used to support the education sector response, analysis of the allocations of the main international donors suggests that funding provided has not been commensurate with estimated requirements or evidence-based interventions. For example, the US President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR), a major donor for HIV programmes, allocated significant resources for HIV prevention. One third of these prevention resources were earmarked for 'abstinence' programmes, although there is no evidence that these programmes reduced HIV risk.⁴¹⁴

At a UNAIDS IATT on Education symposium in 2008 on the sector's engagement with HIV and with the aid architecture, the Global Fund, another major donor, acknowledged that the education sector had not been a major recipient of grants. Only ten countries had received education sector support for HIV from the Global Fund. A review⁴¹⁵ conducted by the UNAIDS IATT on Education showed that 'youth education' was a component in only two regions – East and Asia-Pacific, and Europe and Central Asia – in Round 5 and in one region – South Asia – in Round 6. This represented, respectively, only 1 per cent and 0.29 per cent of the total Global Fund budget for HIV prevention activities. No funds in recent rounds have gone to the education sector, for example, in Belarus and Namibia, the results have been impressive (see Box 13).

Box 13: Impact of Global Fund support to the education sector

In Belarus, Global Fund support of US\$250,000 a year has been provided since 2004 for educational activities. To date, 2000 peer educators have been trained, 13 resource centres have been established and almost one million school children and students – 90 per cent of the total – have been reached with prevention programmes through peer educators or other channels. HIV prevalence among young people dropped by 54 per cent (from 28/100,000 in 2002 to 15/100,000 in 2007); condom use with casual partners rose from 17 per cent in 1999 to 75 per cent in 2007; and the proportion expressing acceptance of persons living with HIV rose from 56 per cent in 2005 to 65 per cent in 2007.

In Namibia, the Ministry of Education received N\$19 million from Global Fund Round 2 to support HIV prevention, school feeding and counselling programmes for orphans and vulnerable children. With these funds, the Ministry conducted extensive training in counselling, established school-based support groups, integrated HIV into the curriculum for comprehensive sexuality education, mainstreamed HIV into other subjects, established a workplace programme and a network of HIV-positive teachers, and established school feeding programmes covering 20 per cent of all children in need.

Source: UNAIDS IATT on Education. 2009. Education Sector Engagement with the AIDS and Aid Funding Architecture at the Country Level. Symposium Report, 17 November 2008. Geneva, UNESCO. (http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001802/180203e.pdf)

In a separate review of HIV funding in low- and middle-income countries in 2008, analysis of data from a subset of 53 countries found that 60 per cent of prevention resources were spent in 5 areas: communication for social and behavioural change (16 per cent), voluntary counselling and testing (14 per cent), prevention of mother-to-child transmission (13 per cent), blood safety (10 per cent) and condom programmes (7 per cent). Only 7 per cent of prevention funding was spent on most-at-risk populations.⁴¹⁶

In the 22 countries with generalized epidemics that provided a detailed breakdown of expenditure on HIV prevention, communication for social behavioural change received the largest share of prevention spending. Mass media campaigns, community mobilization and workplace prevention programmes together accounted for 27 per cent of prevention spending, while voluntary counselling and testing received 17 per cent, 20 per cent was invested in prevention of mother-to-child transmission and 5 per cent in ensuring a safe blood supply. In contrast, HIV prevention for in-school and out-of-school youth only accounted for 3 per cent and 1 per cent of spending respectively. These figures vary slightly depending on the epidemic context. For example, prevention for youth in school received 5 per cent of prevention funding in countries with low-level epidemics, 4 per cent in countries with generalized epidemics and 2 per cent in countries with concentrated epidemics.⁴¹⁷ More recent data⁴¹⁸ show that treatment programmes account for the largest share of HIV funding in most countries. For example, in South Africa more than 50 per cent of the available HIV resources are spent on treatment.

To address this, UNESCO commissioned a study in 2010 to measure the costs and cost-effectiveness of school-based HIV and sexuality education and to determine the cost of scaling up such programmes in a range of countries – Estonia, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Nigeria and The Netherlands.⁴¹⁹ The findings showed that the costs and coverage of sexuality education programmes vary considerably, but overall concluded that school-based HIV and sexuality education is potentially cost-effective for developing the skills of learners and teachers and contributing to health outcomes.

The total costs of the programmes studied ranged from US\$1.19 million in Indonesia to US\$12.2 million in The Netherlands.⁴²⁰ The cumulative total of students reached ranged from 6240 in Indonesia to 990,000 in India. Annual figures for costs and numbers reached are more instructive, given the varying coverage and timeframes of the programmes. These show that, for example, 240,000 students were reached in Nigeria every year at a cost of US\$562,000, whereas 28,000 students were reached in Estonia at a cost of US\$311,000. Annual costs per student in 2009 were US\$7 in Nigeria, US\$13.50 in India, US\$33 in Estonia and The Netherlands, US\$50 in Kenya and US\$160 in Indonesia. The higher cost per learner in Kenya and Indonesia reflected the fact that these were pilot programmes with limited coverage and high operations costs. Considerable reductions in cost per learner reached could be achieved by expanding coverage. For example, if the programmes in Kenya and Indonesia were scaled up, the cost per student could be reduced from US\$50 to US\$16 and from US\$160 to US\$13 respectively. In addition, the most efficient approach would first expand uptake in schools that already have the programme – for example by making the curriculum mandatory – before introducing it to new schools or districts.

Education within the UNAIDS Investment Framework

In June 2011, *The Lancet* published an article proposing 'a strategic investment framework that is intended to support better management of national and international HIV/AIDS responses than exists with the present system'.⁴²¹ The authors argued that, to date, expenditure allocations in the HIV response had been made 'irrespective of their relative effects' and proposed a new approach to investment. This approach would be based on three categories of investment: basic programme activities, critical enablers and synergies with development sectors. The Framework differs from earlier UNAIDS guidance on combination prevention, since it groups interventions into categories based on their contribution. Basic programme activities are those directly affecting transmission, morbidity and mortality. Critical enablers are social and programme areas that complement basic programme activities. Development synergies recognize the link between HIV and other areas of social and economic development. The approach acknowledges that basic programme activities have direct proximal outcomes, critical enablers have a more distal and context-specific effect, and development synergies are the systems necessary for an effective response.

Together, these categories are designed to guide international and national investment by prioritizing effective efforts and to locate elements of the response in the wider HIV and development context, in order to establish clear relationships and priorities. In the same *Lancet* article, the authors conducted a modelling exercise based on the framework.⁴²² This estimated a dramatic increase in expenditure on basic programme activities, from US\$7 billion in 2011 to US\$12.9 billion in 2015, with 38 per cent of this increase spent on treatment, resulting in expected coverage of 18.3 million people. Expenditure on critical enablers would decrease from US\$5.9 billion to US\$3.4 billion and expenditure on development synergies would increase from US\$3.6 billion to US\$5.8 billion in the same timeframe.

UNAIDS further developed this approach in *Investing for Results. Results for People. A People-Centred Investment Tool Towards Ending AIDS*, which is intended to inform investment by UNAIDS cosponsors and partners.⁴²³ This document states that an Investment Framework offers a realistic, achievable road map to decisively accelerate progress in the global HIV response. One of its major strengths is that it is based on the best available evidence on what works in HIV prevention, treatment, care and support. Moreover, the framework allows adaptation as new evidence emerges, especially if new technologies or approaches show that they directly affect HIV incidence, morbidity and mortality and can be consistently scaled up.

Source: UNDP, 2012. HIV/AIDS: Understanding and Acting on Critical Enablers and Development Synergies for Strategic Investments. New York, UNDP.

What does the Investment Framework mean for education broadly, and HIV education specifically? The Investment Framework refers to the role of the education sector in the HIV response in all three areas. Education is mainly mentioned in the Framework as a development synergy, which speaks only to educational attainment as a protective factor. As a basic programme activity, education refers to interventions and programmes designed to reach specific key populations, but these are in the main not education sector activities and are conducted mostly by civil society actors and public health workers in non-formal contexts. Quality HIV education, which if connected to skills-based health education becomes a critical enabler, is the third mention of education. This distinction has been elaborated since the original Lancet article in UNAIDS cosponsor documents (see for example, Understanding and Acting on Critical Enablers and Development Synergies for Strategic Investments, UNDP et al. 2012), demonstrating that education is central to the response in distinct ways that need to be recognized in terms of expectation, accountability and funding source. In this document education is recognized as both a critical enabler, in that HIV education builds knowledge and skills that support basic programme activities, and a development synergy, whereby a general education attainment results in many positive human development outcomes, including an important protective factor in HIV prevention, particularly for girls.

The Framework articulates the role of the education sector in achieving the MDGs and as part of a comprehensive HIV response. As noted earlier, the Executive Director of UNAIDS stated at the launch of the Global Education First Initiative on 27 September 2012, 'Ending AIDS is possible – and education is the key to success'. More specifically, it reflects recent research showing that education is an important protective factor in HIV and that educational attainment can reduce the risk of HIV infection.^{424,425,426} This includes a study of 115 countries that found that 'secondary school enrolment has the largest effect on the AIDS death rate. In fact, it is the only structural variable that remains significant across all models. This implies that education has consequences for the impact of AIDS, as higher school enrolments translate into fewer AIDS deaths at the country level'.⁴²⁷

Education, specifically comprehensive sexuality and HIV education, is also defined in the UNDP supplementary guidance document, referenced above, as a critical enabler. The Framework defines critical enablers as 'activities that are necessary to support the effectiveness and efficiency of basic programme activities'. As discussed earlier, through HIV and comprehensive sexuality education learners develop life skills for healthy decision-making. Education at the right time can ensure that children and young people develop the knowledge and skills they need to protect their health before they become sexually active and are at risk of HIV infection. The skills for healthy living – health literacy, critical thinking and personal efficacy among others – can contribute to health at every stage of life. These skills are also critical to eliminating stigma and promoting human rights and positive social norms.

The UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) acknowledged the role of HIV and comprehensive sexuality education at its 27th meeting, stating that it welcomed 'UNAIDS efforts to strengthen the incorporation of comprehensive sexuality education policies and programmes into its strategy. These programmes should be implemented in coordination between the education and health authorities and the medical, social and recreational services and include both in and out of school populations including young people in conditions of vulnerability'.⁴²⁸

The intention of the approach outlined in the Investment Framework, which is to ensure effective resource allocation in an area where financial support is declining but the need is not, is laudable. However, there are a number of concerns about the Framework and its application. One of the main shortcomings is that while evidence of effectiveness and cost-effectiveness is strong for basic programme activities, it is limited for critical enablers and development synergies.

The proposed increase in funding for basic programme activities and decrease in funding for critical enablers, supported by statements about 'rational' and 'smart' investments, promotes the biomedical aspects of the response at the expense of aspects that are more difficult to measure. In response to concerns about this, UNAIDS developed Understanding and Acting on Critical Enablers and Development Synergies for Strategic Investments to provide guidance to support multisectoral and comprehensive country responses. It states that the Investment Framework is designed to provide guidance rather than to be prescriptive, and makes the case for a comprehensive approach, noting that enablers and synergies are integral to national AIDS responses, not optional. They support and increase the effectiveness, efficiency and reach of basic programme activities to ensure more equitable outcomes while acting directly to reduce (or by their absence exacerbate) susceptibility to HIV. They promote an integrated analysis of HIV and suggest multisectoral perspectives, even if national responses emphasize specific sectors. Some protect and promote human rights, and some support achieving other health and development goals, including the Millennium Development Goals. Universal access cannot be achieved without addressing enablers and synergies.429

However, critical enablers are complex, difficult to measure and may not show an immediate return on investment. A significant risk of the Investment Framework is that critical enablers such as skills-based HIV education that, as discussed above, have historically been under-funded, will not be adequately resourced in future.

Monitoring the education sector response to HIV

At the international level, the education sector response to HIV has been measured through reporting on indicators recommended by UNAIDS and through IATT surveys.

Current approaches to M&E

Until 2011, international indicators used to measure the HIV response were based on commitments made during the United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV and AIDS (UNGASS) in 2001. There were 25 UNGASS indicators in 2011, of which 6 could provide some data on the role of the education sector in the response. Four of these six indicators focused on outcomes:

- Indicator #12 measured school attendance among orphans and nonorphans aged 10–14. This indicator could provide data about the efficacy of some school-based interventions to mitigate the impact of HIV on affected learners so that they are still able to go to school.
- Indicator #13 measured the levels of knowledge about HIV prevention amongst young people, in terms of percentages of young women and men aged 15-24 who correctly identify ways of preventing the sexual transmission of HIV and who reject major misconceptions about HIV transmission. HIV knowledge is fundamental to behavioural change and the uptake of HIV services.
- Indicator #15 measured the percentage of young people aged 15–24 who had sexual intercourse before the age of 15. This indicator could provide data on the age of sexual debut and on the potential contribution of education to delaying this.
- Indicator #17 measured the percentage of women and men aged 15-49 who had more than one partner in the past twelve months who used a condom during their last sexual intercourse. Disaggregated by age groups 15-19 and 20-24, this indicator could show whether young people tended to use condoms more often as a result of better knowledge about the role of condoms, the importance of using them and skills on how to use them provided by the education sector.

Two additional indicators focused on processes that should be in place in order to achieve the desirable outcomes:

- The National Composite Policy Index, now the National Commitments and Policy Instrument (NCPI), known as UNGASS #2, assessed progress in the development and implementation of national HIV policies, strategies and laws from the perspective of national governments and civil society organizations. This could provide some data about whether the education sector response is guided and enabled by policies, strategies and resources in the context of a national HIV response.
- Indicator #11 provided data on the percentage of schools that provided life skills-based HIV education within the last academic year.

In 2011 the UNAIDS Monitoring and Evaluation Reference Group (MERG) reviewed the UNGASS indicators and decided to remove three from the list of internationally recommended indicators for reporting, including UNGASS #11. This left five international indicators that could be used to some degree to measure the role of the education sector in the response to HIV. Following the 2011 High Level Meeting on AIDS, and building on a decade of UNGASS reporting, UNAIDS is now requesting UN Member States to continue to report on national progress through a new process called Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting (GARPR). Guidelines for reporting in 2012 on the core indicators for monitoring the 2011 Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS were released by UNAIDS in October 2011.

Also at the international level, as discussed in Chapter 1, the UNAIDS IATT on Education has commissioned two surveys – the 2004 Global Readiness Survey (GRS)⁴³⁰ and the 2011–2012 Global Progress Survey (GPS)⁴³¹ – to measure the education sector response to HIV. Both surveys focused on process aspects of the education sector response rather than outcomes and impacts. (It is also important to note that these surveys are relatively limited in scope, mainly reflecting self-reported data from national education ministries and civil society.)

At national level, in addition to data collected to report on the international UNGASS and GARPR indicators, countries collect data on the education sector response through M&E systems including the education ministry Education Management Information System (EMIS).

In 2010 UNESCO and UNICEF commissioned a rapid assessment⁴³² of M&E systems, including education and HIV indicators, in Angola, Botswana,

Lesotho, Namibia, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe. The assessment found that eight of the nine countries used education and HIV indicators that were additional to the UNGASS indicators, and that the number of additional indicators ranged from 2 in Mozambique to 56 in Botswana. For example, indicators included in the Zimbabwean EMIS in 2010 were:

- number of pupils exposed to lessons about HIV
- numbers of peer educators who were active
- number of pupils in School AIDS Action Clubs
- number of pupils receiving education assistance
- number of school teachers trained in life skills-based HIV education
- number of students visiting resource centres for HIV services (in tertiary institutions)
- number of condoms distributed (in tertiary institutions)
- number of student STI cases recorded (in tertiary institutions)
- number of students tested for HIV (by age and sex) (in tertiary institutions)

Gaps and challenges in approaches to measurement and M&E of the role of the education sector and of HIV education currently exist. These relate mainly to the definition and use of the international indicators recommended by UNAIDS for global reporting. The way in which these indicators are defined affects how data are collected at country level and limits the extent to which the data provide a comprehensive assessment of the role of the sector and hence the utility of the data for education ministries and other stakeholders.

The revised NCPI (GARPR indicator #7.1) includes some questions related to the education sector. However, these are included in a long list together with other questions, which makes it difficult to conduct analysis of the education sector-specific response.

Unlike data collection through Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS), which disaggregates data by level of education (no, primary, secondary and higher education) countries are not requested to provide or analyse data on knowledge of the essential facts about HIV transmission (GARP indicator #1.1) by level of education. This is a missed opportunity to assess whether formal education improves HIV knowledge or not.

The same applies to indicators that measure sexual debut of young people and use of condoms (respectively GARP indicator #1.2 and GARP indicator #1.4). As a result, it is not possible to analyse the sexual behaviours of young

94

people who have access to education versus those who have had no or limited access to education, and hence the potential role of formal education at different levels, in affecting those behaviours. Education sector policymakers at country level could take the initiative and compile the available disaggregated DHS data on levels of education. However, this is unlikely to happen without the incentive represented by the global reporting process.

The lack of robust international indicators means that there is a lack of strong evidence on the role of the education sector in HIV response and on the role of education in prevention. Without this evidence, the role of education, and its impact on knowledge, is open to question.

There are also gaps and challenges at country level, reflecting those at global level. In some countries, national M&E systems do not include indicators related to HIV and education that could provide data to address the gaps in international indicators. As noted in Chapter 1, the 2011–2012 GPS found that only 45 per cent of countries with an EMIS had reviewed or amended their EMIS to include HIV and AIDS-sensitive indicators. And in many countries, changes in learners' knowledge, skills and behaviour are not routinely monitored and evaluated. Existing indicators and data collection methods do not allow for objective assessment of the coverage and effectiveness of HIV education.

In other countries indicators are either too numerous or too complex to be of use to the education sector. Even where indicators are appropriate, many countries lack the resources and capacity to collect, analyse and use data, including generating evidence about the specific contribution of the education sector to the national response. For example, in the rapid assessment of systems for monitoring and evaluation of education and HIV in ESA⁴³³ mentioned earlier, only 50 per cent of education ministries indicated that their planning, budgeting, management and reporting are characterized by a results-based management approach; only 60 per cent reported that they routinely made use of data collected through their M&E systems. Many of these weaknesses result from limited awareness among education sector policy-makers and managers of the importance of monitoring and evaluating the role of the education sector in the response to the HIV epidemic.

Recent steps have been taken to improve the M&E of the education sector response at international and country level. In 2008, partners involved in the Focusing Resources on Effective School Health (FRESH) initiative started to work on developing a generic M&E framework for school health and nutrition programmes. As part of this, the IATT on Education focused on

identifying a limited number of global indicators, as there was a consensus that this was a major area of need.

Following a review of existing indicators and international consultations, the IATT identified seven process and outcome indicators, which were disseminated in 2010 for consideration and field-testing by country stakeholders. UNESCO organized a series of regional consultations in the Caribbean and sub-Saharan Africa in collaboration with other UN agencies, which led to recommendations for nine additional indicators, including eight for countries with generalized HIV epidemics.

At the end of 2010, the IATT endorsed a revised list of core indicators and agreed that the eleven new indicators for which data would be collected through the education sector – that is, through the EMIS or school-based surveys – should be tested to check whether they met international indicator standards. In addition, the IATT agreed to field-test a school-based version of the international indicator on HIV knowledge among young people (GARPR indicator #1.1, former UNGASS indicator #13). Field-testing of indicators took place in four countries in East and Southern Africa – Namibia, South Africa, Tanzania and Zambia – and in Jamaica in 2011 and 2012.

Following this, eleven of the twelve field-tested indicators were determined to meet international indicator standards. These eleven indicators, together with four additional GARPR indicators, were endorsed by the IATT in February 2013 as the recommended core indicators to be used to measure the education sector response to HIV worldwide. Guidelines for the construction of these indicators were developed by UNESCO⁴³⁴ as part of a global monitoring and evaluation framework for comprehensive education sector responses to HIV and AIDS. The guidelines are intended for education ministries and other education sector stakeholders. They provide information on how to collect and analyse data for each indicator, including information on how to make the analysis of the data collected through the four GARPR indicators relevant to the education sector. UNESCO and other UN agencies are supporting the use of these indicators by countries in different regions, in particular their integration within routine M&E conducted by ministries of education through their EMIS.

The 15 international indicators recommended by the UNAIDS IATT on Education to measure the education sector response

- 1. National Commitments and Policy Instrument (GARPR)
- Percentage of educational institutions with rules and guidelines for staff and students related to physical safety, stigma and discrimination, and sexual harassment and abuse that have been communicated to relevant stakeholders
- 3. Percentage of schools that provided life skills-based HIV and sexuality education within the previous academic year
- 4. Percentage of schools that provided an orientation process for parents or guardians of students regarding life skills-based HIV and sexuality education programmes in schools in the previous academic year
- Percentage of schools with teachers who received training, and taught lessons, in life skills-based HIV and sexuality education in the previous academic year
- 6. Percentage of students aged 10–24 who demonstrate desired knowledge levels and reject major misconceptions about HIV and AIDS
- 7. Percentage of young people aged 15–24 who have had sexual intercourse before the age of 15 (GARPR)
- 8. Percentage of women and men aged 15–49 who had more than one partner in the past twelve months who used a condom during their last sexual intercourse (GARPR)

Indicators specific to countries with a generalized HIV epidemic

- 9. Percentage of orphaned and vulnerable children aged 5–17 who receive bursary support, including fee exemptions, through schools
- 10. Percentage of orphaned and vulnerable children aged 5–17 who receive emotional/psychological support through schools
- 11. Percentage of orphaned and vulnerable children aged 5–17 who receive social support, excluding bursary support, through schools
- 12. Percentage of educational institutions that implement an HIV workplace programme
- 13. Current school attendance among orphans and non-orphans aged 5–17 (GARPR)
- 14. Percentage of students who permanently left school due to illness or death in the previous academic year
- 15. Teacher attrition rate in the previous academic year

Measurement challenges

Donors and policy-makers want to spend limited resources on programmes that can demonstrate measurable results. This has resulted in an emphasis on measuring whether or not education delivers improved biological or behavioural outcomes,⁴³⁵ using the same approach as that used to measure the effectiveness of biomedical interventions.⁴³⁶ As discussed above, the misunderstanding outside the sector about the role of education and, more specifically, unrealistic expectations about the impact of HIV education on behaviour and HIV outcomes, is a particular challenge.

Measuring how knowledge translates into behaviour change and, in particular, attribution of change to formal education versus other interventions is impossible. The aim of education is to develop the knowledge, attitudes and skills to make behaviour change possible, but it should not be measured or expected to achieve behavioural outcomes. It is difficult to compare curricula without considering implementation by different teachers and in different classes⁴³⁷ and to isolate the effect of a curriculum from other factors that influence young people's behaviour.⁴³⁸

Other reviews have also highlighted issues concerning the quality of available evidence. For example, an in-depth analysis of evidence available on the impact of education on HIV responses, commissioned by the IATT and conducted by the Overseas Development Institute in 2009, identified a range of weaknesses. These were mainly associated with the overall difficulties in measuring changes in human behaviour over time and attribution of such changes to education programmes. The review also noted that in resourcelimited settings, policy and programme priorities tend to be those that deliver quick tangible results, which cannot be expected from education.

At the same time, there is growing interest in measuring non-HIV outcomes of HIV and sexuality education. More attention is being paid to measuring changes in gender norms and power relations, and in particular to the reduction of gender-based violence,⁴³⁹ and the extent to which these are linked with health outcomes. For example, a recent review of 31 curricula found that the most effective were those that included gender and power issues: 78 per cent of these curricula met their health goals. In addition, they showed promise in improving overall education outcomes, by demonstrating the interconnectedness of education, gender and health.⁴⁴⁰ And a recent empirical study showed that education programmes targeting structural factors such as gender and sexual coercion, alcohol and substance use, and economic factors led to a reduction in STI incidence.⁴⁴¹ It is also important to recognize that education can only do so much. As discussed in Chapter 1, while knowledge and skills are a vital prerequisite, they are not the only factors that determine behaviour. Individual behaviour is influenced by a wide range of factors including social attitudes, values and beliefs as well as poverty and gender. As articulated earlier in the book, many of the theories informing HIV education are derived from behaviour change models that assume that the right knowledge and attitudes will result in so-called rational behaviour, although some of these theories do acknowledge the influence of social norms and the complexity of behaviour change.

Knowledge, skills and intentions to make healthy choices are only part of the picture of reducing the risk of HIV infection.⁴⁴² Young people live in situations where many factors influencing their behaviour are beyond their control. The review of life skills programmes mentioned earlier concluded that 'Life-skills education provides no quick fix in HIV prevention among

"...although some individually oriented interventions have shown results in reducing risk behaviour their success is substantially improved when HIV prevention addresses the broader structural factors that shape or constrain individual behaviour, such as poverty and wealth, gender, age, policy, and power."

Source: Gupta et al. 2008. Structural approaches to HIV prevention. The Lancet, Vol. 372, No. 9640, pp. 764–75.

young people in developing countries' because of the barriers that young people face.⁴⁴³ It is no quick fix because it focuses on an individual's skills and does not seek to change the structures that affect the ability to apply those skills.⁴⁴⁴ To further complicate matters, doubt has been cast on models of HIV prevention that only consider sex as a behaviour. Research in ESA countries, for example, describes sex as relational, based on networks and networking and rooted in property, mobility and society.⁴⁴⁵

There is considerable evidence showing that structural factors shape health outcomes, including for adolescents.⁴⁴⁶ For example, teenage pregnancies should be understood within the broader socio-economic and socio-cultural environment in which adolescents operate. These include their own aspirations about parenthood as a marker of social status, or a lack of parental guidance on issues of sexuality compounded by cultural taboos that inhibit such discussions.⁴⁴⁷ In South Africa, for example, research suggests that when stigma about adolescent sexuality abounds, few opportunities exist for open communication about sex with parents and partners, and access to judgement-free health services is constrained.⁴⁴⁸

WHO has commented that 'programmes must work to create an enabling environment . . . paying particular attention . . . to gender and human rights'.⁴⁴⁹ Structural interventions^{450,451,452,453} are needed to address the social, legal, political and environmental factors that contribute to the spread of HIV. These can include legal and policy reform to improve access to information and services for young people, addressing social norms around gender, sexuality and adolescence, and the rights of young people, and promoting economic empowerment.

Recent work on conditional cash transfers and health outcomes highlights the role of structural risk factors and the impact of efforts to address them.^{454,455,456,457} The analysis concluded that conditional cash transfers can help to address key structural drivers of HIV, such as economic and gender inequalities, as well as low educational attainment; can help to increase uptake of critical prevention services, such as voluntary counselling and testing, with implied impacts on HIV risk; and show some promise in reducing STI, although an impact on HIV has not yet been demonstrated. This highlights the need for an approach that responds both to the individual and to the context that influences the way in which young people are able to exercise their rights to education and sexual and reproductive health.

Summary

This chapter has explored the debates and challenges in the education sector HIV response. It has acknowledged that despite significant investments there are persistent low levels of HIV knowledge among young people. It has demonstrated differing views on curriculum and corresponding pedagogy, along with systemic challenges, such as large class sizes, that have made implementation of HIV education difficult and coverage quite limited. It has also underscored the need for HIV education to extend to post-secondary learners and, critically, to the out-of-school youth and key populations who are at high risk for HIV infection. It has also explained that the combination of a focused bio-medical approach to HIV and a lack of effective monitoring in the education sector puts the future of HIV education itself at risk. However, there is hope. The next chapter will continue to analyse challenges, but will also identify opportunities in an effort to chart a course for the education sector by building on lessons learnt.

Chapter 3

Developments and opportunities

Global commitments and targets

The education sector response to HIV, and the nature of HIV education, will need to adapt to new agendas and demands. This chapter discusses some of the key developments anticipated and the opportunities and challenges they present for the education sector response and for HIV education.

The Global Education First Initiative (GEFI), seeks to re-energize the global community to achieve the 2015 EFA and education-related MDG targets (see Box 15), and to lay the foundations for a bold post–2015 vision for education that prepares children and young people for life.

Box 15: International education goals (EFA and MDG)

EFA Goal 1:	Expand and improve comprehensive early childhood care and education, especially for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged children.
EFA Goal 2:	Ensure all children, particularly girls, those in difficult circumstances and those belonging to ethnic minorities, have access to and complete free and compulsory primary education.
EFA Goal 3:	Ensure that the learning needs of all young people and adults are met through equitable access to appropriate learning and life-skills programmes.
EFA Goal 4:	Achieve a 50 per cent improvement in adult literacy, especially among women. Secure equitable access to basic and continuing education for all adults.
EFA Goal 5:	Eliminate gender disparities in primary and secondary education by 2005, and achieve gender equality in education by 2015, with a focus on ensuring girls' full and equal access to basic education of good quality.
EFA Goal 6:	Improve the quality of education so that measurable learning outcomes are achieved by all, especially in literacy, numeracy and essential life skills.
MDG 2:	Achieve universal primary education
	Ensure by 2015 that children everywhere, boys and girls alike, will be able to complete a full course of primary schooling.
MDG 3:	Promote gender equality and empower women
	Eliminate gender disparity in primary and secondary education, preferably by 2005, and in all levels of education no later than 2015.

Specifically, GEFI will rally development partners for a strong push to deliver on the promise of universal access to primary education, support a global movement to put education at the heart of social, political and development agendas, and generate additional and sufficient funding for education through global advocacy. The GEFI makes it clear that good-quality education, including education on HIV, is fundamental to better health outcomes, progress towards gender equality, economic opportunities and sustainable development. Since 2000, MDGs 2 and 3, along with EFA, have provided a global rallying call for greater access to education and contributed to unprecedented progress in education. Primary school enrolment has increased by 6 per cent since 1999, with 52 million more children enrolled in primary school, and there have been significant improvements in gender parity in access to primary education. GEFI recognizes these achievements, but also highlights the fact that 61 million primary school-age children remain out of school and 71 million adolescents receive no post-primary education.

Girls in particular still face barriers to education, including child marriage, early pregnancy, expectations of domestic labour, unsafe travel and lack of school sanitary facilities. Countries often undervalue girls' education: 53 per cent of primary school-age children who are not in school are girls and some 34 million adolescent girls are out of school around the world. In many countries, humanitarian crises and conflict keep children out of school. In others, child labour takes children out of school and into the world of work.

GEFI also recognizes that the emphasis on achieving the MDGs has led to the neglect of important aspects of education, such as quality, early childhood care and education, and post-primary education and training. In particular, the narrow focus on access to education has failed to address learning outcomes. Too often children leave school without basic literacy and numeracy skills, let alone skills for healthy living. Continuing on the same path will not meet the demands of rapidly changing societies and economies.

GEFI aims to overcome the problems that undermine quality education and learning outcomes. These include a shortage of classrooms, poorly trained and motivated teachers, and a lack of books and other materials for learning. The poorest countries need an estimated 4 million new classrooms by 2015; an additional 5.4 million new teachers, 2 million for sub-Saharan Africa alone, are needed to reach the target of universal primary education by 2015.⁴⁵⁸ The shortage of teachers, combined with absenteeism and lack of qualifications, is a significant barrier to learning. Other challenges include hunger and poor nutrition in children, weaknesses in early childhood learning, and inadequate monitoring and assessment of learning outcomes.

A final priority area for GEFI is to foster global citizenship, promoting education that is transformative and cultivates shared values and promotes respect and responsibility across cultures, countries and regions. This will require updated curricula and learning materials, better teacher capacity to support learning that goes beyond traditional subjects and a stronger focus on values. More than anything else, GEFI strongly makes the case that good-quality education unlocks progress across all the MDGs; this has been reinforced by global consultations on development priorities post-2015.

Box 16: Global Education First Initiative's Ten Key Actions

Enrol all children in school: Eliminate cost barriers to attending and completing basic education; eliminate access inequities to primary and secondary education, especially for marginalized children; close the gender gap at all educational levels.

Sustain education in humanitarian crises, especially conflict: Enforce the protection of children, teachers and schools during armed conflict; ensure national education policies are in place to secure the continuity of children's education during humanitarian emergencies; make education a central pillar of every humanitarian response.

Ensure all children are literate and numerate: Ensure all children are fully literate and numerate after four years in school; promote instruction in children's local languages, especially during early grades; track every student's learning outcomes and use the information to improve their achievement.

Train more teachers: Hire two million more teachers by 2015; ensure that all teachers receive basic training and have opportunities for professional development; improve teachers' earnings, working conditions and status in society.

Equip classrooms with books and learning materials: Build four million more classrooms, especially in marginalized areas; ensure that books and supplies are up to date and in good condition; use information and communication technology to expand access and improve the quality of learning.

Prepare students for livelihoods: Expand access to secondary school, halving the number of adolescents out of lower secondary school; ensure education is relevant for local economies and livelihoods; prepare young people with critical thinking and 21st-century skills.

Improve child nutrition: Halve the number of children under five who suffer from stunted growth; provide food and health services through school for poor children; develop systems to identify and help children who need nutrition and social support.

Instil lifelong learning: Increase from 15 to 45 per cent participation in quality early childhood development programmes for marginalized children in low-income countries; provide alternative learning opportunities, including life skills, to all young people who have missed out on formal schooling; halve the number of illiterate adults by 2015, especially women.

Foster global citizenship: Develop the values, knowledge and skills necessary for peace, tolerance and respect for diversity; cultivate a sense of community and active participation in giving back to society; ensure schools are free of all forms of discrimination, including gender inequality, bullying, violence, xenophobia and exploitation.

Close the financing gap: Invest at least 5–6 per cent of national GDP in education; increase global investment in poor countries' school systems by an additional US\$24 billion per year to fill the financing gap for primary and lower secondary education; ensure effective and accountable use of resources aligned with national education plans.

Developments affecting the education sector

Changing demographics

Current and future demographics will have significant implications for the education sector, and for HIV and sexuality education specifically, particularly in regions where children and young people make up a large proportion of the population. The UN expects the main population increases to occur in the least developed countries, particularly those with high fertility rates, of which 39 are in Africa, 9 in Asia, 6 in Oceania and 4 in Latin America.⁴⁵⁹ The number of people living in the least developed countries is projected to rise by over 50 per cent, from 832 million in 2010 to 1.73 billion by 2050.⁴⁶⁰

Currently, 26 per cent of the global population is under the age of 15, but in sub-Saharan Africa the proportion is 41 per cent and in some countries, such as Malawi, it is as high as 49 per cent.⁴⁶¹ In the last 60 years the number of adolescents in the world has increased dramatically, from just below 500 million in 1950 to just over 1.2 billion in 2010. Adolescents – those aged 10-19 – make up 18 per cent of the global population, but 23 per cent of the population in sub-Saharan Africa,⁴⁶² the only region where the number of adolescents is expected to grow significantly.⁴⁶³ In other regions, in particular Asia and Latin America, there is a significant population bulge in those under 20. The Asia-Pacific region alone accounts for 55 per cent of all young people aged 10-24 in the world.⁴⁶⁴

The demographic dividend is defined as economic growth resulting from a change in the age structure of a country's population. If a country's demographic structure shifts, so that more of the population are within the age range of 15–64 than in older or younger age groups, it can benefit from the increased productivity of a large working-age population coupled with lower overall dependency of the remaining population. A number of emerging economies, such as Brazil, India and South Africa, are rapidly shifting towards this demographic profile.^{465,466} Less developed countries where more than 40 per cent of the population is under the age of 15 have the potential to benefit from the demographic dividend, as this large cohort moves into adolescence and adulthood.⁴⁶⁷

However, the benefits of the demographic dividend will only be realized if appropriate plans, policies and services, including comprehensive HIV and sexuality education and sexual and reproductive health services, are put in place to improve health, education and gender equality.⁴⁶⁸ In practice, many of the countries that have experienced significant increases in the number of young people are unable to provide services, especially education, for this population, and are ill-prepared to cope with future demographic changes. The Asia-Pacific region, for example, has been experiencing rapid social and economic growth in recent years, but widening inequities have meant that many young people face obstacles to employment, education, and health care.⁴⁶⁹

Ensuring that this generation is able to make informed choices about their sexual and reproductive health will be central to national economic development. Adequate investment in sexual and reproductive health education and services, including family planning to enable women to determine the number and spacing of their children, is especially critical to realizing the demographic dividend. National investment needs to prioritize secondary education for girls and the reproductive health needs of married and unmarried young people.⁴⁷⁰

With increasing numbers of learners entering formal education, schools will be the most important setting for HIV and sexuality education. However, the population bulge in younger age groups will pose significant challenges, for education in general and for HIV and sexuality education more specifically. Countries will need to increase investment in education to meet growing demand, as larger numbers of children enter formal education and transition to secondary schooling, and to ensure that they receive relevant, good-quality education.

Ensuring that children and young people receive quality HIV and sexuality education is of particular concern, given the difficulties that education systems are experiencing in even delivering good basic education. In 2012, the EFA GMR⁴⁷¹ found that children of primary school age are failing to learn the basics of literacy and numeracy. As many as 250 million children are unable to read or write by the time they reach Grade 4, leaving them without the skills needed for life and work. If this is the case for core subjects, the prospects for non-examinable subjects such as HIV and sexuality education are not promising.

Recognizing that HIV and sexuality education has broader benefits, in terms of skills development, better health and well-being, and improved gender equality as well as for wider learning, is an important first step. As noted earlier, this is acknowledged by the GEFI, which identifies health as one of the core outcomes of good-quality education and reminds us that 'education unleashes potential in the individual and society to solve the problems of today and unleash the potential of tomorrow'.⁴⁷²

Addressing educational disparities

Despite increases in enrolment, the number of primary school-age children who are out of school has changed little since 2008. Of the 61 million who were still out of school in 2010, 47 per cent are never expected to attend school, 27 per cent have attended school but left and 27 per cent are expected to enter school at some point.⁴⁷³ Almost half of the world's out-of-school children live in twelve countries, eight of which are in Africa. In Central Asia, sub-Saharan Africa, the Arab States, and South and West Asia, about half of all out-of-school children of primary school age are expected to never enter school.⁴⁷⁴ Meeting the needs of these children and young people for HIV and sexuality education is a significant challenge, and one that needs to be better addressed by non-formal education programmes and other initiatives.

Gender disparities are different across schooling levels, economic status and regions. While there has been progress in reducing gender disparity, girls still face major obstacles to accessing school, and in many low- and middle-income countries poor girls have a lower chance of starting primary school. The EFA GMR points out that 68 countries have still not achieved gender parity in primary education, and that girls are disadvantaged in 60 of them. However, one of the successes of EFA has been to reduce the incidence of severe gender disparity. Of the 167 countries with data for 1999 and 2010, the number of countries where fewer than 9 girls are in primary school for every 10 boys fell from 33 to 17.⁴⁷⁵

The situation is reversed at secondary level, where in over half of the 97 countries with gender disparity fewer boys than girls are in school. These countries tend to be wealthier and to have higher rates of enrolment, and are mostly found in the Latin American and Caribbean and East Asia and Pacific regions. However, similar gender disparity also occurs in some low-income countries, such as Bangladesh, Myanmar and Rwanda, where boys from poorer families need to engage in paid work. In some countries the ratio is worsening. For example, in Bangladesh in 1999 there were 90 boys for every 100 girls in secondary school, but by 2010 this had fallen to 82. The 43 countries where girls are more disadvantaged at secondary school level are predominantly in the Arab States, South and West Asia, and sub-Saharan Africa.⁴⁷⁶
While increased enrolment has had an adverse effect on quality in some low-income countries, other countries have managed to maintain quality. The third SACMEQ_study shows that four out of five children in Kenya and Zambia made it to Grade 4, but schools in Kenya were twice as effective in ensuring that the children learn basic mathematical skills. Similarly the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) showed that while Algeria and Tunisia both had 98 out of 100 children making it to Grade 4, the percentage achieving basic numeracy skills in Algeria was 50 per cent higher.⁴⁷⁷

The level of quality is also reflected in grade repetition. Globally in 2010, 32.2 million pupils repeated a grade in primary school, a decrease from 34.7 million in 2000. This means that while enrolment increased by 6 per cent, the number of repeaters fell by 7 per cent. However, there are regional differences. In the Arab States, enrolment increased by 18 per cent and the number of repeaters decreased by 14 per cent. Even though enrolment rose in South and West Asia, the figure for repeaters remained stable at 5 per cent. However, sub-Saharan Africa continued to account for the highest share of global repeaters, at 35 per cent, and its absolute number of repeaters increased by 16 per cent during the decade, predominantly due to the rapid increase in enrolment.⁴⁷⁸

The related challenges of poor quality of education and high pupil-teacher ratios also have particular implications for HIV and sexuality education. Where the quality of education is poor and teachers are struggling with large classes, the chances that children and young people will receive effective and comprehensive HIV and sexuality education are likely to be limited.

Free, compulsory primary education is recognized by the UN as a fundamental human right. Formal secondary school is recognized as the most effective way to develop skills for life and for work, and is thus essential for the future development of individuals and countries. However, the focus on universal access to primary education has resulted in a lack of emphasis on secondary schooling. In 2010, primary education was compulsory in almost every country, whereas lower secondary education was compulsory in only three in four countries and upper secondary education compulsory in only one in four countries reporting data.⁴⁷⁹ And while many governments have withdrawn formal fees for basic education, few have removed fees for secondary education.

Keeping adolescents in education beyond primary level is critical to fully realize both the protective effects of education and the benefits of

comprehensive sexuality education. As increasing numbers of children complete primary school and attention focuses more on access to secondary education, the education sector will need to be ready to scale up provision of comprehensive sexuality education to a growing number of young people. However, there are and will continue to be many adolescents who do not attend school and need non-formal comprehensive sexuality education programmes provided in the community. Such programmes will need to be aligned with the content of school-based programmes as well as being tailored to the needs of out-of-school adolescents.

Increasing access to new technologies

Information and Communication Technology (ICT), or new technologies, are increasingly being used in education and health programmes. In education, new technologies can contribute to universal access, equity, the delivery of quality learning and teaching, teachers' professional development, and more efficient education management, governance and administration. Growing access to the internet and telecommunications through a growing range of devices and increasing use of social media also has the potential to contribute to improvements in education, including comprehensive sexuality education.⁴⁸⁰

Until recently, ICT was only available to better-resourced communities, but this is changing as a result of growing access to mobile phones. According to the World Bank, mobile phone access reaches one quarter of the world's population and is increasing each day. The number of mobile users has increased from fewer than 1 billion in 2000 to over 6 billion, nearly 5 billion of whom are in developing countries. More than 30 billion mobile applications or 'apps' – software that extends the capabilities of phones, for instance to become mobile wallets, navigational aids or price comparison tools – were downloaded in 2011. In developing countries, citizens are increasingly using mobile phones to create new livelihoods and enhance their lifestyles, while governments are using them to improve service delivery and citizen feedback mechanisms.⁴⁸¹

ICT in education enables learners to access information on a wide range of topics at their own pace, provides new platforms for collaborative and peer learning, and offers the scope to connect with others to explore issues, ideas and cultures, a first step in developing global citizenship. Technology is also challenging traditional didactic approaches to teaching as it facilitates young people's opportunities for participation, interactivity and creativity and provides teachers with new tools to build and assess skills in real time. Virtual classrooms offer new possibilities and new ways of teaching for educators and new ways of assimilating knowledge and learning for learners, both of which are particularly relevant to sexuality education.

The Republic of Moldova, for example, is using ICT to scale up HIV and sexual and reproductive health education. At the end of 2012, the Ministry of Education launched an internet-based interactive training course for the Life and Health module of Civic Education. This e-course enhances classroom-based instruction of students by giving them more in-depth learning opportunities. Students can subscribe to the course online, study the topics for their grade, take an online test and earn grades. They can access the course from school-based or home-based computers as well as through mobile phones. For those with limited or no access to the internet, the course is available on a CD. NGOs in a number of countries, including Kazakhstan, the Russian Federation and Ukraine, are also creating web-based resources to provide young people with additional sources of information about HIV and sexuality as well as to raise the awareness of parents about the contents and benefits of sexuality education.

Social media has already shown its capacity to link people across the world, and social networking has the potential to promote and reinforce knowledge and to empower teachers and teaching. Outside the formal education setting networking can reach large audiences with messages, for example encouraging healthy behaviours, which could have important benefits in non-formal education and in reaching young people who are marginalized and most at risk of HIV. Discussions can encourage wide participation and answer questions – as long as they are well moderated to ensure the information provided is accurate, since social networking can encourage risky behaviours as well.

There are also challenges associated with new technologies, particularly when the internet and social media are the main source of information about sex for young people. While much of the information available is useful, there is also content that gives young people distorted, unbalanced or degrading messages about sex and sexuality. School-based education can and must play an important role in countering unhelpful information available from children and young people to critically evaluate information available from different sources. Many terms are used to define the different applications of ICT to education, including e-learning (electronic learning) and m-education (mobile education). UNESCO has developed guidelines to ensure that mobile learning is used effectively and responsibly and its benefits are maximized.⁴⁸² The guidelines highlight the potential for mobile learning to:

- expand the reach and equity of education
- facilitate personalized learning
- provide immediate feedback and assessment
- enable anytime-anywhere learning
- ensure the productive use of time spent in the classroom
- build new communities of learners
- · support situated and seamless learning
- bridge formal and informal learning
- minimize educational disruption in conflict and disaster areas
- assist learners with disabilities
- improve communication and administration
- maximize cost-efficiency.

Overall, use of ICT for HIV education can enable learners to access information and improve their knowledge in an easy, user-friendly way and support teachers to provide effective life skills education. It allows access to lessons anywhere, anytime and enables young people to find out about sensitive topics and to get answers to embarrassing questions in private. This is particularly valuable in countries where social norms do not encourage open discussion of sexuality with parents or with teachers. It also has the potential to address many of the challenges in HIV education, including shifting the focus from teaching to learning, a fundamental change needed if skills-based health and sexuality education is to succeed.

However, use of ICT is a relatively new field and there has been relatively little evaluation to date. Consequently, there is little empirical evidence about the best ways to use ICT in HIV education; this is an area that merits further exploration.

Sustaining financing for education and for HIV education

At the same time that the education sector faces unprecedented changes and challenges and HIV education needs both to be scaled up and to adapt to changing needs, financing for the education sector, and for HIV education specifically, faces growing constraints.

The EFA GMR⁴⁸³ estimates that an additional US\$26 billion per year (from all sources) is needed to achieve good-quality basic education for all by 2015. The likely expansion of education goals after 2015 to include completion of universal lower secondary education would create a total funding shortfall of US\$38 billion per year. Although domestic expenditure on education is increasing, development aid for education is decreasing.

Total government spending on education has increased steadily since the 2000 World Education Forum in Dakar. Between 1999 and 2010, 63 per cent of low- and middle-income countries have increased the share of national income spent on education, with the largest increase – at 7.2 per cent a year on average – in low-income countries and an annual increase of 5 per cent in sub-Saharan Africa.

The EFA GMR also notes that concerns that recent global financial and food crises could affect education spending appear to be unfounded. Although some countries, such as Chad and Niger, cut their budgets as a result of these crises, two thirds of low- and middle-income countries actually increased their education budgets. In 2010, low-income countries allocated 4.6 per cent of GNP to education (compared with 3.1 per cent in 1999), lower middle-income countries allocated 4.8 per cent (4.3 per cent in 1999) and high-income countries 5.4 per cent (5 per cent in 1999). Improvements in net primary school enrolment are closely linked to expenditure, as the example of Tanzania shows. In 1999, Tanzania spent 2 per cent of GNP on education; by 2010 this had increased to 6.2 per cent and the net primary enrolment ratio had doubled.⁴⁸⁴

However, while progress has been made in increasing education allocations, the figures still fall short of the 6 per cent of GNP recommended by the EFA Fast Track Initiative. In addition, investment in education varies considerably between regions and countries. For example, the total education budget in France is higher than the education expenditure of all sub-Saharan African governments combined.⁴⁸⁵ The annual expenditure per primary school

pupil was estimated to be approximately US\$105 in Kenya and Guatemala in 2007,⁴⁸⁶ whereas OECD countries spent on average US\$7,065 per primary pupil in 2008.⁴⁸⁷

Box 17: Conclusions and recommendations from the UNESCO study of the cost and cost-effectiveness of sexuality education

- In order to reach a critical mass of young people, comprehensive sexuality education programmes should be intra-curricular, integrated into national curricula, compulsory and scaled up through the public sector.
- Extra-curricular pilot programmes may provide useful initial learning experiences and successful pilots should be gradually integrated into national curricula to make them more efficient.
- Larger class sizes reduce per capita costs but are likely to limit the quality of sexuality education; countries therefore need to strike a balance between the costs and quality of sexuality education programmes.
- Advocacy to secure community engagement and ownership is an important and necessary cost component of sexuality education programmes.
- Expanding sexuality education within schools where programmes already exist first, by making it
 mandatory, before introducing it to new schools or districts, is most efficient.
- Comprehensive sexuality education programmes can also have significant educational outcomes.
- A combination of school-based sexuality education programmes, and youth-friendly sexual and reproductive health services is needed to deliver health outcomes.
- There is a need for more comparative research in other regions, e.g. Latin America and the Caribbean, and for research to assess gender-related elements and outcomes.

Source: UNESCO. 2012. Policy Brief. The Cost and Cost-Effectiveness of School-Based Sexuality Education Programmes. Paris, UNESCO.

At the same time that domestic budgets for education have increased, international aid for education has stagnated since 2009, the year in which the highest increase in aid was recorded.⁴⁸⁸ Despite international commitments, basic education has been given low priority. Of the US\$13.5 billion in aid for education in 2010, only US\$5.8 billion was for basic education, and only US\$1.9 billion was for basic education in low-income countries.

Only 5 of the 23 member countries of the OECD Development Assistance Committee have reached the target of allocating 0.7 per cent or more of Gross National Income for development assistance. Since 2009, the global financial crisis and associated pressure to reduce expenditure has reduced development assistance. In 2011, global aid fell by 2.7 per cent in real terms compared with 2010, due to austerity measures in donor countries.⁴⁸⁹ Major donors are not only reducing their overall aid budget but also giving education lower priority. The Netherlands, for example, is expected to cut aid to education by 60 per cent between 2010 and 2015.⁴⁹⁰ In addition, around one quarter of total direct aid to education never leaves donor countries, as it is spent on scholarships and imputed costs for students in developing countries to study in donor countries.⁴⁹¹ The reduction in aid, and the share of aid that is allocated to education, has serious implications for achieving global education targets in the poorest countries and, in particular, for addressing educational disparities between and within countries.

In addition, financing for HIV prevention and education is being adversely affected by 'AIDS fatigue', the global financial crisis and overall decline in donor funding, and the costs associated with increasing access to HIV treatment.

Total funding for HIV from all sources in 2011 was US\$16.8 billion.⁴⁹² Funding from donor governments increased six-fold between 2002 and 2008 to US\$7.7 billion, but has remained at around the same level since then (US\$6.9 billion in 2010 and US\$7.6 billion in 2011).⁴⁹³ In 2011, two of the main donors for HIV significantly increased their funding, seven maintained funding at the same level and four reduced their funding.⁴⁹⁴ The global financial crisis is a significant factor, but donor priorities are also shifting (earmarking of funds for HIV has decreased) in response to growing pressure to demonstrate results, as well as to the progress made in a number of countries in reducing new infections and scaling up the availability of effective treatment.

Domestic public and private HIV expenditure in low- and middle-income countries increased from US\$3.9 billion in 2005 to almost US\$8.6 billion in 2011, when domestic spending accounted for the majority of all HIV expenditure for the first time. However, a number of countries remain heavily dependent on international funding for their national HIV response. Donor funds represented 36 per cent of the US\$9.4 billion spent on HIV in 107 low- and middle-income countries between 2006 and 2011. Of these, 38 countries received 75 per cent or more and 61 countries 50 per cent or more of their HIV funding from international sources. Among 33 sub-Saharan African countries, 26 received more than half of their HIV funding from international resources, 19 of those received 75 per cent or more from international sources.

Analysis of the 2008 global recession showed that it had an adverse impact on HIV programmes in almost all low- and middle-income countries.⁴⁹⁶ Related factors included reduced government revenues and expenditure on HIV, increasing poverty and declining household incomes, and unfavourable exchange rates, making imported medicines and equipment more expensive. The situation was compounded by the slowdown in the rate of increase of donor financing, the growing demand for HIV treatment and competing priorities. The real, perceived and anticipated negative effects were slowing, and in some cases potentially reversing, country progress and, while all aspects of national responses were affected, the greatest impact was on HIV prevention efforts.

As a result of the dramatic scale up of HIV treatment during the past decade, the proportion of total HIV funding, and in particular of domestic funding, that is spent on treatment has increased significantly. A review of funding for HIV in low- and middle-income countries in 2008 found that 53 per cent of funding was allocated to treatment and care.⁴⁹⁷ Given the importance of treatment adherence and the growing emphasis on early initiation of treatment, it is unlikely that this proportion will be reduced in the future. Available evidence suggests that funding for treatment is likely to be prioritized and that if there is a shortfall in funding for the national response, resources may be diverted from other areas such as prevention and education.

In addition, funding for HIV prevention is more dependent on international donors and hence more likely to be affected by a decrease in donor funding. Overall, in 2008, prevention received 21 per cent of HIV resources – 20 per cent in concentrated epidemics, 21 per cent in generalized epidemics and 45 per cent in low-level epidemics. But international donors accounted for 65 per cent of all prevention resources, and 93 per cent in low-income countries. In contrast, 63 per cent of treatment costs was funded domestically.⁴⁹⁸

There is a risk that declining international funding will have a considerable impact on the already low allocation of resources for HIV prevention targeting young people both in and out of school, in particular those who are most at risk. Although UNAIDS is advocating for increased allocation of domestic resources and a number of countries, for example China and India, are increasing financing for HIV, domestic resources are unlikely to be sufficient to fill the gap in many low-income countries in the near future.

Summary

This chapter has highlighted the systemic challenges that the education sector is facing to meet its commitments to education for all. With the burgeoning number of young people set to enter the school system, it is more important now than ever that schools help learners meet modern challenges and learn how to make healthy decisions. This chapter has also pointed out that a large number of adolescents and young people do not attend school. They should not be left behind, but neither should resources be diverted to create parallel out-of-school education structures. Rather, education administrators need to use emerging technologies and global support for universal education to leverage change and ensure that all adolescents and young people develop the skills to prevent new HIV infections and reduce stigma and discrimination. The next chapter will describe a way forward towards this end.

Chapter 4

Towards a new approach

Adapting to an evolving epidemic

Previous chapters have reviewed how the education sector's response has evolved, what we have learned and the challenges we face, as well as global and national developments that will have an impact on HIV education in future. This chapter discusses how HIV education, in particular the way in which it is framed and delivered, needs to change in order to respond to new challenges and developments and to ensure that it is effective and relevant to the needs of learners.

HIV education will need to adapt to changes in the HIV epidemic and new interventions. Although HIV education programmes have always had a strong emphasis on prevention, an exclusive focus on prevention without addressing issues such as treatment, care and support, and stigma and discrimination is no longer sufficient. HIV education needs to encompass the continuum of prevention, treatment and care and to highlight the importance of early diagnosis, timely treatment and adherence to treatment in order to maximize longevity and quality of life for people living with HIV. This is particularly the case where HIV prevalence is high: learners from communities in which parents, siblings, and other family and community members are affected by HIV need education about HIV that is not limited to prevention.

HIV education also needs to adapt to the changing needs of adolescents and young people living with HIV, especially as they reach puberty and move towards adulthood. They have particular psychosocial needs: they have to cope with the stresses relating to their health status, which can manifest themselves in depression, anxiety, low self-esteem and behavioural problems. They also have specific needs with respect to physical health (addressing the effects of HIV-related treatment), education (whether to disclose their HIV status or not, the need for distance learning or other alternative ways of learning) and sexual and reproductive health (the right to develop and sustain emotionally and sexually satisfying and fulfilling relationships).⁴⁹⁹

HIV has also increased teachers' responsibilities beyond instruction in the classroom. Schools have been used as centres of care and support to respond to the needs of orphans and vulnerable children.⁵⁰⁰ This requires teachers to play a wider role, including in social protection and medical referral, often at the same time that they are struggling to cope with staff shortages, larger class sizes and an expanding curriculum. Some research suggests that teachers play a more active out-of-class role in learners' lives and should be trained as such.⁵⁰⁰ Other research shows that with teacher shortages, large class sizes

and abridged teacher training, as well as an expanding curriculum, it would be unrealistic to add to their existing responsibilities, and that alternative models are needed.⁵⁰²

Treatment education, providing information about available drugs, sideeffects, adherence and related issues has been introduced within a number of HIV education programmes.^{503,504} For example, in India UNESCO and Plan International have developed treatment literacy materials for the education sector. Treatment education has become increasingly important and relevant as treatment access expands and in view of growing evidence of the benefits of 'treatment as prevention'. The value of 'treatment as prevention' has been confirmed by studies showing that people with HIV on antiretroviral treatment are significantly less infectious and thus much less likely to transmit the virus to their sexual partners.⁵⁰⁵ This also highlights the need for HIV education to move away from separate consideration of HIV prevention and treatment to address prevention, treatment and care issues together.

HIV education also needs to encompass recent and future advances in HIV prevention and treatment. With respect to prevention, studies have now confirmed the significant protective value for men of voluntary medical male circumcision in reducing the likelihood of HIV acquisition from sex with an HIV-infected female sexual partner,^{506,507,508} resulting in a range of initiatives to promote this intervention in highly affected countries where male circumcision rates are low. There have been some studies⁵⁰⁹ showing the potential of vaginal microbicides to prevent HIV infection in women, although subsequent trials to confirm the earlier promising results have been disappointing and work on this technology continues.

With respect to treatment, it was reported in early 2013 that a baby born with HIV in the United States who started on antiretroviral therapy immediately after birth and later stopped treatment, was found to be 'functionally cured' of HIV. While the scientific enquiry into this case continues, it appears that very sensitive testing confirmed that the infant had indeed been infected with HIV. This story and other studies are putting to rest a longstanding debate about whether it is better to test for HIV and start treatment as early as possible or to delay the initiation of treatment. A number of countries have adopted a 'test and treat' approach, encouraging individuals to have an HIV test and, if they test positive, to initiate treatment immediately.

While these developments are exciting and are expanding the range of interventions available to improve the response to HIV, they will only be used if people know about and are motivated to use them. In particular,

the benefits of many of these advances will only be realized if people know their HIV status. However, current estimates suggest that only 50 per cent of people living with HIV are aware of their status.⁵¹⁰ Good-quality education will therefore be essential to promote awareness of available interventions and of the benefits of knowing one's HIV status. Many countries have addressed stigma and discrimination and human rights – often key barriers to seeking testing – within HIV education. There is, however, a need to ensure that these issues are consistently addressed in all contexts.

Meeting increasing demand for comprehensive sexuality education

Education ministries and approaches to HIV education also need to adapt to the growing demand from young people and parents for comprehensive sexuality education and related services. This will require the education sector to integrate HIV education within broader comprehensive sexuality education programmes and to strengthen the links between education and integrated HIV and sexual and reproductive health services.

At global level there is growing pressure to recognize comprehensive sexuality education as a basic human right.⁵ Sexual and reproductive health education and services for young people are featuring prominently in the transition to the post-2015 global development agenda as well as in follow-up discussions to the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD). At regional level, the Mexico ministerial declaration in 2008 marked a key turning point among recent initiatives demonstrating increased commitment to ensuring that all young people have access to sexuality education.

There is also growing demand from young people themselves for the right to good-quality comprehensive sexuality education, as witnessed by the 2011 Mali Call to Action, declarations at the International Conference on AIDS and STIs in Africa (ICASA) 2011 and the Bali Global Youth Forum in 2012.⁵¹² The Bali Youth Forum Declaration, for example, states that, 'Governments should create enabling environments and policies to ensure that young people have access to comprehensive sexuality education, in formal and non-formal settings, through reducing barriers and allocating adequate budgets'. Young people are demanding more, and better, sexuality education, not always because of concerns about HIV, but primarily because they want to be better informed about pregnancy prevention and other sexual and reproductive health issues. There is also increasing anecdotal evidence in some regions that young people are tired of hearing about HIV, reinforcing the need to situate HIV education within the wider context of sexuality education. East and Southern Africa is no exception, where demand is growing for better guidance for young people on sexuality and HIV prevention. This reflects concerns about the high prevalence of HIV and other STI, abortion-related deaths, high rates of sexual and gender-based violence, increasing teenage pregnancies, and the conflicting messages that young people receive from society and the media, and about the effectiveness of current approaches to sexuality and HIV education.

As discussed earlier in this book, during the last two decades education ministries in the region have addressed HIV through a range of responses. Most of these have focused on primary and secondary school curriculum-based interventions, which aim to equip children and young people with the knowledge and skills they need, and related pre- and in-service training of teachers and development of teaching and learning materials. However, evaluations of HIV education and life skills programmes have highlighted significant challenges in their content and delivery, which has limited their effectiveness. As a result, many young people do not receive even the most basic sexuality education and leave school without adequate knowledge; misinformation about sex and its consequences remains common.⁵¹³ There is also a consensus that HIV and life skills education is failing in most instances to develop the skills that young people need to lead a healthy life, including a healthy sexual life.⁵¹⁴ This is illustrated by the views of a young female learner in South Africa.

"You taught me the names of the cities of the world BUT I do not know how to survive in the streets in my own city.

You taught me to speak and write in three languages BUT I do not know how to say what I feel in my heart.

You taught me about reproduction in rats BUT I do not know how to avoid pregnancy.

You taught me how to solve maths problems BUT I still can't solve my own problems.

Yes, you taught me many facts and thank you, I am now quite clever BUT why is it I feel I know nothing?

Why do I feel I have to leave school to learn about coping with life?"

Source: South African Department of Education. 2002. Conference Report Protecting the Right to Innocence: The Importance of Sexuality Education.

Evidence about the effectiveness of comprehensive sexuality education, its potential to reduce the risks associated with sexual activity and to improve young people's sexual health and well-being, is resulting in growing interest among researchers, educators, policy-makers and parents in providing sexuality education to young people.⁵¹⁵

While views differ about what should be included in sexuality education, there is growing commitment in the ESA region to provide comprehensive sexuality education. A number of policy and strategic commitments and frameworks have been developed in the region, reflecting increasing recognition of the need for comprehensive HIV and sexuality education to address the health challenges that face Africa's young populations. These include the Framework for Action in Sub-Saharan Africa, included in the Dakar Framework for Action adopted at the World Education Forum in 2000; the African Youth Charter 2006; the Maputo Plan of Action on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights 2006; the Model Law on HIV in Southern Africa 2008; the African Health Strategy 2010–2015; the East African Regional Strategic Plan on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights 2008–2013; and others.

Significant momentum has been generated by the endorsement in December 2013 of the Ministerial Commitment on comprehensive sexuality education and sexual and reproductive health services for adolescents and young people in Eastern and Southern African (ESA). Inspired by the example of the Mexico Ministerial Declaration and led by UNESCO and UNAIDS, this focuses on mobilizing political support to ensure that all young people have access to high-quality, comprehensive life skills-based HIV and sexuality education and to appropriate youth-friendly health services. This has the potential to catalyse urgently needed improvements in education and health services to achieve better sexual and reproductive health outcomes, including strengthened HIV prevention, for young people in the region. The Commitment was endorsed by ministers of both health and education from 21 countries in the region after a process of evidence collection, consultation and advocacy.

Evidence for the Ministerial Commitment was published in a state-of-the-art diagnostic report presenting the current status of comprehensive sexuality education and access to services for young people as well as related issues such as gender inequality and legal restrictions. The report, *Young People Today. Time to Act Now.* makes the case for high-level political commitment and improved collaboration between education and health services. The Commitment itself provides a framework for ministries to work together

more effectively and focuses on ten major areas of action that will improve health outcomes. These include a focus on universal access to education and the delivery of sexuality education from primary school level. Unlike the Mexico Declaration, the ESA Ministerial Commitment includes a set of specific and measurable targets. For the education sector, these include curriculum review, teacher education and improving HIV knowledge levels. In 2014 and 2015, working with regional and country level partners, UNESCO will support country action to implement the Commitment with a focus on strong coordinated engagement by education and health ministries and increased involvement of youth-led and youth-serving organizations. On the basis of lessons learnt from the follow-up of the Mexico Declaration, an accountability framework that involves governments, UN organisations, civil society and young people is also being put in place to monitor government's progress towards the agreed targets.

Many communities also now recognize the importance of comprehensive sexuality education for young people. In general, as discussed earlier, parents are supportive of school-based sexuality education. Parents often rely on teachers or health workers to respond to young people's developmental needs, particularly those considered more private, gender-specific or culturally defined. Contrary to popular belief, adults in ESA are increasingly supportive even on more sensitive issues like condom education. For example, an analysis of Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) 2009 data shows that in ten countries in the region, at least 60 per cent of parents support condom education for young adolescents aged 12–14 years, although many school HIV education programmes continue to omit discussion of contraception and condoms. Schools also remain hesitant about making condoms available because of concerns about parental and community opposition. For example, a proposed initiative to distribute condoms to Rwandan secondary school students has divided parents, teachers and other members of society, with some supporting the plan and others concerned that adolescents are not mature enough to use condoms responsibly.⁵¹⁶ Social change is a factor driving increased demand for school-based comprehensive sexuality education. Traditionally in Africa, young people learned about sexuality from grandparents and aunts and through traditional rites of passage.⁵¹⁷ However, these are being challenged by the pressures of modern life, urbanization and the breakdown of the extended family, and there is increasing acceptance that formal, organized approaches to delivering sexuality education are required.518

Parental and community support or resistance has been widely recognized as an important factor that enables or constrains the introduction and implementation of comprehensive HIV and sexuality education for young people in or out of schools. In addition, school-based programmes that are linked to and supported by parents and communities are more effective than those that are not.⁵¹⁹ However, the GPS found that few of the thirteen ESA countries surveyed had made systematic efforts to engage parents, and while efforts were being made to engage religious, community or traditional leaders in most countries, these efforts were rarely systematic. Orientation for parents regarding life skills-related programmes in school has been formally structured across the system in only two countries, and is limited to informal local initiatives in four countries; in the remaining seven countries, no process is reported. Only three countries reported that systematic efforts were made to ensure that religious, community or traditional leaders support the HIV prevention approach adopted by the education sector, the messages it communicates and the materials it uses.

More concerted efforts are needed to sustain and build on political commitment and to bring together sector ministries, school principals, teachers and parents to develop a common agenda for scaling up the provision of comprehensive sexuality education for young people. The 2006 Maputo Plan of Action on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights, which has been widely adopted in the region, promotes universal access to comprehensive sexual and reproductive health services in Africa. Its implementation plan includes developing and implementing information, education and communication strategies for parents as well as educators.

Concerns have also been raised in other regions about the extent to which it is possible to implement comprehensive HIV and sexuality education in countries where the cultural context is extremely conservative. However, experience shows that, even in the most conservative settings, HIV education can be delivered, provided that it is culturally sensitive, involves key stakeholders from the outset⁵²⁰ and embraces indigenous forms of knowledge.⁵²¹ For example, while there is still some vocal opposition to sexuality education by parents and conservative groups in Eastern Europe and Central Asia, some countries are beginning to recognize the need for better quality and comprehensive HIV and sexual and reproductive health education, and opinion polls suggest that there is public support. In a survey in the Russian Federation, 88 per cent of women aged 15–44 were supportive of sexuality education being delivered in schools.⁵²² Macedonia is reviewing the scope and quality of sexuality education delivered within life skills classes, in response to a recommendation made by Parliament following a public hearing of a Framework for Comprehensive Sexuality Education developed by the Macedonian Health Education and Research Association in 2011.⁵²³ In Bulgaria, as a result of lessons learned from experience and civil society advocacy, the Ministry of Education is taking steps to enhance sexuality education in schools by including it in the new educational standard on Civic, Intercultural and Health Education. In Asia, a recent online poll of parents in China showed that 90 per cent were in favour of incorporating sex education into school curricula, including information about family planning and how to cope with inappropriate sexual advances.⁵²⁴

Strengthening links with school health programmes

As pointed out in earlier chapters, the initial education sector response to HIV took a vertical approach, but there is now greater understanding of the need to integrate HIV with other health topics to benefit from synergies of knowledge and skills for a wider range of healthy behaviours. For example, the cognitive, psychosocial, emotional coping and self-management skills which are key to HIV and sexuality education can be used to address a number of other health topics such as violence prevention, substance use prevention and hygiene promotion. To ensure that HIV is neither sidelined nor ignored, it should be fully integrated into comprehensive sexuality education, which in turn should be an integral part of a school health programme. Ironically, this means that we have now come full circle. HIV education started off as a response to a public health crisis, and is now repositioned, albeit far more broadly to include sexuality and other factors affecting behaviour, within a school health programme.

There is a strong foundation for a holistic and whole-school approach in the literature and in practice that has been described in part in earlier chapters. For example, a review in 2010 set out three reasons for this approach.⁵²⁵ Firstly, topics interact and are not separate at the behavioural level: for example, sexual activity is often linked to alcohol use. Secondly, addressing a topic in isolation may mean that it is considered only in relation to the individual, whereas the social environment is often a vital influence on behaviour. Thirdly, there is a tendency with a topic approach to assume that human behaviour is completely determined by knowledge and reasoning, whereas social and emotional aspects are integral to all health issues. In other words, the emphasis should shift to skills such as risk assessment.

The review does not suggest that a topic approach does not play a role, but rather that connections should be made to other topics in the classroom and the wider school and social environment, so that learners consider the issue within their own context.

For example, the FRESH framework⁵²⁶ takes a holistic, whole-school approach to school health. The framework is structured around four main components – equitable school health policies, safe learning environment, skills-based health education, and school-based health and nutrition services. These components are supported by partnerships between the education and health sectors, between teachers and health workers, schools and communities, and between pupils and those implementing the programme.

A number of studies have been conducted to identify the factors that contribute to effective promotion of health in schools (see Box 18).⁵²⁷

Box 18: Factors contributing to effective school health promotion

- developing partnerships between education and health sector policy-makers
- developing both a sense of direction in the goals of the school and clear and unambiguous leadership and administrative support
- developing and maintaining a democratic and participatory school community
- creating a social environment that fosters open and honest relationships within the school community
- creating a climate where there are high expectations of students in their social interactions and educational attainments
- ensuring students and parents feel a sense of ownership in the life of the school
- ensuring a consistency of approach across the school and between the school, home and wider community
- exploring health issues within the context of the students' lives and community
- using strategies that adopt a whole school approach rather than primarily a classroom learning approach
- implementing a diversity of learning and teaching strategies
- providing adequate time for organization and coordination, class-based activities and out-of-class activities
- providing ongoing capacity building opportunities for teachers and associated staff
- providing resources that complement the fundamental role of the teacher and have a sound theoretical and accurate factual base.

Source: IUHPE. 2009. Achieving Health Promoting Schools: Guidelines for Promoting Health in Schools – 2nd Edition of the document formerly known as 'Protocols and Guidelines for Health Promoting Schools' (2008). The International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE).

Implementing effective school health programmes requires coordination and collaboration. Clear identification of relevant stakeholders and delineation of roles and responsibilities at national, sub-national and school level is essential. Stakeholders can include education, health, welfare, infrastructure, youth, sport and culture sectors, schools, teachers, school nurses, social workers, civil society, parents, communities and students.

Collaboration between the education and health sectors is especially important. The health sector shares responsibility for the health of children, while the education sector is responsible for implementation and often for funding of school health programmes. Education and health ministries, as well as other relevant ministries and other stakeholders, must be involved in the development of school health policy and programmes, which need to draw on expert knowledge. Effective implementation depends on collaboration between the education and health sectors and other providers, such as civil society organizations. For instance, curriculum changes may be needed to reflect a country's disease burden and priority health problems, and teacher training may need to be adapted in line with these changes.

A related challenge is measuring outcomes. Here again there are differences in desired outcomes and, as discussed earlier, in the approach to measuring them. Health sector goals can be measured through more precise outcomes such as health status, STI and pregnancy rates, tobacco use and behaviour change. The education sector measures outcomes such as knowledge and skills. Teachers and curriculum developers do not rely on the results of randomized control trials of interventions, which is standard practice in health work. Curriculum change takes place slowly and usually only once every five to seven years; the results of any changes can therefore be evaluated only in the long term. Depending on the country, teachers may have a degree of autonomy in deciding on how to interpret the curriculum or they may be expected to follow a more prescribed path. In HIV and sexuality education, this can make a significant difference to outcomes.

Implementation also has its challenges. These include coordination of a wide range of stakeholders many of whom may not have worked together before, finding time in a crowded curriculum, teacher training, resource mobilization and securing community support. Issues to consider⁵²⁸ include:

• The need for school health initiatives to have realistic expectations and to ensure that they take a whole-school approach.

- The need to allow enough time: school health programmes often have a short timeframe, but health promotion outcomes occur in the medium to long term.
- The need to recognize that evaluation of such programmes is difficult and complex.
- The importance of ensuring that health sector funding does not undermine a health promotion approach by focusing school health programmes on reducing mortality and morbidity.
- The need for time, partnerships and mutual respect to develop a shared understanding and common goals between the education and health sectors.
- The need to provide the education sector with evidence that health promotion can improve educational outcomes.

Given the relationship between education and health and the synergies that exist, developing and implementing a school health policy and programme should be a priority for the education sector. Despite the challenges associated with developing and implementing school health programmes, their potential benefits, to health and to learning, warrant greater investment.

Reframing HIV education

Skills-based comprehensive sexuality education, including HIV, remains central to the healthy development of each new generation of young people, and as such should take the form of a process occurring over the entire life-span of each individual.⁵²⁹ Currently, the education sector in many places is caught between a biomedical response, resistant local school cultures and a workforce trained in conservative methodologies. The school day is overbooked, subjects are often taught in narrow unconnected modules, and all of these challenges arise against the backdrop and pressure of standardized testing. In view of these challenges, how does the education sector move forward?

A confluence of events has created the opportunity to address HIV education and life skills more broadly. The analysis of the MDGs and discussion on the post-2015 UN development agenda has led to an increased understanding of the need for the education sector to adapt to emerging trends and demands and to focus on improving the quality of education. Testing and employable skills dominate the current paradigm, but new metrics for evaluation are emerging that will enable us to replace rigid testing with more adaptive and interconnected forms of measuring educational outcomes. There is also a growing movement that sees that 'the short-sighted focus on profitable skills has eroded our ability to criticize authority, reduced our sympathy with the marginalized and different, and damaged our competence to deal with complex global problems. And the loss of these basic capacities jeopardizes the health of democracies and the hope of a decent world'.⁵³⁰

The Global Education First Initiative's call for global citizenship provides the sector with an opportunity to reconnect with the foundations of education and to reconsider its meaning and purpose as well as to reinforce a social agenda in education. The Initiative states that 'the world faces global challenges, which require global solutions. These interconnected global challenges call for far-reaching changes in how we think and act for the dignity of fellow human beings. It is not enough for education to produce individuals who can read, write and count. Education must be transformative and bring shared values to life. It must cultivate an active care for the world and for those with whom we share it. Education must also be relevant in answering the big questions of the day.' Finally, the rapid pace with which technology is developing offers promising and innovative ways to teach and learn. Now, more than ever, the sector is at a crossroads that requires it to respond with a new model of education, one that is interactive, skills-based and holistic.

Education is a social and interactive process and the emerging discourse on global citizenship, underscores the education sector's role in creating better societies. The focus is moving away from individual achievement to developing competencies for collectively addressing global challenges. HIV is one of the global challenges that require a social solution. It is infectious and an individuals' vulnerability is determined not just by their own actions but also by the actions of others. HIV is often associated with stigma and discrimination, and education serves a central role in challenging stigma and reducing discrimination. Developing healthy behaviours and global citizenship requires knowledge, attitudes and skills gained through participatory and experiential methods. In this way, HIV education is inclusive, relevant and firmly anchored within UNESCO's vision of the post-2015 development agenda.

HIV education is not about absolutes; it is a changing and relational field,⁵³¹ and thus skills to learn and engage with the daily concerns of life are critical.

This type of education opens up possibilities for diversity and higher-order thinking, in contrast to universalistic and narrow applications of education.⁵³² The curriculum is a negotiated process and a one-size-fits-all curriculum only alienates learners and disregards their own experience.⁵³³ HIV education is at a philosophical crossroads, where interpretivist approaches offer an alternative to positivist education in which learners are passive recipients of information.⁵³⁴

In contrast to the scare tactics and other hard-hitting approaches of disease prevention used in the initial stages of the response, there is a need for nonjudgemental approaches that are empowering and health-promoting.⁵³⁵ What is also needed is a comprehensive sexuality education that helps learners develop healthy attitudes and skills towards sex and relationships and thus reduce their risk of infection.^{536,537} A pedagogy that encourages learners to connect fact and meaning through discussion-based methods can help them understand the social as well as the biomedical aspects of HIV.⁵³⁸ Skills-based health education, already in use in many schools, represents this change. This can be expanded and deepened and become the norm for learning, so that didactic and other teacher-centred approaches will become the exception.

Previous chapters have highlighted the limitations of many HIV education models, explaining that while education can provide young people with the ability to develop and maintain healthy behaviours, whether they are able to do this is a function of broader factors including family, culture, gender and social norms, as well as issues of poverty and access to services. HIV education has been predominately based on health theories, with less attention paid to theories of education.539 Fortunately, HIV education can draw on traditional theories and recent practices in education to inform the way forward. Experiential education and powerful learning as promoted by educational theorists such as John Dewey and Paolo Freire and advanced more recently in practice and policy by Linda Darling-Hammond, provide a solid foundation and vision for reform.⁵⁴⁰ Experiential education is a process of learning that balances content and experience. In this way, learners can interpret information, construct meaning, and develop attitudes that can contribute to healthy behaviours. Skills-based health and sexuality education, including on HIV, provide the methods and curricular context for effective learning. Goal orientation theory, which was developed in a classroom context, relates short-term to long-term learning and behaviours. It could prove a useful approach in the future: a recent study suggests that 'training teachers to focus their students on mastery and improvement, and to deemphasize test scores and extrinsic outcomes as reasons for participation, may lead to benefits for adolescents who are learning about HIV and pregnancy prevention in school.'541

Whether or not HIV and sexuality education should be an examinable and stand-alone subject is a debated topic, because the majority of methods of examination are restricted to measuring only a small part of skills-based health education. However, without the status given by many teachers to examinable subjects, life skills will not be taken seriously. Efforts should be made towards engaging with new methods of assessment that capture the richness of life skills education. Many of the skills in skills-based health education transcend health: critical thinking, decision-making and interpersonal skills, for example, have multiple applications and the connections to reinforce learning across the curriculum should be considered.

As already mentioned, recent work on student measurement provides an opportunity to shift the focus of global education debates from an idea of simply accessing schooling to the quality of learning. Recent work conducted by the Learning Metrics Task Force illustrates this shift. It recommends that education systems offer opportunities to learners to master competencies in seven domains of learning: physical well-being, social and emotional, culture and the arts, literacy and communication, learning approaches and cognition, numeracy and mathematics, and science and technology. This holistic framework of learning domains was developed by drawing on existing global policies and dialogues, human and economic development research, and a global consultation of practitioners. The framework is intended to identify areas in which to measure learning outcomes.

These domains are a departure from confined subject-based measures. The conceptualization of these domains brings to the fore a place for HIV education especially as part of life skills and sexuality education. These were not central to traditionally organized schooling, which is dominated by legacy subjects. Whereas life skills education was in many instances a subject of secondary importance, in this framework it has the potential to become a core area of learning. HIV taught as a biomedical event was an attempt to get it on the agenda, but it also made it safe and contained.⁵⁴² We know that this has not been effective and that we have to try a new approach. What is proposed by the Learning Metrics Task Force opens up possibilities for interpretive education and for addressing HIV as a social issue as well as a biomedical one. Life skills can be taught across all these domains, and young people can learn about HIV in several contexts – physical well-being, social and emotional, or science and technology, for example.

One cannot teach critical thinking in a few lessons and expect to undo years of schooling that denies learners the ability or opportunity to make meaningful choices, as was done in the past.⁵⁴³ The new approach discussed in this chapter can address this fundamental shortcoming. It must start by recognizing the tensions inherent in education and give teachers the tools and learners the ability to negotiate these. These are tensions between the global and local, the universal and the individual, tradition and modernity, long-term and short-term, among others.⁵⁴⁴ Education should be inquiry-based and experiential, incorporating and building on the lived experiences of the school community. It should be informed by core learning domains that can be applied across subject areas, where learners are encouraged to explore and create linkages through various interactive and skill-building techniques. The content must be relevant to learners and their needs and prepare them to live a healthy life, to be active and caring global citizens, and to reach their full potential.

Fundamental changes are also needed in classroom structure and dynamics. This includes everything from the arrangement of classroom furniture to facilitate collaboration, increasing group work, increasing the ratio of student to teacher speaking time, increasing physical movement, and use of multiple sources of information.⁵⁴⁵ The fear in some quarters is that learner-centred approaches mean that teachers have to relinquish control of the classroom and undisciplined behaviour will follow. If one comes from the viewpoint that the teacher should be authoritarian and controlling, then learner-centred approaches will reinforce this fear. However, research on effective models of classroom management suggests that the opposite is true.

Classroom management models that are developed and maintained collaboratively between learners and teachers, with the support of parents and the community, are effective and responsive to the needs of the learning community.⁵⁴⁶ This new approach moves away from authoritarian models of classroom management towards collaborative approaches that facilitate learning of sensitive subjects, like sexuality and HIV, in an age-appropriate and relevant way.

Rethinking teacher training and support

The best curricula will have limited impact without skilled teachers who can use them well with learners. There has been an increase in training of teachers in life skills, including for HIV, in the past decade. In Latin America and the Caribbean, for example, national health and education ministers committed through the Mexico Declaration of 2008 to including comprehensive sexuality education curricula in all teacher training programs by 2015.⁵⁴⁷ However, despite this, 'the evidence relating to the quality and scale of HIV and life skills delivery in the classroom would suggest that there are still significant gaps between training and delivery: there is continuing concern that effective and comprehensive HIV education within the context of life skills is not receiving adequate attention or delivery in the classroom'.⁵⁴⁸ As mentioned earlier, many educators are not trained in the methods and content for teaching HIV and sexuality.

In many instances teachers have been considered solely as messengers,⁵⁴⁹ but it is important to recognize the intrinsic importance of teachers. A teacher's life experience cannot be separated from the content of HIV and sexuality if it is to be taught in an open and honest way. Therefore it is crucial to meet teachers' right to access health services and to develop the knowledge, attitude and skills for healthy living as a routine part of teacher training. These are important conditions for effective HIV education. This is not to say that teachers must reveal their personal details to learners, but rather that they draw on their own experiences as a source of empathy.⁵⁵⁰ Talking about sex and gender can be embarrassing and, without proper training, a teacher may revert to the facts and reassert control in the classroom with moral judgement. This type of education is emotionally detached, decontextualized and seemingly irrelevant to learners.⁵⁵¹ Effective HIV education needs an honest connection between teachers and learners.

A new approach to teacher training is needed to support a new approach to HIV education. This envisages a teacher who is able to customize each class and lesson to meet the needs of the learners in a timely way and to build their skills to negotiate the challenges and vulnerabilities they face daily in their community. This means that teachers must be equipped to deal with issues that in many cases at present are not taught at all. Further, the administration and head teacher must create an enabling environment by communicating and enlisting the support of parents and community members. This must start with the health of the teacher, provide them with appropriate support, and recognize their intrinsic value as well as their instrumental value.

This new approach to teacher training has three main components. The first component needs to start by recognizing the vulnerabilities of teachers themselves, and work to develop their life skills in the cognitive, psychosocial, affective and interpersonal domains, among others. They must understand the virus and forms of vulnerability in their community. They must examine

their own attitudes towards HIV, relationships and sexuality in relation to protection and prevention. These skills will give teachers confidence, enabling them to tackle sensitive issues with their learners and engage with the community to change norms around socio-cultural taboos. In other words, teachers need life skills to protect themselves and to protect others.

Training is critical to support teachers and other education sector staff to clarify their values and to gain the knowledge and skills they need to promote healthy and safe learning environments for all learners. This includes issues such as human rights, inclusion and non-discrimination, gender, sexuality and sexual diversity, and non-discriminatory practices.⁵⁵² For example, in Sao Paulo state in Brazil, an inclusive and transformative approach to teacher training on sexuality education has been developed that embraces sexual diversity.553 In the Russian Federation, training kits have been designed to support education sector administrators, teachers and carers to support HIV-positive learners in the classroom, including addressing social prejudice, stigma and discrimination.554 In Namibia, the Rainbow Project has run workshops for rural teachers that explore social inclusion and exclusion from a rights perspective based on teachers' own experiences, challenges related to human rights in general including issues affecting gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender people, and teachers' addressing of human rights in school.555

The second component concerns the use of learner-centred and participatory learning methods rooted in experiential learning. With these methods the teacher cedes control over certain aspects of the learning process, as learners have more input into the topics, methods and classroom management. This is a radical shift from didactic command and control teaching, but it is not entirely new. Modern teaching has included techniques such as drama, games and other interactive methods for subjects such as language learning, so the experience is there; it just needs to be amplified and applied more broadly.

With topics associated with HIV, health and sexuality, teachers must be prepared to discuss what is relevant to learners in order to address their risks. This requires creating and maintaining a safe learning environment. This task becomes harder with larger class sizes, but there are peer models that can be used with large classes to increase interactivity.

Technology also offers opportunities to deliver lectures asynchronously, allowing learners access to information on their own time and freeing up class time for participatory methods such as case analysis with real time feedback. At the same time, modern technology deluges learners with information that challenges the curriculum and the teacher. The aim of this pedagogy is to help learners interpret and make sense of their influences and analyse their risk. This is yet another departure from teaching subjects confined to a predetermined text. Teacher training thus needs to reflect this modern reality and equip teachers with the skills to help their learners face and solve current and future challenges. Teacher training courses should provide teachers with the opportunity to practise these techniques with their peers in sessions that are designed to be supportive and encourage constructive feedback. With increased connectivity, learners in a number of countries will have unprecedented access to information. Teachers cannot be the gatekeepers of information – there are too many channels available today – but by using skill-building methods they can help learners make sense of the information they receive and learn how to adopt healthy attitudes and behaviours.

Both pre-service and in-service training has been used in the HIV response. The 2013 GPS states that 'pre-service training should be the focus of concentrated orientation and training in these subject areas, to ensure that a new generation of teachers can enter the classroom equipped and prepared to deal with these life-saving issues. While teacher training and curriculum planners may argue that there is little room to expand pre-service training, there is a strong case for doing so as it is logistically easier to manage and deliver, has significantly wider reach and thus is more cost effective.⁵⁵⁶

However, we would argue that this should not be an either/or choice. To build the skills of teachers in these methods requires a solid foundation in initial teacher training, supplemented with career-long in-service training that teachers themselves have a stake in designing, in order to reinforce, refine and update their skills in teaching and assessment. The method of implementation for in-service training should avoid cascade methods as they are currently used. Though peer-led training can be very effective, it needs to be adequately supported. Consideration should be given to a 'peer-plus' approach where a teacher is supported by a professional trainer. This can be done in person in a team training approach, or remotely if communication technology is adequate. The use of audio-visual technology can be used to ensure fidelity of message and presentation of model teaching methods. In other words, all trainees will observe the same demonstration footage. Further, it will be necessary to develop communities of practice for peer support so that teachers can be encouraged and assisted to apply their new learning.

The third component deals with assessment. Most of public education in the twentieth century relied on tests that measure cognitive skills. Life skills education goes beyond the cognitive domain. The fundamental change to education needed will also require new ways to assess learners' progress and achievements, and teacher training must equip teachers to adapt and adopt new theory, practices and technology. The assessment techniques can be conceptualized with rubrics for measuring skills beyond conventional testing methods such as multiple-choice exams. These rubrics can be designed for observing demonstrated skills in such activities as role-playing. Additionally, technology provides the opportunity for customized learning, so teachers will need to develop assessment models that provide instantaneous feedback and direct learning through a graduated pathway. The theory for this type of instruction is well established (for example, see Vygotsky's zone of proximal development as a departure point⁵⁵⁷). The innovation here is the use of new learning technologies to adapt lesson plans to learner responses and provide timely feedback to advance learning across several domains. Theory and methods for assessment will be central, because measuring life skills requires a departure from standardized multiple-choice exams.

However, it is important to recognize that introducing a new approach to teacher training will take time. We also need to be realistic about what teachers can achieve in settings where they have had limited education themselves, receive inadequate training, and are overburdened and poorly paid. In such settings, many are struggling to teach even a basic curriculum. Training alone will not be enough to enable teachers to implement new ways of teaching, promote citizenship, human rights and gender equality, or deliver quality sexuality education. In addition, the reluctance of teachers to address culturally sensitive issues such as sex and sexuality is often wellfounded, as discussion of these could further undermine their already fragile social status and subject them to harassment, violence and abuse from students, parents or community members. If schools and teachers are to fulfil their potential in contributing to the HIV response, greater investment will be needed in education, in particular to address the shortage of teachers and to improve their working conditions and social status.⁵⁵⁸

Improving implementation

There are also a number of other key considerations for implementation. Firstly, mother tongue education is critical. The language of instruction for life skills to reduce risk of HIV infection is more useful if it is the same as the language that learners use outside the classroom, where they encounter risk. Otherwise the life skills lesson becomes academic and removed from the life of learners. It is also important that learners understand the language of instruction and that the concepts used are familiar to them.

As discussed earlier, where classes are very large it is difficult to use interactive and small-group methods because it is hard for teachers to give adequate feedback and maintain order within the classroom. However, we know that interactive learning is more effective at skill building than lectures. At the same time, we must acknowledge that this is easier to do in better-resourced environments where class sizes are smaller. Nevertheless, there are ways to introduce interactive methods in large classes. Peer-led breakout groups with video, radio and computer simulations are increasingly used, and we need to engage with these.

We have also identified the importance of parental and community support. However, it may be asking too much of individual teachers to broker this relationship. This needs to be done systematically, led by the school administration, to communicate with and enlist the support of community members, thus providing a supportive environment for effective classroom learning.

Skills-based health education has been somewhat silent on the issue of inclusion and the needs of learners with disabilities. The literature, let alone policy and practice, has not engaged with such issues as how life skills should be taught to the hearing- and sight-impaired. For example, young people with learning disabilities may face vulnerabilities that require another set of considerations in education entirely; this is an area that needs to be explored in more depth.

Given the knowledge gap, the education sector cannot run away from its core functions of building knowledge, developing attitudes values and skills. While many of the suggestions in this chapter depend on radical education reform, there are things that can and must be done immediately. Learners need to know how to protect themselves and others. As demonstrated, knowledge and attitudes are not the only things necessary to prevent infection and reduce stigma and discrimination, but they are the foundation.

There is also a need for system-wide commitment and a strong mandate for HIV education. Teachers are unlikely to take on difficult and sensitive topics if they do not feel mandated or supported by their superiors. They need to feel that the sector is committed to implementing HIV education. This can be achieved in a number of ways, for example by developing policy and ensuring its implementation, prioritization at national and local levels, development of curricula and provision of teaching materials, budgetary allocations, and statements of support by senior staff.

Beyond 2015

The education sector has learned that skills-based sexuality education, including HIV, can help young learners adapt and maintain safe behaviours and reduce stigma and discrimination towards HIV affected and infected persons. Education therefore, is central to the HIV response. But holding an HIV curriculum accountable for individual behaviour change is a misapplied evaluation, as there are many factors influencing behaviours. This book has argued for a holistic ecological model for the HIV response to build on strengths and address limits in aspects of the multisector response. We should reinvest in what the education sector does and measure its progress and contribution to the HIV response along education metrics and not health ones. Rather than a normative approach to education, where we tell learners how they ought to be, we should provide an interpretive education, where we meet them where they are and lift them up to reach their full potential and cope with life challenges.

There is pressure to reform education from many guarters, both to improve the quality of education and to make education more effective, responsive and relevant to the modern world and the needs of children and young people. This pressure is influencing discussions about the future global agenda for education beyond 2015, in which education that is designed to develop the whole person features prominently.559 This also has implications for the way in which HIV education is conceptualized and delivered, as the education sector shifts from 'teaching' to 'active learning'. Skills-based and interpretive HIV education fits firmly within that agenda. Core UNESCO principles about the purpose of education can be reconceptualized as the HIV pandemic forces us to engage in the debate about the nature, goal and role of education in the 21st century. An analysis of the underlying issues in these findings would support Delors's argument that schools need to place as much value on the educational goals within UNESCO's domains of 'Learning to be' and 'Learning to live together' as on traditional education subjects in the domains of 'Learning to know' and 'Learning to do'.⁵⁶⁰ It is clear that a new approach to HIV education requires broad-based and systemic change. The post-2015 UN development agenda, new methods for measuring learning outcomes, improved learning technology, and the global movement to foster global citizens are forces all working together to drive reform.

However, we must also recognize that the education sector is a series of complex systems. It is subject to politics, large bureaucracies, tens of millions of teachers, hundreds of millions of learners, and their families and communities throughout the world. Thus, changes argued for here will be slow in coming and the steps will be incremental and partial. But complexity and slow pace should not be an excuse for inertia. There are steps that can be taken in every education sector to move towards a more learner-centred approach. First and foremost, teachers, administrators and parents have to wake up to the fact that young people will find out about HIV and other issues related to sexuality and reproduction whether they learn it in school or not. The education sector must ensure that learners have correct and comprehensive information so that they can protect themselves. All incoming teachers should be routinely taught skills-based health education for their own well-being and that of their learners, and how to use participatory methods. The curriculum should be revised slowly and deliberately, and in-service teacher training should be commensurate with these changes. It is not a final destination that is being proposed but rather an iterative process of inquiry and adjustment and response to developments in technology, education policy and research.

It is clear how education can make a contribution to the HIV response. It is our hope that we will look back at this time as one of opportunity, the beginning of a shift in the education sector towards active learning, that will bring us to zero new HIV infections, zero AIDS-related deaths, and zero AIDS-related stigma and discrimination. This passage below from Silin (1995) written nearly twenty years ago captures an aspiration that we now have the tools, experience, insight and will to achieve.

"Although HIV/AIDS may challenge our prior ideas about pedagogical authority, it also offers us an opportunity to examine new models that more accurately reflect who we understand ourselves to be and what we would like our students to become. From HIV/AIDS we learn about the limits of science and the importance of human vision, the frailty of the body and the strength of the spirit, the need to nurture the imagination even as we direct our attention to rational cognitive structures. In the end, the HIV/AIDS curriculum can be more about life than about death, more about health than about illness, more about the body politic than the body physical." ⁵⁶¹

Conclusion

In this book we have reviewed the evolution of the education sector response to HIV and AIDS, and the contribution it has made during the past three decades. We have indicated how education has helped to prevent new infections, supported testing treatment and care, and reduced stigma and discrimination. As has been highlighted earlier, there is strong evidence for the protective benefits of simply being in school as a way of reducing risk and vulnerability to HIV, for learners fortunate to enjoy this right. Beyond this, we have reviewed in the book what is known about how education can contribute to healthier behaviours, through life skills programmes and those that specifically teach about HIV prevention, treatment, care and support. We have described how the engagement of the education sector has shifted from an emergency response at the beginning of the epidemic to one that now addresses HIV as part of a more mainstreamed effort, increasingly situated within comprehensive sexuality education and as part of broader health education programmes.

However, measuring the contribution of education to biomedical outcomes is challenging. We have argued that the role of education is to increase knowledge, presenting evidence to show that when implemented well, educational programmes have been highly successful in achieving this. More recent reviews of the evidence are starting to acknowledge this point, helping to put to rest an unproductive debate about the role and value of schoolbased HIV education programmes.⁵⁶² Evidence also shows that education can address harmful attitudes, such as stigmatizing views towards people living with or vulnerable to HIV, and strengthen the skills necessary for people to take decisions and actions that will enable them to lead healthier lives. Few would claim that the contribution of education alone will solve the complex set of challenges that HIV represents; however, it is an essential foundation to enable individuals and communities to overcome the epidemic and to lead healthier and more productive lives.

Commodities such as male and female condoms and antiretroviral treatment and services such as HIV testing and counselling are indisputably essential, but people need to know about them, understand why they are important, and know how to find and use them. Education has and will continue to play a key role in this regard. Tools and resources, including the UNAIDS Investment Framework, designed to support countries to make wise investment decisions with limited resources in order to get ahead of the HIV epidemic, acknowledge the importance of synergies with other development sectors including education, as well as 'critical enablers' such as supportive laws and legal frameworks, and access to social justice and gender equality, which are crucial for supporting sustainable changes in behaviours that can perpetuate HIV. The choices are not simply about one thing instead of the other, treatment instead of prevention, health services instead of HIV education and prevention. All of these are essential, delivered in the most effective and balanced way and with good quality. Getting the mix right is essential if progress in tackling the epidemic is to continue.

The good news is that three decades of effort against HIV are paying off. New infections are down, and so are AIDS-related deaths, in large part because of the wider availability of antiretroviral drugs and increased knowledge and skills to access them means that these drugs are now reaching nearly 10 million people. The number of people newly infected dropped to 1.9 million in low- and middle-income countries in 2012, which is 30 per cent lower than in 2001. In sub-Saharan Africa, the decrease is an impressive 34 per cent since 2001, with an even larger drop in the Caribbean of 49 per cent. More than 60 per cent of pregnant women with HIV in 2012 were put on antiretroviral treatment which will save their lives and that of their babies.

There is much more work to be done, however, and gains are fragile. There were still 2.3 million new infections in 2012. While progress has been made on a number of fronts, the world still has a considerable way to go to ensure that each new generation has the necessary knowledge, attitudes and skills.

Of particular concern for the education sector is the persistent low level of HIV knowledge amongst young people, a key global indicator regularly monitored and reported, and stubbornly remaining just under 40 per cent for young men and young women. We know many of the reasons for this, including the frequent view of HIV education as a somewhat low priority compared to other topics, reluctance to teach about issues perceived to be sensitive, and poor overall education systems with overcrowded classrooms, poorly trained and supported teachers, and pedagogic methods which fail to engage learners in more effective learning. Poor learning outcomes are not only a challenge for HIV education but a growing concern across the education system, highlighted by the Global Education First Initiative and in the deliberations for the post-2015 development agenda. While addressing the poor HIV knowledge levels of learners must remain the priority of the education sector, we should not forget that tens of millions of learners are now demonstrating correct comprehensive knowledge about HIV – a life-threatening and costly condition the world knew nothing about just three decades ago. This is a major achievement. Education about HIV is contributing positively to the lives of many people and their communities, even if we have a long way to go to attain the goal of 95 per cent knowledge levels amongst young people by 2015 agreed to by countries as part of a political commitment made at the UN in recent years.

There is now a much more sophisticated understanding of the epidemic, how it varies by region, country and even within countries, and how the response must be tailored accordingly, including by education programmes. There is also greater recognition that some people have increased risk and vulnerability to HIV, stemming from behaviours such as sex between men, injecting drug use and commercial sex. People engaging in these behaviours and from these key populations are thus particularly important to target with HIV education and services, and doing so will make a greater impact on the epidemic than earlier approaches that insisted that everyone was at risk. Despite awareness of the value of this focused approach, the stigmatized and often illegal nature of these risky behaviours means that HIV investments do not match up with initiatives that would have the greatest impact.

The challenges for targeting key populations increase when considering adolescents and young people under the age of eighteen engaged in these behaviours, since in many places this age group is below the age of consent, and there is a strong reluctance to do anything seen as 'condoning' or 'legitimizing' such behaviours. Educating adolescents and young people engaged in high-risk behaviours can thus be difficult in most places, particularly as part of the formal school curriculum. Non-formal and informal education, therefore, remain important.

We have traced the emergence of comprehensive sexuality education as a framework that can address the neglected but critical areas of sex and relationships. Too often in the early years of the HIV response, and indeed in some places still today, education about HIV has been limited to its biological aspects, overlooking the fact that HIV is a virus overwhelmingly transmitted through human sexual behaviours. Young people need opportunities to learn about not just the science, but also the social, sexual and gender aspects of HIV, through a participatory and life skills-based approach where they can gain not only knowledge but attitudes and skills that equip them to make healthier and safer choices in life. Sexuality education also has the potential to simultaneously address other pressing concerns among young people and their parents, in particular about pregnancy. Many young men and women express significantly greater concern about unintended pregnancy than they do about HIV and other sexually transmitted infections. An approach to HIV prevention that takes as its starting-point the main concerns of those affected is much more likely to have the desired impact.

Introducing or strengthening existing sexuality education programmes has not happened quickly, in part because of the lingering but incorrect notion that sexuality education may encourage early sexual initiation. The evidence is overwhelming that it delays sexual debut and can result in a reduction in the number of sexual partners when a person later becomes sexually active, and also that when those who have benefited from good-quality sexuality education start their adult sexual life they are far more likely than those who did not to do so in a safer and more protected way. The other reason for the slow expansion and scale-up of sexuality education programmes is that, like any education programme, sexuality education depends on the overall quality of the education system within which it is implemented.

While those responsible for educational planning seek ways to speed up the slow pace of scaling up good-quality HIV and sexuality education, they must do so against a backdrop of a rapidly expanding demographic of young people. In some regions the growth in the population of young people is increasing at a dramatic rate, such as in Eastern and Southern Africa, where young people between the ages of 10 and 24 represent 33 per cent of the population, and are projected to grow from 158 million today to 281 million by 2050.⁵⁶³ Countries must prepare now for this fast-growing youth demographic. Current levels of investment in education, let alone HIV and sexuality education, simply cannot remain static if countries want to keep up with this significant demographic trend and ensure that young people receive a good-quality education.

There also remains a continuing debate and differing views about the most effective and appropriate ways to deliver HIV education, which aggravate the slow and often hesitant response of the education sector. Obtaining rigorous evidence on 'what works' takes time and can be very costly. It took many years, for example, to conclusively demonstrate that 'abstinence-only' educational programmes are not only ineffective but may in some cases be counter-productive, as they deny learners the full range of basic information and options essential for them to make safer choices when they start their
adult lives. It is now better understood that abstinence can be one of several strategies that adolescents and young people can use and should learn about, but it cannot be the only one.

Similarly, there is a growing appreciation of the importance of listening to and involving adolescents and young people themselves when designing, delivering and evaluating HIV education programmes. When consulted, young people consistently demand good-quality sexuality education, and express frustration that it is too often denied because adult gatekeepers are reluctant to deliver it due to perceived sensitivities surrounding the topic. Nonetheless, we have noted in this book a growing level of support for sexuality education, propelled not only by young people but also by parents and communities who want and expect that this will be provided in school. Although some vocal resistance to sexuality education continues to be seen in some places, there is increasing recognition of the urgency of including sexuality education as part of the curriculum.

With recent progress, including impressive declines in new HIV infections, fewer deaths and more acceptance of people living with HIV, a key challenge going forward will be to avoid being the victim of success. Already there are signs that HIV and AIDS are viewed by many as effectively dealt with and 'over'. Indeed, there is increasing discussion about 'the end of AIDS', welcome news to a world weary of years of effort and investment in the response. But the gains we are seeing today are the results of policies, interventions and investments made several years ago. We have argued in this book that maintaining and even strengthening HIV and sexuality education will be essential going forward, to solidify recent gains and to ensure that new generations of young people continue to have opportunities to learn about HIV, how to prevent it, and to understand why it is so important not to stigmatize and discriminate against people living with or affected by it.

We have indicated in this book a promising trend, which is to situate HIV education within the wider context of skills-based health and sexuality education. In addition, we are encouraged by efforts to step outside of education and health 'silos', building on the significant synergies that are possible when the two sectors work together. A recent example of this can be seen from efforts to improve the sexuality education and sexual and reproductive health services for adolescents and young people in Eastern and Southern Africa. Known as the 'ESA Ministerial Commitment' process, it has from the start sought to address the needs of adolescents and young people holistically, acknowledging both their educational needs and the essential health services that they also require. In this regard, we have seen that

144

sexuality education can help to create awareness of and demand for sexual and reproductive health services, but also that demand creation needs to be complemented by the availability of youth-friendly services for referral. One without the other means an unfulfilled and empty commitment.

All the recent and hard-won gains in the struggle against the HIV epidemic are a testament to what can be achieved when there is a determined and concerted effort, one that is multidisciplinary with the contributions of many sectors and partners including the education sector. But we must not forget the millions of people who still need the life-prolonging drugs and the millions of people who are living with HIV but do not know they have the virus.

This takes us back to the vital role of education to educate people about the epidemic, about what can be done to prevent new HIV infections, and about the importance of learning their status. Even as the global response to HIV continues to evolve, and even if scientists one day deliver an effective vaccine or cure for HIV, education will remain central to ensure that individuals and communities know about and take advantage of these advances.

Notes on Contributors

- **Peter Aggleton** is a Professor of Education and Health at the Centre for Social Research in Health at the University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia. He is known internationally for his analytic work on health education and health promotion, the social aspects of HIV, sexuality and gender, and sexual and reproductive health. He is Team Leader of the Independent Review Group on HIV which reports to the National AIDS Council in Papua New Guinea, and is the editor of the international peer-reviewed journals Culture, Health and Sexuality, Health Education Journal and Sex Education.
- **Kathy Attawell** is an independent consultant who has worked for almost thirty years in international health and development, specializing in HIV/AIDS, maternal and child health, and health policy and systems. She has extensive experience in programme design, management and evaluation, sector evaluation, analysis of global health and policy issues, writing policy briefs, reports and guidance documents, and secondary research, including literature reviews. She has worked on a range of assignments for DFID, ECDC, OECD, UNAIDS, WHO, UNESCO and the World Bank among others. Previous work for UNESCO has included writing and editing a series of publications on policy and practice in HIV.
- **Chris Castle** is Chief, Section of HIV and Health Education at UNESCO Headquarters in Paris, France, where he has been based since 2004. Prior to UNESCO he was a Research Associate with the Horizons Programme led by the Population Council, and has more than thirty years of professional experience supporting international development in the health and education sectors.
- **Dhianaraj Chetty** is a Senior Project Officer at UNESCO's Section of HIV and Health Education in Paris. His expertise covers a range of work including HIV and education policy, sexuality education, gender, and broader sexual and reproductive health issues affecting adolescents and young people. He has worked in the education sector for over twenty years, including a period as a senior civil servant in South Africa and as a senior advisor to ministries of education in East and Southern Africa on HIV and education policy, programming and HIV response management.

- **David J. Clarke** is an independent consultant in HIV and education based in Bangkok, Thailand. He was formerly DFID's lead adviser on the education response to HIV and AIDS, which continues to be his main area of specialization. He has over thirty years of experience in international development, and has worked in more than fifty different countries.
- **Christophe Cornu** has been a Senior Project Officer in the Section of HIV and Health Education at UNESCO since 2009. He has over nineteen years of experience in the field of HIV and AIDS and international development. He has worked in more than 45 countries for a range of organizations including international NGOs, bilateral donors, UN agencies and programmes, and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria.
- **Mary Crewe** is the Director of the Centre for the Study of AIDS at the University of Pretoria, South Africa. She is a former academic from Wits University and worked for ten years in an integrative HIV/AIDS programme at the renowned Esselen Street Health Centre in Johannesburg.
- **Mary Guinn Delaney** is the UNESCO Regional HIV and AIDS Advisor for Latin America and the Caribbean, and is based at the Regional Office for Education in Santiago, Chile. She holds an M.Phil. (Development Studies) from the University of Sussex, and has worked for more than twenty years on development and HIV issues in the US, Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean.
- Joanna Herat is a Programme Specialist on HIV and Health Education at UNESCO in Paris. She has worked at UNESCO since 2010 developing technical, programme and policy approaches on key thematic areas related to HIV and education, including sexuality education, gender, integration of sexual and reproductive health, and the needs of young people living with HIV. Before joining UNESCO, she worked at an international NGO supporting community-based responses to HIV in Africa and Asia. She has a Masters in Anthropology of Development from the School of Oriental and African Studies, University of London.

- **Padmini lyer** is currently undertaking a Ph.D. in International Education at the University of Sussex. Her doctoral research focuses on attitudes towards and experiences of gender and sexuality among secondary school students in New Delhi, India. She has previously carried out research on teachers' attitudes towards young people's sexual and reproductive health in Uganda as part of her M.A. in International Education and Development from the University of Sussex. She has also worked with international NGOs on projects relating to maternal, newborn and child health in India, and sexual health promotion in secondary schools in sub-Saharan Africa.
- **Ulla Kalha** was the UNESCO Regional HIV and Health Education Coordinator for West and Central Africa. She has a background in anthropology and education and started her career as a professor and researcher at the University of Helsinki. She joined UNESCO in 1999 in the Basic Education Section and joined the Section of HIV and Health Education in 2009. While based in Dakar, she worked to support governments, UNAIDS cosponsors and educators on the implementation of HIV and health education programmes, including the development of the monitoring and evaluation tool SERAT.
- Audrey Kettaneh is Programme Specialist on HIV and Health Education at UNESCO in Paris, providing technical expertise in the areas of HIV and AIDS, school health and health promotion. She has a background in public health, began her career as an HIV and AIDS educator, and has since been working on issues such as health systems, HIV and AIDS policy, aid effectiveness, and health promotion for NGOs, research organizations, bilaterals and UN agencies.
- **Yongfeng Liu** is Programme Specialist at the Section of HIV and Health Education, UNESCO Headquarters. Before joining UNESCO Beijing in late 2003, he worked for twenty years in development and implementation of national education programmes and projects for family planning, reproductive health and, since the mid-1990s, HIV prevention in China.

- **Patricia Machawira** is UNESCO's Regional AIDS Advisor for Eastern and Southern Africa Region. She holds a doctorate in Education Policy from the University of Pretoria, South Africa, and an M.Sc. degree in Education and Training Systems Design from the University of Twente in the Netherlands. She has extensive experience working on education sector responses to HIV and AIDS through her work with international organizations including DFID, UNICEF, the University of Pretoria's Centre for the Study of AIDS, TSF and UNESCO. In recent years her work has focused on supporting the scale up of comprehensive sexuality education in the ESA region.
- **Scott Pulizzi** is a Senior Project Officer in the Section of HIV and Health Education. He has twenty years of experience in education as a teacher, trainer and curriculum developer. Since 1998 he has been working in school health with members of the Focusing Resources on Effective School Health Partnership. Prior to joining UNESCO, he worked in civil society with teachers' organizations and governments in Africa, Asia and the Caribbean to improve the education sector responses to HIV and promote Education for All. He is a Ph.D. candidate at the University of Witwatersrand in South Africa.
- Justine Sass is UNESCO's Regional AIDS Adviser for Asia and the Pacific and Chief of HIV Prevention and Health Promotion at UNESCO's Asia-Pacific Regional Bureau for Education in Bangkok, Thailand. She has worked for over fifteen years supporting sexual and reproductive health and HIV programming for young people in Asia, Africa and Eastern Europe.
- **Tigran Yepoyan** is the UNESCO Regional Advisor on HIV and AIDS for Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Before joining UNESCO in 2010 he worked with UNICEF in the Russian Federation for nine years managing child- and adolescent-focused programmes on HIV prevention, care and support. He holds an M.B.A. in NGP management from Eastern University (USA) and a Ph.D. in Philosophy from the Institute of Philosophy of the Russian Academy of Science.

Acronyms

AAU	Association of African Universities
ADEA	Association for the Development of Education in Africa
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
EduCan	Education Sector HIV and AIDS Coordinator Network
EFA	Education for All
EFA GMR	Education for All Global Monitoring Report
EMIS	Education Management Information System
ESA	East and Southern Africa
FRESH	Focusing Resources on Effective School Health
FTI	Fast Track Initiative
GARPR	Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting
GBV	Gender-Based Violence
GEFI	Global Education First Initiative
GNP	Gross National Product
GPS	UNAIDS IATT on Education, 2011–2012 Global Progress Survey
HFLE	Health and Family Life Education
ніν	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IATT	Inter-Agency Task Team on Education
ICASA	International Conference on AIDS and STIs in Africa
ICPD	International Conference on Population and Development
ІСТ	Information and Communication Technology
IIEP	International Institute for Educational Planning
ILO	International Labour Organization
IUHPE	International Union for Health Promotion and Education
LSE	Life Skills Education
MDG	Millennium Development Goal
MERG	UNAIDS Monitoring and Evaluation Reference Group
NCPI	National Commitments and Policy Instrument
OECD	The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
PEPFAR	President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief
SACMEQ	Southern and Eastern Africa Consortium for Monitoring Educational Quality
SERAT	Sexuality Education Review and Assessment Tool
SIECUS	Sexuality Information and Education Council of the United States
STI	Sexually Transmitted Infection
UIS	UNESCO Institute of Statistics
UN	United Nations
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UNCSD	United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development

UNDESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
UNGASS	United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV/AIDS
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
UN Women	The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women
WB	The World Bank
WFP	World Food Programme
wно	World Health Organization

Glossary

Comprehensive Sexuality Education

Comprehensive sexuality education is an age-appropriate, culturally relevant approach to teaching about sex and relationships by providing scientifically accurate, realistic, non-judgemental information. Comprehensive sexuality education provides opportunities to explore one's own values and attitudes and to build decision-making, communication and risk reduction skills about many aspects of sexuality.

Education for All Goals

Education for All (EFA) is a global commitment to provide quality basic education for all children, youth and adults. The movement was launched at the World Conference on Education for All in 1990 by UNESCO, UNDP, UNFPA, UNICEF and the World Bank. There are six key education goals which aim to meet the learning needs of all children, youth and adults by 2015: (1) expanding and improving comprehensive early childhood care and education; (2) ensuring that all children have access to, and complete, free and compulsory primary education of good quality; (3) ensuring that the learning needs of all young people and adults are met through equitable access to appropriate learning and life-skills programmes; (4) achieving a 50 per cent improvement in levels of adult literacy; (5) achieving gender equality in education; (6) improving all aspects of the quality of education.

Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting

Global AIDS Response Progress Reporting (GARPR) is a system through which UN Member States submit reports on thirty core indicators used globally to monitor progress in national responses.

Gender Identity

Gender identity refers to a person's deeply felt internal and individual experience of gender, which may or may not correspond with the sex assigned at birth, including the personal sense of the body (which may involve, if freely chosen, modification of bodily appearance or function by medical, surgical or other means) and other expressions of gender, including dress, speech and mannerisms.⁵⁶⁴

HIV Education

HIV education has three main components: prevention, treatment and care, and education to address stigma and discrimination. In this book, the term refers to both HIV and AIDS education and covers these three components. While HIV education is part of comprehensive sexuality education, it can also be taught in subject areas such as social studies and civic education, for example when issues such as stigma and discrimination are addressed and when teaching about HIV transmission other than through sex.

HIV Epidemic Definitions

Low-level epidemic: HIV prevalence is not consistently \geq_1 per cent in the general population nationally, nor \geq_5 per cent in any subpopulation.

Concentrated epidemic: HIV prevalence is ≥ 5 per cent in subpopulations while remaining ≤ 1 per cent in the general population.

Generalized epidemic: HIV prevalence is \geq_1 per cent among pregnant women attending antenatal clinics.

Hyperendemic: A generalized epidemic in which HIV prevalence is typically \geq 15 per cent among pregnant women attending antenatal clinics.

Multiple epidemics: One or more concentrated epidemics within a generalized epidemic.⁵⁶⁵

HIV Response

In this book, HIV response is used to include actions taken by stakeholders to prevent HIV transmission and address the impact of HIV and AIDS. Some other authors may refer to this as the AIDS response.

Homophobia

Homophobia is the fear, rejection or aversion, often in the form of stigmatizing attitudes or discriminatory behaviour, towards homosexuals and/or homosexuality.

Life Skills and Life Skills Education

The concept of life skills is elastic and includes a range of skills and knowledge, especially including the personal, interpersonal and cognitive psychosocial skills that enable people to interact appropriately, manage their own emotional states, and make decisions and choices for an active, safe and productive life. Life skills education has been introduced in different ways in formal schools, either as a new subject or integrated to various degrees within the teaching practice and content of other subjects. In some cases it is offered as an extra or co-curricular provision. The psychosocial aims of life skills education require a conceptualization of the curriculum that includes not only knowledge and skills but also behaviour, attitudes and values.⁵⁶⁶ The application of life skills in this book is focused on skills related to HIV and health.

Sex and Gender

The term 'sex' refers to biologically determined characteristics, whereas 'gender' refers to socially constructed roles, behaviours, activities and attributes that a given society considers appropriate for men and women.

Sexual Orientation

A person's capacity for profound emotional and sexual attraction to, and intimate and sexual relations with, individuals of a different gender or the same gender or more than one gender.⁵⁶⁷

Skills-Based Health Education

This approach to education focuses on the development of knowledge, attitudes, values and life skills needed to make and act on the most appropriate and positive decisions concerning health. Skills-based health education is a central part of life skills-based education.

Transgender

Transgender describes a person whose gender identity differs from their sex at birth.

Transphobia

Transphobia is fear, rejection or aversion, often in the form of stigmatizing attitudes or discriminatory behaviour, towards transgender people.

UNGASS Indicators

The United Nations General Assembly Special Session on HIV and AIDS (UNGASS) established 25 core indicators and 15 additional recommended indicators against which the HIV response should be measured. These help uncover strategic information that is essential in detecting changes in the HIV epidemic, monitoring the response to the epidemic and assessing the overall effectiveness of the response.⁵⁶⁸ Five of the indicators measure the role of the education sector in the response to HIV.

Young Key Populations at Higher Risk of HIV Exposure

The term 'key populations at higher risk of HIV exposure' refers to those most likely to be exposed to HIV or to transmit it, and whose engagement is critical to a successful response. In all countries, key populations include people living with HIV. In most settings, men who have sex with men, transgender persons, people who inject drugs, sex workers and their clients, and sero-negative partners in sero-discordant couples are at higher risk of HIV exposure to HIV than other people. Young key populations are under age 25. It is important to consider different needs and vulnerability among different cohorts (those aged 10–14, 15–19 and 20–24), as well as to differentiate between the concepts of 'risk' and 'vulnerability'. Risk is defined as the likelihood that a person may become infected with HIV, which is dependent upon the behaviour of the individual. Vulnerability refers to unequal opportunities, social exclusion, unemployment or precarious employment and other social, cultural, political and economic factors that make a person more susceptible to HIV infection and to developing AIDS.

References

- ¹ UNAIDS. 2013. 2013 Global Report. UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2013. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ² UNESCO. 2013. Young People Today. Time to Act Now. Why Adolescents and Young People Need Comprehensive Sexuality Education and Sexual and Reproductive Health Services in Eastern and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³ UNAIDS. 2013. 2013 Global Report. UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2013. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁴ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Paris, UNESCO, p. 8.
- ⁵ Harrison, A., Newell, M. L., Imrie, J. and Hoddinott, J. 2010. HIV prevention for South African youth: which interventions work? A systematic review of current evidence. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 10, No. 102. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/10/102.
- ⁶ Kippax, S., Stephenson, N., Parker, R. G. and Aggleton, P. 2013. Between individual agency and structure in HIV prevention: understanding the middle ground of social practice. *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 103, No. 8, pp. 1367–1375.
- ⁷ UNAIDS. 2008. Ministerial Declaration: Prevention through Education. http://data. unaids.org/pub/BaseDocument/2008/20080801_minsterdeclaration_en.pdf.
- ⁸ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Vols. I and II. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁹ UNESCO and UNFPA. 2012. Sexuality Education: A Ten-Country Review of School Curricula in East and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁰ Cuban, L. 1993. How Teachers Taught: Constancy and Change in American Classrooms 1890–1990. New York, Teacher's College Press.
- ¹¹ Martin, J. 1981. *Models of Classroom Management*. Calgary, Detselig Enterprises.
- ¹² Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ¹³ See for example Dankmeijer, P. (ed.). 2011. GALE Toolkit: Working with Schools 1.0. Tools for school consultants, principals, teachers, students and parents to integrate adequate attention of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender topics in curricula and school policies. Amsterdam, GALE (The Global Alliance for LGBT Education). www.lgbt-education.info.
- ¹⁴ UNESCO. 2008. Booklet 5: Effective Learning. Good Policy and Practice in HIV and AIDS and Education (booklet series). Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁵ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Vols. I and II. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁶ UNESCO. 2012. Comprehensive sexuality education: the challenges of scaling up. Conference ready version. http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/search/resources/ CSE_scaling_up_conference_ready_version.pdf. (Accessed 21 October 2013.)
- 17 Ibid.
- ¹⁸ UN DESA, Development Policy and Analysis Division. 2013. Working Group on the Global Partnership for Development by 2015. Thematic think pieces. New York, UNDESA. http:// www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/untaskteam_undf/them_tp2.shtml.

- ¹⁹ UN. 2010. Report of the United Nations Special Reporter on the Right to Education. New York, UN
- ²⁰ GEFI. 2012. Global Education First Initiative. New York, UN.
- ²¹ UNFPA. 2011. State of World Population 2011: People and Possibilities in a World of 7 Billion. New York, UNFPA. Quoted in UNCSD. 2012. Rio 2012 Issues Briefs, No. 14.
- $^{22} \quad See \ http://www.globaleducationfirst.org/files/EdFirst_G29383UNOPS_lr.pdf.$
- ²³ WHO. 2007. Schools for Health, Education and Development A Call for Action. WHO & Joint Consortium for School Health Technical Meeting: Building School Partnership for Health, Education Achievements and Development. Vancouver, Canada.
- ²⁴ See for example Medel-Anonuevo, C. 2005. Addressing gender relations in HIV prevention through literacy. Paper commissioned for the *EFA Global Monitoring Report 2006, Literacy for Life*. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0014/001460/146070e.pdf.
- ²⁵ See for example Medel-Anonuevo, C. and Cheick, D. 2007. Making the connection: why literacy matters for HIV prevention. Hamburg, UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001541/154159e.pdf.
- ²⁶ See for example Aksornkool, N. 2005. Women and men. Together for HIV/AIDS prevention. Literacy, gender and HIV/AIDS. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0014/001406/140698e.pdf.
- ²⁷ Hargreaves, J. and Boler, T. 2006. Girl Power The Impact of Girls' Education on HIV and Sexual Behaviour. London, ActionAid.
- ²⁸ Haberland, N. 2012. Ensuring education benefits girls to the full: synergies between education, gender equality, HIV and sexual and reproductive health. *Good Policy* and Practice in HIV and Health Education: Gender Equality, HIV and Education. Paris, UNESCO, pp. 17–23.
- ²⁹ Ibid.
- ³⁰ Andersson, N. C. 2008. Gender-based violence and HIV: relevance for HIV prevention in hyperendemic countries of Southern Africa. *AIDS*, Vol. 22 (supplement 4), pp. S73–S86.
- ³¹ Haberland, N. 2012. Ensuring education benefits girls to the full: synergies between education, gender equality, HIV and sexual and reproductive health. *Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Health Education: Gender Equality, HIV and Education*, pp. 17–23. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³² Ibid.
- ³³ UNESCO and the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). 2012. Positive Learning: Meeting the Needs of Young People Living with HIV (YPLHIV) in the Education Sector. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³⁴ Jones, T. 2011. Sexual subjects: GLBTIQ student subjectivities in Australian Education Policy. Unpublished PhD thesis, La Trobe University, Melbourne.
- ³⁵ UN. 2010. *Millennium Development Goals Report*. New York, UN.
- ³⁶ Task Team for the Global Thematic Consultation on Health in the Post-2015 Development Agenda. 2013. *Health in the post-2015 agenda. Report of the Global Thematic Consultation on Health.* April 2013. Consultation document, The World We Want. http:// www.worldwewant2015.org/health . (Accessed 21 October 2013.)
- ³⁷ Ibid.
- ³⁸ World Bank. 2006. Repositioning Nutrition as Central to Development: A Strategy for Large-Scale Action. Washington, DC, World Bank Directions in Development.

- ³⁹ Alderman, H., Hoddinott, J. and Kinsey, B. 2006. Long term consequences of early childhood malnutrition. *Oxford Economic Papers*, Vol. 58, No. 3, pp. 450–74.
- ⁴⁰ Cleland, J. and Van Ginneken, J.K. 1988, Maternal education and child survival in developing countries: the search for pathways of influence. *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 27, No. 12, pp. 1357–68.
- ⁴¹ Glewwe, P. 1999. Why does mother's schooling raise child health in developing countries? Evidence from Morocco. *Journal of Human Resources*, Vol. 34, No. 1, pp. 124–59.
- ⁴² Sandiford, P.J., Cassel, M. and Sanchez, G. 1995. The impact of women's literacy on child health and its interaction with access to health services. *Population Studies*, Vol. 49, pp. 5–17.
- ⁴³ EFA GMR. 2011. EFA Global Monitoring Report. The Hidden Crisis: Armed Conflict and Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁴ Kelly, M.J. 2006. *The Potential Contribution of Schooling in Rolling Back HIV and AIDS*. Commonwealth Youth Development, University of South Africa.
- ⁴⁵ World Bank. 2008, Education and HIV/AIDS: A Sourcebook of HIV/AIDS. Prevention Activities in the Education Sector, Vol. II. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- ⁴⁶ Mavedzenge, S.N., Doyle, A. M. and Ross, D. A. 2011. HIV prevention in young people in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *The Journal of Adolescent Health*, Vol. 49, No. 6, pp. 568–86.
- ⁴⁷ http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001466/146621e.pdf.
- ⁴⁸ Al-Iryani, B., Basaleem, H., Al-Sakkaf, K., Crutzen, R., Kok, G. and Van den Borne, B. 2011. Evaluation of a school-based HIV prevention intervention among Yemeni adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 11, No. 279. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/279.
- ⁴⁹ The contribution of knowledge to behaviour change is described in a logic model developed by Kirby et al. The model aims to make a sufficiently strong impact on what are known as 'risk and protective factors' to achieve the desired change in sexual risk behaviours. Kirby, D. 2012 UNESCO Regional Workshop on Sexuality Education, Zambia. Presentation on examples of risk and protective factors potentially affecting different sexual behaviors among youth. Unpublished workshop presentation.
- ⁵⁰ Letamo, G. 2011. Does correct knowledge about HIV and AIDS lead to safer sexual behaviour? The case of young people in Botswana. *African Population Studies*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 44–62.
- ⁵¹ Clarke, D.J. 2008. The first 25 years of HIV- Some key lessons for the education sector in responding to HIV and AIDS. *Commonwealth Education Partnerships*. http://www.cedol. org/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/88-92-2008.pdf
- ⁵² UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵³ Ajzen, I. and Fishbein, M. 1980. Understanding Attitudes and Predicting Social Behavior. Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Prentice-Hall.
- ⁵⁴ Oyekale A.S. and Oyekale, T.O. 2010. Application of health belief model for promoting behaviour change among Nigerian single youth. *African Journal of Reproductive Health* /*La Revue Africaine de la Santé Réproductive*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 63–75. http://www.jstor. org/stable/25766358. (Accessed 14 March 2013.)
- ⁵⁵ Ajzen, I. 1985. From intentions to actions: a theory of planned behavior. J. Kuhl and J. Beckmann (eds), *Action Control: From Cognition to Behavior*. Berlin and Heidelberg, Springer.
- ⁵⁶ Bandura, A. 1962 Social learning through imitation. In M. R. Jones (ed.), *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*. Lincoln, University of Nebraska Press.

- ⁵⁷ Rosenstock, I., Strecher, V. and Becker, M. 1988. Social learning theory and the health belief model. *Health Education Behaviour*, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 175–83.
- ⁵⁸ DiClemente, C. and Prochaska, J. 1982. Self-change and therapy change of smoking behaviour: a comparison of processes of change in cessation and maintenance. *Addictive Behaviours*, Vol. 7, No. 2, pp. 133–42.
- ⁵⁹ Catania, J., Gibson, D., Chitwood, D. and Coates, T. 1990. Methodological problems in AIDS behavioural research: influences in measurement error and participation bias in studies of sexual behaviour. *Psychological Bulletin*, Vol. 108, No. 3, pp. 339–62.
- ⁶⁰ Oyekale, A.S. and Oyekale, T.O., 2010, Application of Health Belief Model for Promoting Behaviour Change among Nigerian Single Youth. *African Journal of Reproductive Health* /*La Revue Africaine de la Santé Réproductive*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 63–75. http://www.jstor. org/stable/25766358. (Accessed 14 March 2013.)
- ⁶¹ Ndebele, M., Kasese-Hara, M. and Greyling, M. 2012. Application of the information, motivation and behavioural skills model for targeting HIV risk behaviour amongst adolescent learners in South Africa. *SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV / AIDS: An Open Access Journal*, Vol. 9, No. Suppl. 1, S37–S47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17290376.20 12.744903.
- ⁶² Letamo, G. 2011. Does correct knowledge about HIV and AIDS lead to safer sexual behaviour? The case of young people in Botswana. *African Population Studies*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 44–62.
- ⁶³ Boler, T. and Aggleton, P. 2005. *Life Skills-Based Education for HIV Prevention: A Critical Analysis.* Policy and Research Issue 3, UN working group on education and HIV/AIDS. London, Save the Children and ActionAid International. http://www.aidsconsortium.org. uk/Education/educationworkinggroup.html.
- ⁶⁴ Kippax, S. 2012. Effective HIV prevention: the indispensable role of social science. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, Vol. 15, No. 17357. http://www.jiasociety.org/ content/15/2/17357 ; http://dx.doi.org/10.7448/IAS.15.2.17357.
- ⁶⁵ Yankah, E. and Aggleton, P. 2008. Effects and effectiveness of life skills education for HIV prevention in young people. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, Vol. 20, No. 6, pp. 465–85.
- ⁶⁶ Boler, T. and Aggleton, P. 2005. *Life Skills-Based Education for HIV Prevention: A Critical Analysis.* Policy and Research Issue 3, UN working group on education and HIV/AIDS. London, Save the Children and ActionAid International. http://www.aidsconsortium.org. uk/Education/educationworkinggroup.html.
- ⁶⁷ Kippax, S. 2012. Effective HIV prevention: the indispensable role of social science. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, Vol. 15, No. 17357, p. 1. http://www.jiasociety.org/content/15/2/17357; http://dx.doi.org/10.7448/IAS.15.2.17357.
- ⁶⁸ Campbell, C. and Cornish, F. 2010. Towards a 'fourth generation' of approaches to HIV/ AIDS management: creating contexts for effective community mobilization. *AIDS Care*, Vol. 22, pp. 1569–79.
- ⁶⁹ Espada, J.P., Orgilés, M., Morales, A., Ballester, R. and Huedo-Medina, T.B. 2012. Effectiveness of a school HIV / AIDS prevention program for Spanish adolescents. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, Vol. 24, No. 6, pp. 500–13.
- ⁷⁰ Haberland, N. and Rogow, D. 2013. *Comprehensive Sexuality Education*. Background paper for Expert Group Meeting on Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health, February 4–6, 2013. Draft 25 January 2013. Greentree / Manhasset, NY.
- ⁷¹ Al-Iryani, B., Basaleem, H., Al-Sakkaf, K., Crutzen, R., Kok, G. and Van den Borne, B. 2011. Evaluation of a school-based HIV prevention intervention among Yemeni adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 11, No. 279. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/279.

- ⁷² Sigma Research/Terrence Higgins Trust. 2010. The role of fear in HIV education. http:// www.sigmaresearch.org.uk/files/MiC-briefing-1-Fear.pdf.
- ⁷³ Boler, T. 2003. The Sound of Silence: Difficulties in Communicating on HIV/AIDS in Schools. Experiences from India and Kenya. London, ActionAid. http://www.ibe.unesco.org/ uploads/media/HIV_AIDS_187_06.pdf.
- ⁷⁴ See Human Rights Watch. 2005. The less they know, the better. http://www.hrw.org/ reports/2005/03/29/less-they-know-better.
- ⁷⁵ New York Times. 2009. End to the abstinence only fantasy. http://www.nytimes. com/2009/12/20/opinion/20sun2.html?_r=0.
- ⁷⁶ Miedema, E. A. J., Maxwell, C. and Aggleton, P. 2011. Education about HIV / AIDS theoretical underpinnings for a practical response. *Health Education Research*, Vol. 26, No. 3, pp. 516–25. DOI:101093/her/cyq088.
- ⁷⁷ UNESCO. 2008. Response to the Report of the Commission on AIDS in Asia. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://www.unescobkk.org/fileadmin/user_upload/hiv_aids/Documents/ Inhouse_docs/Discussion_paper_IV/UNESCO_response.pdf.
- ⁷⁸ Wilson D. and Halperin, D.T. 2008. 'Know your epidemic, know your response': a useful approach, if we get it right. *The Lancet*, Vol. 372, No. 9637, pp. 423–26.
- ⁷⁹ UNAIDS. 2007. Practical Guidelines for Intensifying HIV Prevention: Towards Universal Access. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁸⁰ Lazarus, J., Curth, N., Bridge, J. and Atun, R. 2010. Know your epidemic, know your response: targeting HIV in Asia. *AIDS*, Vol. 24, pp. S95–S99.
- ⁸¹ Commission on AIDS in Asia. 2008. Redefining AIDS in Asia: Crafting an Effective Response. Report of the Commission on AIDS in Asia. New Delhi, Oxford University Press. http://data.unaids.org/pub/Report/2008/20080326_report_commission_aids_en.pdf.
- ⁸² UNESCO/WHO. 2006. *HIV and AIDS Treatment Education Consultation Report*. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001461/146120e.pdf . (Accessed 18 October 2013.)
- ⁸³ First Meeting of Ministers of Health and Education to Stop HIV and STIs in Latin America and the Caribbean. 2008. *Ministerial Declaration: Prevention through Education*. http://data.unaids.org/pub/BaseDocument/2008/20080801_minsterdeclaration_en.pdf. (Accessed 18 October 2013.)
- ⁸⁴ See UNESCO and UNFPA. 2012. Sexuality Education: A Ten-Country Review of School Curricula in East and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁸⁵ UNESCO. 2011. School-Based Sexuality Education Programme A Cost and Costeffectiveness Analysis in Six Countries. Executive Summary. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁸⁶ UNFPA Country Support Team for Latin America and the Caribbean. 2005. Background, Current Situation and Challenges of Sexuality Education in Latin America and the Caribbean. Mexico, UNFPA. https://www.unfpa.org/webdav/site/lac/shared/ DOCUMENTS/2005/antecedentes_educacion_eng.pdf. (Accessed 18 October 2013.)
- ⁸⁷ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Paris, UNESCO. http:// unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001832/183281e.pdf.
- ⁸⁸ SIECUS. 2004. Guidelines for Comprehensive Sexuality Education, 3rd Edition. Kindergarten through 12th Grade. New York, SIECUS. http://www.siecus.org/_data/global/images/ guidelines.pdf. (Accessed 18 October 2013.)
- ⁸⁹ IPPF. 2006. *IPPF Framework for Comprehensive Sexuality Education (CSE)*. London, IPPF. http://ippf.org/sites/default/files/ippf_framework_for_comprehensive_sexuality_education.pdf. (Accessed 18 October 2013.)

- ⁹⁰ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Paris, UNESCO.
- 91 Ibid.
- ⁹² UNESCO. 2012. Review of Policies and Strategies to Implement and Scale Up Sexuality Education in Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0021/002150/215091e.pdf
- ⁹³ IPPF. 2012. Exploring New Territories. Dialogues from a Consultative Meeting on Comprehensive Sexuality Education Hosted by IPPF on 5 and 6 March 2012, London. London, IPPF. http://ippf.org/resource/Exploring-new-territories-dialoguescomprehensive-sexuality-education. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ⁹⁴ The Population Council, Inc./IPPF. 2009. It's All One Curriculum. New York, The Population Council, Inc. http://www.ippfwhr.org/en/allonecurriculum_en. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ⁹⁵ UNESCO and the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). 2012. Positive Learning: Meeting the Needs of Young People Living with HIV (YPLHIV) in the Education Sector. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0021/002164/216485E.pdf.
- ⁹⁶ IPPF. 2010. Happy, Healthy and Hot: A Young Person's Guide to Their Rights, Sexuality and Living with HIV. London, IPPF.
- ⁹⁷ UNESCO and the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). 2012. Positive Learning: Meeting the Needs of Young People Living with HIV (YPLHIV) in the Education Sector. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0021/002164/216485E.pdf.
- ⁹⁸ Smith, J. and Whiteside, A. 2010. The history of AIDS exceptionalism. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, Vol. 13., No. 47. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1758-2652/13/47. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- 99 UNAIDS. 2006. Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ¹⁰⁰ UNAIDS. 2012. Global Report, UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ¹⁰¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁰² Kirby, D. 2011. Sex Education: Access and Impact on Sexual Behaviour of Young People. New York, United Nations Expert Group Meeting on Adolescents, Youth and Development, Population Division, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations Secretariat, UN/POP/EGM-AYD/2011/07.
- ¹⁰³ Mukoma, W., Flisher, A. J., Ahmed, N., Jansen, S., Mathews, C., Knepp, K. I. and Schaalma, H. 2009. Process evaluation of a school-based HIV / AIDS intervention in South Africa, *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 37 (Suppl. 2), pp. 37–47. DOI: 10.1177/1403494808090631. http://sjp.sagepub.com/content/37/2_suppl/37.
- ¹⁰⁴ See for example Kelly, M. 2000. Planning for education in the context of HIV/AIDS. Published in the series *Fundamentals of Educational Planning*, No. 66. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001224/122405e.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹⁰⁵ See for example Kelly, M. and Bain, B. 2003. *Education and HIV/AIDS in the Caribbean*. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁰⁶ See for example Clarke, D. J. 2008. *Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV*. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ¹⁰⁷ See UNESCO. 2007. UNESCO's Strategy for Responding to HIV and AIDS. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001499/149998e.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)

- ¹⁰⁸ UNESCO. 2012. Practical Guidelines for Supporting EDUCAIDS Implementation. Paris, UNESCO.
- $^{109} \hspace{0.1 cm} See \hspace{0.1 cm} http://www.globalpartnership.org/finance-and-funding/global-partnership-foreducation-fund/indicative-allocations/ .$
- ¹¹⁰ UNESCO. 2007. Communiqué from the Seventh Meeting of the High-Level Group on Education for All in Dakar, Senegal. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹¹¹ UNAIDS IATT on Education. 2003 (updated in 2009). A Strategic Approach: HIV and AIDS and Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹¹² World Bank. 2009. Accelerating the Education Sector Response to HIV: Five Years of Experience from Sub-Saharan Africa. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- ¹¹³ UNAIDS IATT on Education. 2004. Education Sector Global HIV and AIDS Readiness Survey 2004: Policy Implications for Education and Development. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹¹⁴ See Fernandez et al. 2005. HIV prevention programs of nongovernmental organizations in Latin America and the Caribbean. *Pan Am Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 17, No. 3, pp. 154–62. http://www.scielosp.org/pdf/rpsp/v17n3/a02v17n3.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹¹⁵ Sigma Research/Terrence Higgins Trust. 2010. *The Role of Fear in HIV Education*. Making it Count Briefing Sheet 1. http://www.sigmaresearch.org.uk/files/MiC-briefing-1-Fear.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹¹⁶ Aggleton, Clarke, D., Crewe, M., Kippax, S., Parker, R. and Yankah, E. 2012. Educating about HIV: prevention, impact mitigation and care. *AIDS*, Vol. 26, No. 10, pp. 1215–22.
- 117 http://www.reflect-action.org/.
- ¹¹⁸ Welbourn, Alice 1995. Stepping Stones: A Training Package in HIV/AIDS, Communication and Relationship Skills. London, ActionAid.
- ¹¹⁹ World Bank. 2004. Education and HIV/AIDS: A Sourcebook of HIV/AIDS. Prevention Activities in the Education Sector, Vol. I. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- ¹²⁰ For example the Namibia education sector policy. http://www.hamu-nam.net/ Downloads/Documents/Toc_policy.pdf.
- ¹²¹ The Mobile Task Team on AIDS was one such initiative which provided technical support to twelve countries in East and Southern Africa, with a focus on engaging planning departments in ministries.
- ¹²² See for example http://www.hamu-nam.net/Downloads/Documents/Contents_policy. pdf.
- ¹²³ Clarke, D. and Bundy, D. 2004. *The EFA Fast Track Initiative: Responding to the Challenge of HIV and AIDS to the Education Sector.* Washington, DC, DFID and World Bank.
- 124 Ibid.
- 125 Ibid.
- ¹²⁶ FTI. 2006. Guidelines for Appraisal of the Primary Education Sector Plan. Washington, DC, EFA-FTI Secretariat. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001802/180206E.pdf.
- ¹²⁷ UNAIDS IATT on Education. 2003 (updated in 2009). A Strategic Approach: HIV and AIDS and Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹²⁸ UNAIDS. 2007. Practical Guidelines for Intensifying HIV Prevention Towards Universal Access. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ¹²⁹ Clarke, D. J. 2008. Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.

- ¹³⁰ Organisations like KENEPOTE in Kenya, T'LIPO in Malawi and a number of others representing positive teachers emerged in East and Southern Africa. See UNESCO. 2007. *Supporting HIV Positive Teachers in East and Southern Africa*. Technical Consultation report. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001536/153603e.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹³¹ ActionAid. 2009. *TIWOLOKE HIV and AIDS in the education workplace in Malawi*. Johannesburg, ActionAid. http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/search/resources/ TIWOLOKE.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹³² Conducted in 39 countries, including 17 countries with a generalized HIV epidemic and 16 countries with a concentrated epidemic.
- ¹³³ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- 134 http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001446/144625e.pdf.
- ¹³⁵ Both the 2004 and 2011-2012 surveys depended on the subjective inputs of Ministry of Education officials and civil society, thus the information is limited by its subjectivity and the extent to which the respondents were able to accurately report implementation, particularly in decentralized, under-monitored and under-reported education systems. While this represents a significant limitation in some countries, the fact that 30 countries participated in both surveys provides a rich trend analysis.
- ¹³⁶ The 2011-2012 survey covered 39 countries of which 30 participated in the 2004 survey. Unless specifically mentioned, figures relate to the 39 country cohort.
- ¹³⁷ Amico, P., Gobet, B., Avila-Figueroa, C., Aran, C. and De Lay, P. 2012. Pattern and levels of spending allocated to HIV prevention programs in low- and middle-income countries. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 12, No. 221. Doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-221.
- ¹³⁸ UNICEF Evaluation Office. 2012. Global Evaluation of Life Skills Education Programmes. New York, UNICEF.
- ¹³⁹ See UNESCO and UNFPA. 2012. Sexuality Education: A Ten-Country Review of School Curricula in East and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁴⁰ In the 2011-2012 cohort of 39 countries the number reporting pre-service teacher training at the primary level for generic life skills and HIV was 29/39 (74 per cent) and 24/39 (62 per cent) respectively. At secondary level, the numbers were 31/39 (79 per cent) for generic life skills and 28/39 (72 per cent) for HIV education. For in-service training, these numbers increased to 32/39 (82 per cent) and 31/39 (79 per cent) at primary level, and 34/39 (87 per cent) and 33/39 (85 per cent) for secondary level.
- ¹⁴¹ UNAIDS. 2012. Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2012. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ¹⁴² SACMEQ. 2010. How successful are HIV/AIDS prevention education programmes? SACMEQ Policy Issues Series, No. 3.
- ¹⁴³ Commission on AIDS in Asia. 2008. Redefining AIDS in Asia. Crafting an Effective Response. New Delhi, Oxford University Press. http://data.unaids.org/pub/ Report/2008/020080326_report_commission_aids_en.pdf.
- ¹⁴⁴ Sambodhi Research and Communications Pvt Ltd. 2012. Concurrent Evaluation of The Adolescence Education Programme (2010-2011) Report. New Delhi: UNFPA.
- ¹⁴⁵ Vietnam Administration of HIV/AIDS Control. 2010. UNGASS Country Progress Report: Vietnam. Ha Noi, Vietnam Administration of HIV/AIDS Control. http://www. aidsdatahub.org/en/component/docman/doc_download/244-ungass-country-progressreport-vietnam-unknown-author-2010.

- ¹⁴⁶ UNAIDS and the China AIDS Media Partnership (CHAMP) partners. 2008. AIDS-Related Knowledge, Attitudes, Behavior and Practices: A Survey of 6 Chinese Cities. Beijing, UNAIDS. http://www.aidsdatahub.org/en/reference-materials/hiv-prevention/doc_ download/652-unaids-gbc-century-jinqin-marketing-research-et-al-2008-aids-relatedknowledge-attitudesbehavior-and-practices-a-survey-of-6-chinese-cities.
- ¹⁴⁷ Clarke, D. J. 2012. Sexuality Education in Asia: Are We Delivering? An Assessment from a Rights-Based Perspective. Bangkok, PLAN International. http://plan-international.org/ files/Asia/publications/sexualityeducation.
- ¹⁴⁸ Country progress reports submitted to UNAIDS. http://www.unaids.org/en/ dataanalysis/knowyourresponse/countryprogressreports/2012countries/.
- 149 Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁰ WHO. 2010. Social Determinants of Health and Well-being among Young People. Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC). International Report from the 2009/2010 Survey. Geneva, WHO. http://www.euro.who.int/en/what-we-publish/abstracts/socialdeterminants-of-health-and-well-being-among-young-people.-health-behaviour-inschool-aged-children-hbsc-study. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹⁵¹ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education: An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁵² Ollis, D., Harrison, L. and Richardson, A. 2012. Building Capacity in Sexuality Education: The Northern Bay College Experience: Report of the First Phase of the Sexuality Education and Community Support (SECS) Project. Melbourne, Deakin University. http://dro.deakin. edu.au/eserv/DU:30046609/ollis-buildingcapacity-2012.pdf.
- ¹⁵³ WHO Regional Office for Europe and Federal Centre for Health Education, BZgA. 2010. Standards for Sexuality Education in Europe. A Framework for Policy-Makers, Educational and Health Authorities and Specialists. Cologne, BZgA, p.5.
- ¹⁵⁴ Michielsen, K., Beauclair, R., Delva, W., Roelens, K., Van Rossem, R. and Temmerman, M. 2012. Effectiveness of a peer-led HIV prevention intervention in secondary schools in Rwanda: results from a non-randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 12, No. 729. http://www.biomedcentral.com.
- ¹⁵⁵ Li, Y. 2006. Adolescent Sexuality Education. Shandong, People's Publishing House, as cited in UNESCO. 2010. Levers of Success: Case Studies of National Sexuality Education Programmes. Paris, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001884/188495e. pdf.
- ¹⁵⁶ See UNESCO and UNFPA. 2012. Sexuality Education: A Ten-Country Review of School Curricula in East and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁵⁷ Information on Southeast European countries and Turkmenistan is mostly taken from a draft unpublished report: A. G. Powell and Dietrich, L. Assessment of Youth SRH Education and Healthy Lifestyle Promotion in Eight Countries of EECA, commissioned by UNFPA Regional office for Eastern Europe and Central Asia in 2012–2013.
- ¹⁵⁸ Information on other EECA countries in mostly taken from a report by Glazirina, L. and Yepoyan, T. *Prevention Education in EECA Countries*, which resulted from an assessment of situation commissioned by UNESCO Moscow Office in 2010–2011. The report is published (in Russian) in the proceedings of the Regional Prevention Education Conference held in Almaty in May 2011. http://www.unesco.org/new/fileadmin/ MULTIMEDIA/FIELD/Moscow/pdf/MP1-ED/2011/Almaty_2011_Prevention_ Education_Conference_Digest.pdf.
- ¹⁵⁹ N.A. 2009. Primary School Curricula in Bosnia and Herzegovina: A Thematic Review of the National Subject. Draft.http://www.docstoc.com/docs/135357593/Thematic-Review-of-Revised-Curricula-in-Bosnia-and-Herzegovina. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)

- ¹⁶⁰ T. Shurko. N.D. 'Other' sexual orientations in Belarus school? http://gender-route.org/articles/sex_gender_practice/inye_seksual_nosti_v_ belorusskoj_shkole/. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹⁶¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁶² UNESCO and the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). 2012. Positive Learning: Meeting the Needs of Young People Living with HIV (YPLHIV) in the Education Sector. Paris, UNESCO.
- ¹⁶³ Cobbler, M. A. 2012a. Uncomfortable Silences: Narratives of Four Educators Teaching About HIV/AIDS in a High School Near Montréal. 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract No. THAD0305. http://www.iasociety.org/Abstracts/A200745306.aspx.
- ¹⁶⁴ Cobbler, M. A. 2012b. Uncomfortable Silences: Narratives of Four Educators Teaching About HIV/AIDS in a High School Near Montréal. MA Thesis, Department of Education, Concordia University, Montréal. http://spectrum.library.concordia.ca/974048/1/ Cobbler_MA_S2012.pdf.
- ¹⁶⁵ UNICEF Barbados and Eastern Caribbean Office. 2009. Strengthening Health and Family Life Education in the Region. The Implementation, Monitoring and Evaluation of HFLE in Four CARICOM Countries. Barbados, UNICEF.
- ¹⁶⁶ As reported in UNGASS country reports or National Composite Policy Index country reporting (2010). Countries include Bhutan, Cambodia, Fiji, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Papua New Guinea, Singapore, Thailand, Timor-Leste and Viet Nam.
- ¹⁶⁷ Ibid. Countries include Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, Cambodia, PR China, Fiji, India, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Maldives, Mongolia, Myanmar, Nepal, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Samoa, Singapore, Sri Lanka, Thailand, Timor-Leste and Viet Nam. Solomon Islands identified this as planned in future years.
- ¹⁶⁸ Ibid. Countries include Bangladesh, Cambodia, PR China, Fiji, India, Indonesia, Iran, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Maldives, Mongolia, Myanmar, Nepal, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Sri Lanka, Thailand, Timor-Leste and Viet Nam.
- ¹⁶⁹ Seeletso, L., Sinkamba, G, Mnthali, N., Nontobeko, S., Tau and Pulizzi, S. 2005. *Living, Skills for Life: Botswana's Window of Hope Senior Secondary School Teacher's Guide.* Gaborone, Botswana Ministry of Education.
- ¹⁷⁰ Helleve, A., Flisher, A. J., Onya, H., Mukoma, W. and Klepp, K. I. 2011. Can any teacher teach sexuality and HIV / AIDS? Perspectives of South African life orientation teachers. *Sex Education*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 13–26.
- ¹⁷¹ Wood, L. 2012. 'Every teacher is a researcher!': creating indigenous epistemologies and practices for HIV prevention through values-based action research. *SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS: An Open Access Journal*, Vol. 9, No. Sup 1, pp. S19–S27. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/17290376.2012.744910.
- ¹⁷² Gallant, M. and Maticka-Tyndale, E. 2004. School-based HIV prevention programmes for African youth. *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 58, No. 7, pp. 1337–51. http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953603003319.
- ¹⁷³ Kirby, D., Obasi, A. and Laris, B. 2006. The effectiveness of sex education interventions in schools in developing countries. D. Ross et al., *Preventing HIV in Young People: A Systematic Review of the Evidence from Developing Countries*, pp. 103–50. Geneva, WHO and Inter-Agency Task Team on HIV and Young People. http://whqlibdoc.who.int/trs/ WHO_TRS_938_eng.pdf. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹⁷⁴ Harlaar, M., Looij, H., van der Pijl, M., Vegh, I. 2011. *EFAIDS Programme Review*. Utrecht, Education International, EyeOpener Works and Outbox Consultancy, p. 10.
- ¹⁷⁵ Ibid. p. 11.

- ¹⁷⁶ Ibid., p. 11.
- ¹⁷⁷ Ibid., p. 12.
- ¹⁷⁸ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ¹⁷⁹ Duflo, E., Dupas, P., Kremer, M. and Sinei, S. 2006. Education and HIV / AIDS prevention, evidence from a randomized evaluation in Western Kenya. Background paper to the 2007 World Development Report. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4024. WPS4024. http://econ.worldbank.org.
- ¹⁸⁰ UNICEF. 2012. Global Evaluation of Life Skills Education Programmes. New York, UNICEF.
- ¹⁸¹ UNESCO and IBE. 2009. Assessment of the Pre- and In-service Teacher Training on Health and Family Life Education in Guyana. Final report. Paris, UNESCO/IBE.
- ¹⁸² Republican Teacher Advanced Training Institute. 2011. *Building Knowledge about HIV and AIDS. An Interactive E-course.* Almaty, Kazakhstan, UNESCO Almaty Office. http://www.unesco.kz/new/ru/unesco/worldwide/cluster/kazakhstan/news/2630/. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹⁸³ UNICEF. 2012. Global Evaluation of Life Skills Education Programmes. New York, UNICEF.
- ¹⁸⁴ Clarke, D. J. 2008. Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ¹⁸⁵ Visser, M. 2004. The Impact of Individual Differences on the Willingness of Teachers in Mozambique to Communicate about HIV/AIDS in Schools and Communities. PhD Thesis, Florida State University, . Tallahassee. http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/search/ resources/TeachersHIVMVisserFinalVersion.pdf.
- ¹⁸⁶ Bhana, D. 2009. 'They've got all the knowledge': HIV education, gender, and sexuality in South African primary schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 165-77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01425690802700222.
- ¹⁸⁷ Scott, J. 1985. Weapons of the Weak: Everyday Forms of Peasant Resistance. New Haven, Yale University Press.
- ¹⁸⁸ Visser, M. 2004. The Impact of Individual Differences on the Willingness of Teachers in Mozambique to Communicate about HIV/AIDS in Schools and Communities. PhD Thesis, Florida State University, Tallahassee. http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/search/ resources/TeachersHIVMVisserFinalVersion.pdf.
- ¹⁸⁹ Cobbler, M. A. 2012b. Uncomfortable Silences: Narratives of Four Educators Teaching About HIV/AIDS in a High School Near Montréal. MA Thesis, Department of Education, Concordia University, Montréal. http://spectrum.library.concordia.ca/974048/1/ Cobbler_MA_S2012.pdf.
- ¹⁹⁰ Kelly, M. J. 2000. Standing education on its head: aspects of schooling in a world with HIV/AIDS. *Current Issues in Comparative Education*, Vol. 3, pp. 28-38. http://www. tc.columbia.edu/cice/Issues/03.01/31kelly.pdf.
- ¹⁹¹ Tiendrebeogo, G., Meijer, S. and Engelberg, G. 2003. *Life Skills and HIV Education Curricula in Africa: Methods and Evaluations*. USAID Technical Paper No. 119. Washington, DC, USAID. http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNACT985.pdf.
- ¹⁹² Akpaka, O. and Ekue-d'Almeida, S. 2007. L'Impact du VIH et du sida sur le système éducatif au Togo. L'Education dans le contexte du VIH et du sida. Paris, IIEP.

- ¹⁹³ Matungwa, D. J., Chenha, C., Kachuchuru, J., Visser T., van Reeuwijk, M., Maro, G., Massawe, A., Kalongola, I., Francis, J., Changalucha, J. and Mshana, G. 2012. *Rethinking the 'Teacher' in School-Based, Teachers-Led Sexuality Education Programmes in Rural and Urban Tanzania.* 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract No. THAD0306. http:// www.iasociety.org/Abstracts/A200747331.aspx . (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ¹⁹⁴ Corona, E. and Arango, M. 2010. Teacher Training on Sexuality Education in Latin America and the Caribbean: Case Studies in Five Countries. Santiago, UNESCO and Demysex.
- ¹⁹⁵ Plummer, D. 2010. HIV in Caribbean schools: the role of HIV education in the second most severely affected region in the world. M. Morrissey et al. (eds), *Challenging HIV/ AIDS: A New Role for Education*. Kingston, UNESCO and Ian Randle Publishers.
- ¹⁹⁶ Cobbler, M. A. 2012a. Uncomfortable Silences: Narratives of Four Educators Teaching About HIV/AIDS in a High School Near Montréal. Washington, DC, 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract No. THAD0305. http://www.iasociety.org/Abstracts/A200745306. aspx .
- ¹⁹⁷ Cobbler, M. A. 2012b. Uncomfortable Silences: Narratives of Four Educators Teaching About HIV/AIDS in a High School Near Montréal. MA Thesis, Department of Education, Concordia University, Montréal. http://spectrum.library.concordia.ca/974048/1/ Cobbler_MA_S2012.pdf.
- ¹⁹⁸ Cobbler, M. A. 2012a. Uncomfortable Silences: Narratives of Four Educators Teaching About HIV/AIDS in a High School Near Montréal. Washington, DC, 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract No. THAD0305. http://www.iasociety.org/Abstracts/A200745306. aspx.
- ¹⁹⁹ Ochieng, R.M. 2012a. Gender and HIV/AIDS education in the multi-cultural context of schools in Kakuma refugee camp in Kenya. 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract no. THAD0304. http://www.iasociety.org/Default.aspx?pageId=12&abstract Id=200744697
- ²⁰⁰ Ochieng, R.M. 2012b. Gender and HIV/AIDS education in the multi-cultural context of schools in Kakuma refugee camp and its host community in Kenya. 19th International AIDS Conference, Washington D.C., U.S.A, 22-25 July 2012. A PowerPoint Presentation. Kenyatta University, Kenya.
- ²⁰¹ Ochieng, R.M. 2012a. Gender and HIV/AIDS education in the multi-cultural context of schools in Kakuma refugee camp in Kenya. 19th International AIDS Conference: Abstract no. THAD0304. http://www.iasociety.org/Default.aspx?pageId=12&abstract Id=200744697
- ²⁰² Ochieng, R.M. 2012b. Gender and HIV/AIDS education in the multi-cultural context of schools in Kakuma refugee camp and its host community in Kenya. 19th International AIDS Conference, Washington D.C., U.S.A, 22-25 July 2012. A PowerPoint Presentation. Kenyatta University, Kenya.
- ²⁰³ Bhana, D. 2009. 'They've got all the knowledge': HIV education, gender, and sexuality in South African primary schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 165-77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01425690802700222.
- ²⁰⁴ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- ²⁰⁵ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.

- ²⁰⁶ Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.
- ²⁰⁷ Steinhart, K., von Kenel, A., Cerruti, S., Chequer, P., Gomes, R., Herlt, C. and Horstick, O. 2013. International networking for sexuality education: a politically sensitive subject. *Sex Education*, forthcoming.
- ²⁰⁸ Wood, L. 2012. 'Every teacher is a researcher!': creating indigenous epistemologies and practices for HIV prevention through values-based action research. *SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS: An Open Access Journal*, Vol. 9, No. Sup 1, pp. S19–S27. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/17290376.2012.744910.
- ²⁰⁹ Weiler, J. M. and Weiler, C. J. M. 2012. Addressing HIV/AIDS education: a look at teacher preparedness in Ghana. *Journal of International Social Studies*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 14–25.
- ²¹⁰ Pohan, M. N., Hinduan, Z. R., Riynati, E., Mukaromah, E., Mutiara, T., Tasya, I. A., Sumintardja, E. N., Pinxten, W. J. L. and Hospers, H. J. 2011. HIV-AIDS prevention through a life-skills school based program in Bandung, West Java, Indonesia: evidence of empowerment and partnership in education. *Procedia Social and Behavioural Sciences*, Vol. 15, pp. 526–30.
- ²¹¹ Lohmann, T., Tam, P., Hopman, W. M. and Wobeser, W. 2009. Knowledge of and attitudes towards HIV/AIDS among school teachers in Belize. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, Vol. 13, pp. e228–e235.
- ²¹² Clarke, D. J. 2008. *Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV*. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ²¹³ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Volume I: The Rationale for Sexuality Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ²¹⁴ UNESCO. 2007. *Review of Sex, Relationships and HIV Education in Schools*. Prepared for the first meeting of UNESCO's Global Advisory Group meeting, 13–14 December 2007. Paris, UNESCO.
- ²¹⁵ Ross, D. A., Dick, B. and Ferguson, J. (eds). 2006. Preventing HIV/AIDS in Young People: A Systematic Review of Evidence from Developing Countries. WHO Technical Report Series No. 938. Geneva, WHO.
- ²¹⁶ Smith, G., Kippax, S., Aggleton P. and Tyrer, P. 2003. HIV/AIDS school-based education in selected Asia-Pacific countries. *Sex Education*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 3–21.
- ²¹⁷ Schenker, I. 2001. New challenges for school AIDS education within an evolving pandemic. *Prospects*, Vol. 31, No. 3, pp. 415–34.
- ²¹⁸ Aggleton P., Clarke, D., Crewe, M., Kippax, S., Parker, R. and Yankah, E. 2012. Educating about HIV: prevention, impact mitigation and care. *AIDS*, Vol. 26, No. 10, pp. 1215–22.
- ²¹⁹ UNESCO. 2012. Review of Policies and Strategies to Implement and Scale Up Sexuality Education in Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0021/002150/215091e.pdf.
- ²²⁰ Kibombo, R., Neema, S., Moore, A. and Ahmed, F. H. 2008. Adults' Perceptions of Adolescents' Sexual and Reproductive Health: Qualitative Evidence from Uganda. Occasional Report No. 35. New York, Guttmacher Institute.
- ²²¹ Pojharel, S., Kulczycki, A. and Shakya, S. 2006. School-based sex education in Western Nepal: uncomfortable for both teachers and students. *Reproductive Health Matters*, Vol. 14, No. 28, pp. 156–61.

- 222 Allen, L. 2005. Sexual Subjects: Young People, Sexuality and Education. Basingstoke, Palgrave MacMillan.
- ²²³ Smith, G., Kippax, S., Aggleton P. and Tyrer, P. 2003. HIV/AIDS school-based education in selected Asia-Pacific countries. *Sex Education*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 3–21.
- ²²⁴ Boler, T. 2003. The Sound of Silence: Difficulties in Communicating on HIV/AIDS in Schools. Experiences from India and Kenya. London, ActionAid. http://www.ibe.unesco.org/ uploads/media/HIV_AIDS_187_06.pdf.
- ²²⁵ Kehily, M. J. 2002. Sexing the subject: teachers, pedagogies and sex education. *Sex Education*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 215–30.
- ²²⁶ Kinsman, J., Nakiyingi, J., Kamali, A., Carpenter, L., Quigley, M., Pool, R. and Whitworth, J. 2001. Evaluation of a comprehensive school-based AIDS education programme in rural Masaka, Uganda. *Health Education Research*, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 65–100.
- ²²⁷ Nath, A. 2009. HIV and Indian youth–a review of the literature (1980–2008). *Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 2–8.
- ²²⁸ Lal, S. S., Vasan, R. S., Sankara Sarma, P. and Thankappan, K. R. 2000. Knowledge and attitude of college students in Kerala towards HIV/AIDS, sexually transmitted diseases and sexuality. *The National Medical Journal of India*, Vol. 13, No. 5, pp. 231–36.
- ²²⁹ Chamsanit, V. 1999. Country study of Thailand. ARROW, *Taking Up the Cairo Challenge: Country Studies in Asia-Pacific*, pp. 47–78. Kuala Lumpur, ARROW.
- ²³⁰ Iyer, P. and Aggleton, P. 2013. 'Virginity is a Virtue: Prevent Early Sex' teacher perceptions of sex education in a Ugandan secondary school. *British Journal of Sociology* of Education. iFirst, DOI: 10.1080/01425692.2013.777206.
- ²³¹ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²³² Aggleton, P., Yankah, E. and Crewe, M. 2011. Education and HIV/AIDS 30 years on. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, Vol. 23, No. 6, pp. 495–507.
- ²³³ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²³⁴ Clarke, D. J. 2008. *Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV*. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ²³⁵ Weiler, J. M. and Weiler, C. J. M. 2012. Addressing HIV/AIDS education: a look at teacher preparedness in Ghana. *Journal of International Social Studies*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 14–25.
- ²³⁶ Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.
- ²³⁷ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²³⁸ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²³⁹ Wood, L. 2009. 'Not only a teacher, but an ambassador': Facilitating HIV/AIDS educators to take action. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 81–92.

- ²⁴⁰ Weiler J. M. and Weiler, C. J. M. 2012. Addressing HIV/AIDS education: a look at teacher preparedness in Ghana. *Journal of International Social Studies*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 14–25.
- ²⁴¹ Ibid.
- ²⁴² Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.
- ²⁴³ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²⁴⁴ Ibid.
- ²⁴⁵ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁴⁶ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²⁴⁷ Weiler, J. M. and Weiler, C. J. M. 2012. Addressing HIV/AIDS education: a look at teacher preparedness in Ghana. *Journal of International Social Studies*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 14–25.
- ²⁴⁸ Petersen, N., de Beer, J. and Dunbar-Krige, H. 2011. Use of a simulation game for HIV/ AIDS education with pre-service teachers. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 73–81.
- ²⁴⁹ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁵⁰ Clarke, D. J. 2008. *Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV*. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ²⁵¹ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁵² UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- ²⁵³ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁵⁴ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- ²⁵⁵ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁵⁶ Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.

- ²⁵⁷ Pohan, M. N., Hinduan, Z. R., Riynati, E., Mukaromah, E., Mutiara, T., Tasya, I. A., Sumintardja, E. N., Pinxten, W. J. L. and Hospers, H. J. 2011. HIV-AIDS prevention through a life-skills school based program in Bandung, West Java, Indonesia: evidence of empowerment and partnership in education. *Procedia Social and Behavioural Sciences*, Vol. 15, pp. 526–30.
- ²⁵⁸ Wood, L. 2012. 'Every teacher is a researcher!': creating indigenous epistemologies and practices for HIV prevention through values-based action research. *SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS: An Open Access Journal*, Vol. 9, No. Sup 1, pp. S19–S27. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/17290376.2012.744910.
- ²⁵⁹ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²⁶⁰ Ibid.
- ²⁶¹ Steinhart, K., von Kenel, A., Cerruti, S., Chequer, P., Gomes, R., Herlt, C. and Horstick, O. 2013. International networking for sexuality education: a politically sensitive subject. *Sex Education*, forthcoming.
- ²⁶² Weiler, J. M. and Weiler, C. J. M. 2012. Addressing HIV/AIDS education: a look at teacher preparedness in Ghana. *Journal of International Social Studies*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 14–25.
- ²⁶³ Pohan, M. N., Hinduan, Z. R., Riynati, E., Mukaromah, E., Mutiara, T., Tasya, I. A., Sumintardja, E. N., Pinxten, W. J. L. and Hospers, H. J. 2011. HIV-AIDS prevention through a life-skills school based program in Bandung, West Java, Indonesia: evidence of empowerment and partnership in education. *Proceedia Social and Behavioural Sciences*, Vol. 15, pp. 526–30.
- ²⁶⁴ Iyer, P. and Aggleton, P. 2013. 'Virginity is a Virtue: Prevent Early Sex' teacher perceptions of sex education in a Ugandan secondary school. *British Journal of Sociology* of *Education*. iFirst, DOI: 10.1080/01425692.2013.777206.
- ²⁶⁵ UNESCO. 2007. *Review of Sex, Relationships and HIV Education in Schools*. Prepared for the first meeting of UNESCO's Global Advisory Group meeting, 13–14 December 2007. Paris, UNESCO.
- ²⁶⁶ Ross, D. A., Dick, B. and Ferguson, J. (eds). 2006. Preventing HIV/AIDS in Young People: A Systematic Review of Evidence from Developing Countries. WHO Technical Report Series No. 938. Geneva, WHO.
- ²⁶⁷ UNESCO. 2012. A Situation-Response Analysis of the Education Sector's Response to HIV, Drugs and Sexual Health in Timor Leste. Jakarta, UNESCO.
- ²⁶⁸ Schwille, J. and Dembele, M. 2007. *Global Perspectives on Teacher Learning: Improving Policy and Practice.* Fundamentals of Educational Planning series, No. 84. Paris, IIEP/ UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001502/150261e.pdf.
- ²⁶⁹ Smith, G., Kippax, S., Aggleton P. and Tyrer, P. 2003. HIV/AIDS school-based education in selected Asia-Pacific countries. *Sex Education*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 3–21.
- ²⁷⁰ Schwille, J. and Dembele, M. 2007. *Global Perspectives on Teacher Learning: Improving Policy and Practice.* Fundamentals of Educational Planning series, No. 84. Paris, IIEP/ UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0015/001502/150261e.pdf.
- ²⁷¹ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²⁷² James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁷³ Ibid.

- ²⁷⁴ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²⁷⁵ Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.
- ²⁷⁶ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- 277 Birdthistle, I. and Vince-Whitman, C. 1997. Reproductive Health Programs for Young Adults: School-Based Programs. Washington, DC, FOCUS on Young Adults.
- ²⁷⁸ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁷⁹ Onyango, M. O. 2009. Exploring the preparation of teachers to teach about HIV/AIDS in Kenya. *Educate* Special Issue, pp. 37–47.
- ²⁸⁰ Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.
- ²⁸¹ Ibid.
- ²⁸² James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁸³ Clarke, D. J. 2008. *Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV.* Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ²⁸⁴ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁸⁵ Obare, F. and Birungi, H. 2013. Policy scripts and students' realities regarding sexuality education in secondary schools in Kenya. *Sex Education*, forthcoming.
- ²⁸⁶ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁸⁷ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Volume I: The Rationale for Sexuality Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ²⁸⁸ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa*. Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁸⁹ Steinhart, K., von Kenel, A., Cerruti, S., Chequer, P., Gomes, R., Herlt, C. and Horstick, O. 2013. International networking for sexuality education: a politically sensitive subject. *Sex Education*, forthcoming.
- ²⁹⁰ Ibid.

- ²⁹¹ James-Traore, T. A., Finger, W., Ruland, C. D. and Savariaud, S. 2004. *Teacher Training: Essential for School-Based Reproductive Health and HIV/AIDS Education. Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa.* Youth Issues Paper 3, YouthNet Program. Arlington, VA, Family Health International.
- ²⁹² Kelly, M. J. 2009. Teacher formation and development in the context of HIV/AIDS. International Institute for Educational Planning and Mobile Task Team on the Impact of HIV/AIDS on Education (MTT), *Educational Planning and Management in a World with AIDS*. Paris, IIEP.
- ²⁹³ Senderowitz, J. and Kirby, D. 2006. Standards for Curriculum-Based Reproductive Health and HIV Education Programs. Arlington, VA, Family Health International/YouthNet.
- ²⁹⁴ Zisser, A. and Francis, D. 2006. Youth have a new attitude on AIDS but are they talking about it? *African Journal of AIDS Research*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 189–96.
- ²⁹⁵ UNESCO. 2012. Review of Policies and Strategies to Implement and Scale Up Sexuality Education in Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0021/002150/215091e.pdf.
- ²⁹⁶ Steinhart, K., von Kenel, A., Cerruti, S., Chequer, P., Gomes, R., Herlt, C. and Horstick, O. 2013. International networking for sexuality education: a politically sensitive subject. *Sex Education*, forthcoming.
- ²⁹⁷ UNESCO, 2012. Comprehensive sexuality education: the challenges of scaling up. Conference ready version. Paris, UNESCO. http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/ search/resources/CSE_scaling_up_conference_ready_version.pdf. (Accessed 21 October 2013.)
- ²⁹⁸ Nigeria: http://www.arfh-ng.org/hiv.php.
- ²⁹⁹ India: http://mhrd.gov.in/adolesence_education .
- ³⁰⁰ See http://eisdatos.ippfwhr.org/contenido/acerca-de .
- ³⁰¹ http://sti.bmj.com/content/87/Suppl_1/A328.3.abstract.
- ³⁰² http://www.ippfwhr.org/sites/default/files/ippf_ar10_en_fa.pdf.
- ³⁰³ UNESCO, 2012. Comprehensive sexuality education: the challenges of scaling up. Conference ready version. Paris, UNESCO. http://hivaidsclearinghouse.unesco.org/ search/resources/CSE_scaling_up_conference_ready_version.pdf. (Accessed 21 October 2013.)
- 304 Ibid.
- ³⁰⁵ Ibid.
- ³⁰⁶ UNESCO. 2012. Review of Policies and Strategies to Implement and Scale Up Sexuality Education in Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0021/002150/215091e.pdf.
- ³⁰⁷ Smith, G., Kippax, S. and Aggleton, P. 2000. *HIV and Sexual Health Education in Primary and Secondary Schools: Findings from Selected Asia-Pacific Countries.* Sydney, National Centre in HIV Social Research, Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of New South Wales. http://nchsr.arts.unsw.edu.au/media/File/asian_pacific.pdf.
- ³⁰⁸ PNG Department of Education. 2012. *HIV and AIDS Policy for the National Education System of Papua New Guinea 2012–2016.* Port Moresby, PNG Department of Education.
- ³⁰⁹ Cambodia Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport (MoEYS). 2008. Workplace Policy on HIV and AIDS. Phnom Penh, MoEYS. http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--ed_protect/---protrav/---ilo_aids/documents/legaldocument/wcms_191146.pdf.

- ³¹⁰ UNESCO. 2012. Review of Policies and Strategies to Implement and Scale Up Sexuality Education in Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0021/002150/215091e.pdf. This review built on earlier regional reviews including Clarke, D. 2012. Sexuality Education in Asia: Are We Delivering? An Assessment from a Rights-Based Perspective. Bangkok, PLAN International (http://plan-international.org/ files/Asia/publications/sexualityeducation) and Smith, G., Kippax, S. and Aggleton, P. 2000. HIV and Sexual Health Education in Primary and Secondary Schools: Findings from Selected Asia-Pacific Countries. Sydney, National Centre in HIV Social Research, Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of New South Wales. http://nchsr.arts.unsw.edu.au/ media/File/asian_pacific.pdf.
- ³¹¹ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Volume I: The Rationale for Sexuality Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³¹² Ibid. for a detailed breakdown of subjects to be covered by age group.
- ³¹³ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Raw data file available upon request from aids@unesco.org.
- ³¹⁴ Tanzania Institute of Education (TIE), Ministry of Education and Vocational Training (MoEVT). 2012. Strengthening Existing Components of SRH/HIV/LS Curricula in Primary and Secondary Education in Tanzania Mainland. A report on Sexuality Education Review and Assessment. Unpublished report.
- ³¹⁵ See UNESCO and UNFPA. 2012. Sexuality Education: A Ten-Country Review of School Curricula in East and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³¹⁶ Boler, T. 2003. The Sound of Silence: Difficulties in Communicating on HIV/AIDS in Schools. Experiences from India and Kenya. London, ActionAid. http://www.ibe.unesco.org/ uploads/media/HIV_AIDS_187_06.pdf.
- ³¹⁷ UNICEF. 2012. Progress for Children. A Report Card on Adolescents. Number 10. New York, UNICEF.
- ³¹⁸ Currie, C. et al., eds. 2012. Social Determinants of Health and Well-Being among Young People. Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Study: International Report from the 2009/2010 Survey. Health Policy for Children and Adolescents, No. 6. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe. http://www.euro.who.int/en/what-we-publish/ abstracts/social-determinants-of-health-and-well-being-among-young-people.-healthbehaviour-in-school-aged-children-hbsc-study. (Accessed 17 October 2013.)
- ³¹⁹ Plummer, D. 2010. HIV in Caribbean schools: the role of HIV education in the second most severely affected region in the world. M. Morrissey et al. (eds), *Challenging HIV/ AIDS: A New Role for Education*. Kingston, UNESCO and Ian Randle Publishers.
- Maticka-Tyndale, E., Wildish, J. and Gichuru, M. 2007. Quasi-experimental evaluation of a national primary school HIV intervention in Kenya. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, Vol. 30, pp. 172–86.
- ³²¹ Meekers, D. and Ahmed, G. 2000. Contemporary patterns of adolescent sexuality in urban Botswana. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, Vol. 32, pp. 467–85.
- ³²² UNESCO. 2013 (forthcoming). Regional Diagnostic Report on Education and Services for Sexual and Reproductive Health of Adolescents and Young People in Eastern and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³²³ Lloyd, C. B. (ed.). 2005. Growing Up Global: The Changing Transitions to Adulthood in Developing Countries. Washington, DC, National Academies Press.
- ³²⁴ UNICEF. 2011. State of the World's Children: Adolescence: An Age of Opportunity. New York, UNICEF.

- ³²⁵ Sawyer, S. M., Afifi, R. A., Bearinger, L. H. et al. 2012. Adolescence: a foundation for future health. *The Lancet*, Vol. 379 (9826), pp. 1630–40.
- ³²⁶ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Volume I: The Rationale for Sexuality Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³²⁷ Chong, E., Hallman, K. and Brady, M. 2006. *Investing When it Counts: Generating the Evidence Base for Policy and Programmers for Very Young Adolescents*. New York, Population Council.
- ³²⁸ WHO. 2011. The Sexual and Reproductive Health of Young Adolescents in Developing Countries: Reviewing the Evidence, Identifying Research Gaps and Moving the Agenda. Report of a WHO Technical Consultation, Geneva, 4–5 November 2010. Geneva, WHO.
- ³²⁹ Institute for Reproductive Health, Georgetown University. 2010. Advancing Promising Program and Research/ Evaluation Practices for Evidence-based Programs Reaching Very Young Adolescents: A Review of the Literature. Washington, DC, Institute for Reproductive Health, Georgetown University.
- ³³⁰ UNAIDS Best Practice Collection. 1997. *Impact of HIV and Sexual Health Education on the Sexual Behaviour of Young People: A Review Update.* Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ³³¹ Maticka-Tyndale, E., Wildish, J. and Gichuru, M. 2007. Quasi-experimental evaluation of a national primary school HIV intervention in Kenya. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, Vol. 30, pp. 172–86.
- ³³² UNESCO. 2007. Strong Foundations for Gender Equality in Early Childhood Care and Education. Bangkok, UNESCO. http://www2.unescobkk.org/elib/publications/125_126/ advocacy_brief_ECCE.pdf.
- ³³³ UNESCO. 2006. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2007. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³³⁴ UIS. 2012. Global Education Digest 2012. Opportunities Lost: The Impact of Grade Repetition and Early School Leaving. Montreal, UIS.
- ³³⁵ UNICEF. 2012. Progress for Children 2012 A Report Card on Adolescents. New York, UNICEF.
- ³³⁶ Population Reference Bureau. 2011. Who Speaks for Me? Ending Child Marriage. Washington, DC, PRB.
- ³³⁷ UNFPA. 2012. Marrying Too Young: End Child Marriage. New York, UNFPA.
- ³³⁸ UNESCO. 2013 (forthcoming). *Regional Diagnostic Report on Education and Services for Sexual and Reproductive Health of Adolescents and Young People in Eastern and Southern Africa.* Paris, UNESCO.
- ³³⁹ Lloyd, C. B. (ed.). 2005. Growing Up Global: The Changing Transitions to Adulthood in Developing Countries. Washington, DC, National Academies Press.
- ³⁴⁰ UNICEF. 2011. State of the World's Children: Adolescence: An Age of Opportunity. New York, UNICEF.
- ³⁴¹ UNICEF. 2012. Progress for Children 2012 A Report Card on Adolescents. New York, UNICEF.
- ³⁴² WHO. 2011. WHO Guidelines on Preventing Early Pregnancy and Poor Reproductive Outcomes among Adolescents in Developing Countries. Geneva, WHO.
- ³⁴³ WHO. 2011. Unsafe Abortion: Global and Regional Estimates of the Incidence of Unsafe Abortion and Associated Mortality in 2008. Geneva, WHO.
- ³⁴⁴ UNESCO. 2009. International Technical Guidance on Sexuality Education An Evidence-Informed Approach for Schools, Teachers and Health Educators. Volume I: The Rationale for Sexuality Education. Paris, UNESCO.

- ³⁴⁵ Maticka-Tyndale, E., Wildish, J. and Gichuru, M. 2007. Quasi-experimental evaluation of a national primary school HIV intervention in Kenya. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, Vol. 30, pp. 172–86.
- ³⁴⁶ Meekers, D. and Ahmed, G. 2000. Contemporary patterns of adolescent sexuality in urban Botswana. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, Vol. 32, pp. 467–85.
- ³⁴⁷ Association of Commonwealth Universities, University of Natal, 1999.
- ³⁴⁸ ADEA WGHE (Association for the Development of Education in Africa Working Group on Higher Education). 2006. *Higher Education Institutions in Africa Responding to HIV/ AIDS*. Accra, ADEA.
- ³⁴⁹ AAU. 2007. HIV and AIDS and Higher Education in Africa: A Review of Best Practice Models and Trends. Accra, AAU.
- ³⁵⁰ HEAIDS (Higher Education HIV and AIDS Programme). 2010. HIV Prevalence and Related Factors, Higher Education Sector Study, South Africa 2008–2009. Pretoria, HEAIDS.
- ³⁵¹ Zheng, J., Wu, Z., Poundstone, K. E., Pang, L. and Rou, K. 2012. HIV, syphilis infection, and risky sexual behaviors among male university students who have sex with men in Beijing, China: a cross-sectional study. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, Vol. 24, No. 1, pp. 78–88.
- ³⁵² Ahmed, S. I., Hassali, M. A. and Aziz, N. A. 2009. An assessment of the knowledge, attitudes, and risk perceptions of pharmacy students regarding HIV/AIDS. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, Vol. 73, No. 1, pp. 1–15.
- ³⁵³ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Raw data file available upon request from aids@unesco.org.
- 354 Ibid.
- ³⁵⁵ ADEA WGHE (Association for the Development of Education in Africa Working Group on Higher Education). 2006. *Higher Education Institutions in Africa Responding to HIV/ AIDS*. Accra, ADEA.
- ³⁵⁶ University of Cape Town, HIV/AIDS Institutional Co-ordination Unit (HAICU). 2012. The Response to HIV and AIDS at UCT. Report to Council: March 2012. http://www.uct.ac.za/ downloads/uct.ac.za/about/introducing/aids/aids_councilreport12.pdf. (Accessed 26 March 2013.)
- ³⁵⁷ AAU. 2007. *HIV and AIDS and Higher Education in Africa: A Review of Best Practice Models and Trends*. Accra, AAU.
- ³⁵⁸ Inputs also provided by Peter Aggleton, Pierre Brouard and Jimmy Pieterse. See also http://csa.za.org/resources/cat_view/52-aids-reviews.
- ³⁵⁹ De Cock, K. M., Mbori-Ngacha, D. and Marum, E. 2002. Shadow on the continent: public health and HIV/AIDS in the 21st century. *The Lancet*, Vol. 360, pp. 67–72.
- ³⁶⁰ Svenson, L.W., Carmel, S. and Verhagen, C.K. 1997. A review of the knowledge, attitudes and behaviours of university students concerning HIV/AIDS. *Health Promotion International*, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 61–68.
- ³⁶¹ Kelly, M. 2003. The significance of HIV/AIDS for universities in Africa. Journal of Higher Education in Africa / Revue de l'enseignement supérieur en Afrique, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 1–23.
- ³⁶² Chetty, D. 2003. An HIV/AIDS Toolkit for Tertiary Institutions. Case Study Prepared for a Regional Training Conference on Improving Tertiary Education in Sub Saharan Africa: Things That Work! Accra, September 23–25 2003.
- ³⁶³ There is a culture of 'prescription' that seems to have attached to HIV and AIDS work in tertiary institutions in Africa. Toolkits have checklists and targets to be met and a range of focus areas that need to be addressed. The same is true of the work of HEAIDS in South Africa.

- ³⁶⁴ Castells, M., cited in Badat, S. 2009. *The Role of Higher Education in Society: Valuing Higher Education*. Presentation to the University of Cape Town Graduate School of Business. http://www.ru.ac.za/vice-chancellor/speechespresentations/name,58754,en.html.
- ³⁶⁵ Brennan, J., King, R. and Lebeau, Y. 2004. *The Role of Universities in the Transformation of Societies*. Centre for Higher Education Research and Information. London, the Open University and Association of Commonwealth Universities.
- ³⁶⁶ Badat, S. 2009. The Role of Higher Education in Society: Valuing Higher Education. Presentation to the University of Cape Town Graduate School of Business. http://www. ru.ac.za/vice-chancellor/speechespresentations/name,58754,en.html.
- ³⁶⁷ UNAIDS. 2012. UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2012. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ³⁶⁸ See the work of Auerbach et al. on the social drivers of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Auerbach, J., Parkhurst, J. and Caceres, C. 2011. Addressing social drivers of HIV/AIDS for the long-term response: conceptual and methodological considerations. *Global Public Health: An International Journal for Research, Policy and Practice*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 1–17.
- ³⁶⁹ See e.g. the comment by Berkman, A. et al.: two key concepts that underlay the social mobilization for democracy and that would in turn prove to be central to the Brazilian response to HIV and AIDS were "citizenship" and "solidarity". Berkman, A., Garcia, J., Munoz-Laboy, M., Paiva, V. and Parker, R. 2005. A critical analysis of the Brazilian response to HIV/AIDS: lessons learned for controlling and mitigating the epidemic in developing countries. *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 95, No. 7, pp. 1162-72.
- ³⁷⁰ See Brouard, Pierre. 2012. Hypocrisy, HIV and higher education: an 'institutional integrity' hypothesis. M. Crewe and C. Volks (eds), *Third Degree: AIDS Review*. Pretoria, University of Pretoria Centre for the Study of AIDS. See also Crewe, M., op.cit.
- ³⁷¹ Mama cited in Mkandawire, T. (ed.). 2005. African Intellectuals Rethinking Politics, Language, Gender and Development. London, Zed Books.
- ³⁷² Ki-Zerbo cited in Mkandawire, op.cit.
- ³⁷³ UNAIDS. 2012. UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, UNAIDS. http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/epidemiology/2012/ gr2012/20121120_UNAIDS_Global_Report_2012_en.pdf.
- ³⁷⁴ See also United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), International Labour Organization (ILO), World Health Organization (WHO), World Bank. 2011. Opportunity in Crisis: Preventing HIV from Early Adolescence to Young Adulthood. New York, UNICEF. http://www.unicef.org/media/files/Opportunity_in_Crisis_LoRes_EN_05182011.pdf
- ³⁷⁵ Commission on AIDS in the Pacific. 2009. Turning the Tide: An OPEN Strategy for a Response to AIDS in the Pacific. Suva, UNAIDS. http://data.unaids.org/pub/ Report/2009/20091202_pacificcommission_en.pdf.
- ³⁷⁶ See also Sladden, T. 2005. Twenty years of HIV surveillance in the Pacific—what do the data tell us and what do we still need to know? *Pac Health Dialog*, Vol. 12, pp. 23–37.
- ³⁷⁷ UNFPA. 2010. Breaking the Silence: Responding to the STI Epidemic in the Pacific. Summary of Recommendations. Suva, UNFPA.
- ³⁷⁸ In concentrated epidemics, HIV has spread rapidly in one or more key populations but is not well established in the general population. Typically, the prevalence is over 5 per cent in sub-populations while remaining under 1 per cent in the general population. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. 2011. UNAIDS Terminology Guidelines. Geneva, UNAIDS.

- ³⁷⁹ Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS Inter-Agency Task Team on HIV and Young People. 2008. *Guidance Brief: HIV Interventions for Most-at-risk Young People*. New York, United Nations Population Fund, HIV/AIDS Branch.
- ³⁸⁰ FHI. 2010. Young People Most at Risk of HIV: A Meeting Report and Discussion Paper from the Interagency Youth Working Group, USAID, UNAIDS IATT on HIV and Young People and FHI. Unpublished report.
- ³⁸¹ Commission on AIDS in Asia. 2008. Redefining AIDS in Asia. Crafting an Effective Response. New Delhi, Oxford University Press. http://data.unaids.org/pub/ Report/2008/20080326_report_commission_aids_en.pdf.
- ³⁸² In Pakistan in 2011, HIV prevalence was reported to be 33.9 per cent among people under 25 injecting drugs, as compared to 25.3 per cent among those aged 25 and above. HIV and AIDS Data Hub, www.aidsdatahub.org, based on Pakistan's 2012 Global AIDS Response Progress Report.
- ³⁸³ HIV and AIDS Data Hub, www.aidsdatahub.org, based on India's National Behavioral Surveillance Report.
- ³⁸⁴ UN General Assembly Resolution 65/277. 2011. Political Declaration on HIV and AIDS: Intensifying Our Efforts to Eliminate HIV and AIDS. A/RES/65/277. New York, UN.
- ³⁸⁵ Bhutan Department of Youth and Sports, Ministry of Education, The Nossal Institute for Global Health and Centre for Research Institute Thimpu. 2011. An Assessment of Vulnerable and At-Risk Adolescents (13–18 Years) in Bhutan: Exploring Social and Health Risk Behaviours. Thimpu, UNICEF (unpublished).
- ³⁸⁶ Cambodia Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports. 2010. Most-At-Risk Young People Survey Cambodia 2010. Unpublished document.
- ³⁸⁷ For more on the process of the survey, see UNICEF. 2010. Getting It Right: Finding Out About Cambodia's Most at Risk and Vulnerable Youth People. Phnom Penh, UNICEF. http://youtu.be/CYd9AUXfu8g.
- ³⁸⁸ The GSHS was developed by the World Health Organization (WHO) in collaboration with UNICEF, UNESCO, UNAIDS and CDC. GSHS is a school-based survey conducted primarily among students aged 13–15 which aims to: help countries develop priorities, establish programmes and advocate for resources for school health and youth health programs and policies; allow comparisons across countries regarding the prevalence of health behaviours and protective factors; and establish trends in the prevalence of health behaviours and protective factors by country for use in evaluation of school health and youth health promotion. See: http://www.cdc.gov/gshs/.
- ³⁸⁹ Van Griensven, F. et al. 2009. The global epidemic of HIV infection among men who have sex with men. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 300–07.
- ³⁹⁰ Brown, G., Sorenson, A. and Hildebrand. J. 2011. How they got it and how they wanted it: marginalised young people's perspective on their experiences of sexual health education. *Sex Education.* Vol. 2, No. 5, pp. 599–612.
- ³⁹¹ UNESCO and UNFPA. 2012. Sexuality Education: A Ten-Country Review of School Curricula in East and Southern Africa. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³⁹² Hong, F. C., Zhou, H. et al. 2008. Prevalence of syphilis and HIV infections among men who have sex with men from different settings in Shenzhen, China: implications for HIV/ STD surveillance. *Sexual Transmitted Infections*, Vol. 85, pp. 42–44, as cited in Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, United Nations Development Programme, Asia-Pacific Coalition on Male Sexual Health, and HIV and AIDS Data Hub for Asia-Pacific. 2012. *Country Snapshots: China: HIV and Men Who Have Sex with Men.* Bangkok, UNDP.

- ³⁹³ Aresu, A. 2012. HIV prevention and gender in Chinese sexuality education textbooks. UNESCO, Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Health Education, Booklet 7: Gender Equality, HIV and Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ³⁹⁴ Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. 2010. UNAIDS Business Case: HIV and Drug Use. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ³⁹⁵ UNAIDS. 2012. 2012 Global Report on the AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, UNAIDS. http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/epidemiology/2012/ gr2012/20121120_UNAIDS_Global_Report_2012_with_annexes_en.pdf.
- ³⁹⁶ About 16 million people inject drugs globally, including many younger than 25 years of age, according to Mathers, B. et al. 2008. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. *The Lancet*, Vol. 372, pp. 1733–45.
- ³⁹⁷ UNAIDS. 2012. 2012 Global Report on the AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, UNAIDS. http:// www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/epidemiology/2012/ gr2012/20121120_UNAIDS_Global_Report_2012_with_annexes_en.pdf.
- ³⁹⁸ UNICEF. 2010. Blame and Banishment. The Underground HIV Epidemic Affecting Children in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Geneva, UNICEF. http://www.unicef.org/ceecis/ UNICEF_BlameBanishment_WEB_final.pdf.
- ³⁹⁹ Cahill, H. W. 2007. Challenges in adopting evidence-based school drug education programmes. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, Vol. 26, No. 6, pp. 673–79.
- ⁴⁰⁰ Dusenbury, L., Brannigan, R., Falco, M. and Hansen, W. B. 2003. A review of research on fidelity of implementation: implications for drug abuse prevention in school settings. *Health Education Research*, Vol. 18, No. 2, pp. 237–56.
- ⁴⁰¹ Soole, D. W., Mazerolle, L. and Rombouts, S. 2008. School-based adolescent drug prevention programs: a review of what works. *Australia and New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, Vol. 41, pp. 259–86.
- ⁴⁰² Wood, E., Shakeshaf, A., Gilmour, S. and Sanson-Fisher, R. 2006. A systematic review of school-based studies involving alcohol and the community. *Australia and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 30, No. 6, pp. 541–49.
- ⁴⁰³ Cahill, H. 2006. *Taking an Evidence-Based Approach to Classroom Drug Education*. Melbourne, Department of Education and Early Childhood Development.
- ⁴⁰⁴ Balakireva, O., Grund, J.-P., Barendregt, C., Rubanets, Y., Ryabova, M., Volyk, A., Levchuk, N., Meshcherina, O. and Bondar, T. 2006. *Risk and Protective Factors in the Initiation of Injecting Drug Use. Analytical Report and Strategy Paper Preventing the Initiation of Injecting Drug Use among Vulnerable Adolescents and Young People.* Kiev, UNICEF, UNAIDS, p. 10.
- ⁴⁰⁵ Ibid., p. 89
- ⁴⁰⁶ Kosciw, J. G., Greytak, E. A. and Diaz, E. M. 2009. Who, what, where, when, and why: demographic and ecological factors contributing to hostile school climate for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, Vol. 38, No. 7, pp. 976–88.
- ⁴⁰⁷ See also Hunt, R. and Jensen, J. 2007. *The Experiences of Young Gay People in Britain's Schools*. London, Stonewall UK.
- ⁴⁰⁸ UNESCO and the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). 2012. Positive Learning: Meeting the Needs of Young People Living with HIV (YPLHIV) in the Education Sector. Paris, UNESCO.

- ⁴⁰⁹ WHO. 2008. Strengthening the Health Sector Response to Care, Support, Treatment and Prevention for Young People Living with HIV. WHO/UNICEF Global Consultation, 13–17 November 2006. Blantyre, Malawi, WHO.
- ⁴¹⁰ EduSector AIDS Response Trust (ESART). 2011. Progress Report on Education Sector (EDSEC) Engagement in National HIV and AIDS Responses, Phase 1 Summary Report. Unpublished project report.
- ⁴¹¹ UNAIDS. 2005. Resource Needs for an Expanded Response to AIDS in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁴¹² Hogan, D. R. et al. 2005. Cost-effectiveness analysis of strategies to combat HIV/AIDS in developing countries. *British Medical Journal*, Vol. 331, No. 1431, pp. 1–7.
- ⁴¹³ International dollars are a hypothetical unit of currency that has the same purchasing power that the US\$ has in the United States at a given point in time.
- ⁴¹⁴ Boler, T. and Ingham, R. 2007. *The Abstinence Debate: Condoms, the President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) and Ideology.* London, UK Working Group on Education and HIV/AIDS.
- ⁴¹⁵ UNAIDS IATT on Education. 2009. Education Sector Engagement with the AIDS and Aid Funding Architecture at the Country Level. Symposium Report, 17 November 2008. Unpublished document. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001802/180203e.pdf.
- ⁴¹⁶ Amico, P., Gobet, B., Avila-Figueroa, C., Aran, C. and De Lay, P. 2012. Pattern and levels of spending allocated to HIV prevention programs in low- and middle-income countries. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 12, No. 221. Doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-221.
- 417 Ibid.
- ⁴¹⁸ UNAIDS. 2013. Getting to Zero: HIV in Eastern and Southern Africa. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁴¹⁹ Extracted from UNESCO. 2012. Policy Brief. The Cost and Cost-Effectiveness of School-Based Sexuality Education Programmes. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴²⁰ The study was based on the actual costs and cost-effectiveness of existing sexuality education programmes, except that for India, which is based on the work plan and budget of an approved programme.
- ⁴²¹ Schwartländer, B., Stover, J., Hallett, T., Atun, R., Avila, C., Gouws, E., Bartos, M., Ghys, P. D., Opuni, M., Barr, D., Allsalaq, R., Bollinger, L., de Freitas, M., Garnett, G., Holmes, C., Legins, K., Pillay, Y., Stanciole, A. E., McLure, C., Hirnschall, G., Laga, M., and Padian, N., on behalf of the Investment Study Group. 2011. Towards an improved investment approach for an effective response to HIV / AIDS. *The Lancet*, Vol. 377, pp. 2031–41. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736 (11) 60702-2.
- 422 Ibid.
- ⁴²³ UNAIDS 2012. Investing for results. Results for people. A people-centred investment tool towards ending AIDS. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁴²⁴ Johnson, L. F., Dorrington, R. E., Bradshaw, D., du Plessis, H. and Mukubalo, L. 2009. The effect of educational attainment and other factors on HIV risk in South African women: results from antenatal surveillance, 2000–2005. *AIDS*, Vol. 23, No. 12, pp. 1583–88. DOI: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32832d407e.
- ⁴²⁵ Burroway, R. 2010. Schools against AIDS: secondary school enrollment and crossnational disparities in AIDS death rates. *Social Problems*, Vol. 57, No. 3, pp. 398–420. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/sp.2010.57.3.398. (Accessed 25 October 2011.)
- 426 EFA GMR. 2013. Education Transforms Lives. Paris, UNESCO.

- ⁴²⁷ Burroway, R. 2010. Schools against AIDS: secondary school enrollment and crossnational disparities in AIDS death rates. *Social Problems*, Vol. 57, No. 3, pp. 398–420. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/sp.2010.57.3.398. (Accessed 25 October 2011.)
- ⁴²⁸ Decisions, recommendations and conclusions of the 27th Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordination Board, Geneva, Switzerland, 6-8 December 2010.
- ⁴²⁹ UNDP. 2012. Understanding and Acting on Critical Enablers and Development Synergies for Strategic Investments. New York, UNDP.
- ⁴³⁰ UNAIDS IATT on Education. 2004. Education Sector Global HIV and AIDS Readiness Survey 2004, Policy Implications for Education and Development. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴³¹ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴³² Heard, W. and Babcock-Walters, P. 2010. Towards HIV and AIDS-Sensitive Education Sector M&E Systems in Eastern and Southern Africa. Report on the Rapid Assessment of the M&E Practices Related to Education and HIV and AIDS in 7 Countries across ESA. Unpublished report. EduSector AIDS Response Trust.
- 433 Ibid.
- ⁴³⁴ UNESCO. 2013. Measuring the Education Sector Response to HIV and AIDS: Guidelines for the Construction and Use of Core Indicators. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴³⁵ Mavedzenge, S. et al. 2010. *HIV Prevention in Young People in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review*. Unpublished document. http://www.schoolsandhealth.org/ Documents/HIV%20prevention%20in%20young%20people%20in%20sub-Saharan%20 Africa%20A%20Systemic%20Review.pdf.
- ⁴³⁶ Seidenfeld, D.S. and Haxton, C.L. 2011. A critical review of the evidence on the effectiveness of HIV / AIDS education programs for youth in Sub-Saharan Africa, *Effective Education*, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 23–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19415532.2011.603 897.
- ⁴³⁷ Bhana, D. 2009. 'They've got all the knowledge': HIV education, gender, and sexuality in South African primary schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 165–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01425690802700222.
- ⁴³⁸ Miedema, E. A. J., Maxwell, C. and Aggleton, P. 2011. Education About HIV / AIDS Theoretical Underpinnings for a Practical Response. Health Education Research Advance Access. DOI:101093/her/cyq088.
- ⁴³⁹ Haberland, N. 2011. Adolescent Policies and Programs: What's Good, What We Can Do Better. PowerPoint presentation to UN Expert meeting, New York.
- ⁴⁴⁰ Haberland, N. 2012. Ensuring education benefits girls to the full: synergies between education, gender equality, HIV and sexual and reproductive health. *Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Health Education: Gender Equality, HIV and Education*, pp. 17–23. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁴¹ Harrison, A., Newell, M. L., Imrie, J. and Hoddinott, J. 2010. HIV prevention for South African youth: which interventions work? A systematic review of current evidence. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 10, No. 102. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/10/102.
- ⁴⁴² Ndebele, M., Kasese-Hara, M. and Greyling, M. 2012. Application of the information, motivation and behavioural skills model for targeting HIV risk behaviour amongst adolescent learners in South Africa. *SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV / AIDS: An Open Access Journal*, Vol. 9, No. Suppl. 1, S37–S47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17290376.20 12.744903.
- ⁴⁴³ Yankah, E. and Aggleton, P. 2008. Effects and effectiveness of life skills education for HIV prevention in young people. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, Vol. 20, No. 6, pp. 465–85.

- ⁴⁴⁴ Boler, T. and Aggleton, P. 2005. *Life Skills-Based Education for HIV Prevention: A Critical Analysis.* Policy and Research Issue 3, UN working group on education and HIV/AIDS. London, Save the Children and ActionAid International. http://www.aidsconsortium.org. uk/Education/educationworkinggroup.html.
- ⁴⁴⁵ Thornton, R. 2008. Unimagined Community: Sex, Networks, and AIDS in Uganda and South Africa. London, University of California Press.
- ⁴⁴⁶ Gupta, G. R., Parkhurst, J. O., Ogden, J. A., Aggleton, P. and Mahal, A. 2008. Structural approaches to HIV prevention. *The Lancet*, Vol. 372 (9640), pp. 764–75.
- ⁴⁴⁷ Were, M. 2007. Determinants of teenage pregnancies: the case of Busia District in Kenya. *Economics and Human Biology*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 322-39.
- ⁴⁴⁸ Panday, S. et al. *Teenage Pregnancy in South Africa With a Specific Focus on School-Going Learners*. Pretoria, Child, Youth, Family and Social Development, Human Sciences Research Council, of Basic Education.
- ⁴⁴⁹ WHO. 2002. Defining Sexual Health: Report of a Technical Consultation on Sexual Health, 28–31 January, 2002. Geneva, World Health Organization, p. 11.
- ⁴⁵⁰ Blankenship, K. M., Bray, S. J. and Merson, M. H. 2000. Structural interventions in public health. *AIDS*, Vol. 14 (Suppl 1), pp. S11–S21.
- ⁴⁵¹ Gupta, G. R., Parkhurst, J. O., Ogden, J. A., Aggleton, P. and Mahal, A. 2008. Structural approaches to HIV prevention. *The Lancet*, Vol. 372 (9640), pp. 764–75.
- ⁴⁵² Auerbach, J. D., Parkhurst, J. O., Caceres, C. F. and Keller, K. E. 2009. Addressing Social Drivers of HIV/AIDS: Some Conceptual, Methodological, and Evidentiary Considerations. Working Paper No. 24. London, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine.
- ⁴⁵³ Kippax, S. 2008. Understanding and integrating the structural and biomedical determinants of HIV infection: a way forward for prevention. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*, Vol. 3, pp. 489–94.
- ⁴⁵⁴ Lutz, B. 2012. Can (conditional) cash transfers contribute to HIV prevention for girls? *Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Education*, Booklet 7. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0021/002187/218793e.pdf.
- ⁴⁵⁵ World Bank. 2010. A Cash Transfer Program Reduces HIV Infections among Adolescent Girls. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- ⁴⁵⁶ Strobbe, F. and Miller, C. 2011. Cash Transfers in an Epidemic Context: The Interaction of Formal and Informal Support in Rural Malawi. Policy Research Working Paper 5824. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- ⁴⁵⁷ Baird, S. et al. 2009. The Short-Term Impacts of a Schooling Conditional Cash Transfer Program on the Sexual Behaviour of Young Women. Impact Evaluation Series No. 40, Policy Research Working Paper 5089. Washington, DC, World Bank.
- ⁴⁵⁸ EFA GMR. 2012. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012: Youth and Skills—Putting Education to Work. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁵⁹ UNFPA. 2011. State of World Population 2011: People and Possibilities in a World of 7 Billion. New York, UNFPA. Quoted in UNCSD. 2012. Rio 2012 Issues Briefs, No. 14.
- ⁴⁶⁰ UN DESA, Population Division. 2011. World Population Prospects: The 2010 Revision (updated 28 June, 2011). Quoted in UNCSD. 2012. Rio 2012 Issues Briefs, No. 14.
- ⁴⁶¹ Population Reference Bureau. 2012. 2012 World Population Data Sheet. Washington, DC, Population Reference Bureau. http://www.prb.org/pdf12/2012-population-data-sheet_ eng.pdf. (Accessed 26 February 2013.)
- ⁴⁶² UNICEF. 2012b. Progress for Children 2012 A Report Card on Adolescents. New York, UNICEF.

- 463 Ibid.
- ⁴⁶⁴ UN DESA. 2012. *The World Population Prospects, 2012 Revision*. New York, UN DESA. http://esa.un.org/wpp/wpp2012/wpp2012_1.htm . These figures exclude countries in Western and Central Asia.
- ⁴⁶⁵ UN. 2011. World Population Prospects: The 2010 Revision. New York, UN DESA, Population Division.
- ⁴⁶⁶ See http://populationpyramid.net/ for data visualisations of 2010 populations and projections for all countries and regions.
- ⁴⁶⁷ WHO. 2013. Infant Mortality. Geneva, WHO. http://www.who.int/gho/child_health/ mortality/neonatal_infant_text/en/index.html . (Accessed 4 March 2013.)
- ⁴⁶⁸ Gribble, J. N. and Bremner, J. 2012. *The Challenge of Attaining the Demographic Dividend*. Washington, DC, Population Reference Bureau.
- ⁴⁶⁹ Asian Development Bank. 2012. Asian Development Outlook 2012: Confronting Rising Inequality in Asia. Manila, ADB. http://www.adb.org/publications/asian-developmentoutlook-2012-confronting-rising-inequality-asia. (Accessed 4 March 2013.)
- 470 Gribble, J. N. and Bremner, J. 2012. *The Challenge of Attaining the Demographic Dividend*.
 Washington, DC, Population Reference Bureau.
- ⁴⁷¹ EFA GMR. 2012. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012: Youth and Skills—Putting Education to Work. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁷² GEFI.2012. Global Education First Initiative. New York, UN.
- ⁴⁷³ EFA GMR. 2012. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012: Youth and Skills—Putting Education to Work. Paris, UNESCO.
- 474 Ibid.
- 475 Ibid.
- 476 Ibid.
- 477 Ibid.
- ⁴⁷⁸ UIS. 2012. Global Education Digest 2012. Opportunities Lost: The Impact of Grade Repetition and Early School Leaving. Montreal, UIS.
- 479 Ibid.
- ⁴⁸⁰ See UNESCO's *ICT in Education* website. http://www.unesco.org/new/en/unesco/ themes/icts/m4ed/ (Accessed 30 October 2013.)
- ⁴⁸¹ The World Bank. 2012. Information and Communications for Development 2012: Maximising Mobile. Conference Edition. Washington, DC, The World Bank.
- ⁴⁸² UNESCO. 2013. UNESCO Policy Guidelines for Mobile Learning. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁸³ EFA GMR. 2012. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012: Youth and Skills—Putting Education to Work. Paris, UNESCO.
- 484 Ibid.
- ⁴⁸⁵ UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2007. General Education Digest 2007. Montreal, UNESCO-UIS.
- 486 Ibid.
- 487 OECD. 2011. Education at a Glance 2011: OECD Indicators.Paris, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2011-en
- ⁴⁸⁸ EFA GMR. 2012. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012: Youth and Skills—Putting Education to Work. Paris, UNESCO.

- 489 OECD. 2012. Aid statistics. http://www.oecd.org/development/stats/ developmentaidtodevelopingcountriesfallsbecauseofglobalrecession.htm . (Accessed 27 March 2013.)
- ⁴⁹⁰ EFA GMR. 2012. EFA Global Monitoring Report 2012: Youth and Skills—Putting Education to Work. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁹¹ EFA GMR. 2013. Education for All is Affordable by 2015 and Beyond. Policy Paper 06. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁴⁹² UNAIDS. 2012. Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2012. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁴⁹³ Kaiser Family Foundation, UNAIDS. 2012. Financing the Response to AIDS in Low- and Middle- Income Countries: International Assistance from Donor Governments in 2011. Unpublished report. http://www.kff.org/hivaids/upload/7347-08.pdf. (Accessed 28 March 2013.)
- 494 Ibid.
- ⁴⁹⁵ UNAIDS. 2012. Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2012. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁴⁹⁶ UNAIDS. 2009. Impact of the Global Financial and Economic Crisis on the AIDS Response. 25th Meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board, Geneva Switzerland, 8–10 December 2009. Geneva, UNAIDS
- ⁴⁹⁷ Amico, P., Gobet, B., Avila-Figueroa, C., Aran, C. and De Lay, P. 2012. Pattern and levels of spending allocated to HIV prevention programs in low- and middle-income countries. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 12, No. 221. Doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-221.
- 498 Ibid.
- ⁴⁹⁹ UNESCO and the Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+). 2012. Positive Learning: Meeting the Needs of Young People Living with HIV (YPLHIV) in the Education Sector. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁰⁰ UNESCO. 2008. School-centred HIV and AIDS Care and Support in Southern Africa. Technical Consultation Report, 22–24 May 2008, Gaborone, Botswana. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁰¹ Helleve, A., Flisher, A.J., Onya, H., Mukoma, W. and Klepp, K.I. 2011. Can any teacher teach sexuality and HIV / AIDS? Perspectives of South African life orientation teachers. *Sex Education*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 13–26.
- ⁵⁰² Clarke, D. J. 2008. *Heroes and Villains: Teachers in the Education Response to HIV*. Paris, IIEP. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0018/001815/181572e.pdf.
- ⁵⁰³ UNESCO. 2005. *HIV and AIDS Treatment Education*. Technical Consultation Report, November 2005. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁰⁴ UNESCO. 2006. Treatment Education: A Critical Component of Efforts to Ensure Universal Access to Prevention, Treatment and Care. UNAIDS Inter-Agency Task Team on Education. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁰⁵ Cohen, M. S., Chen, Y. Q., McCauley, M. et al. 2011. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. New England Journal of Medicine, Vol. 365, pp. 493–505.
- ⁵⁰⁶ See Auvert, B.E. et al. 2005. Randomized, controlled intervention trial of male circumcision for reduction of HIV infection risk: the ANRS 1265 trial. *PLoS Medicine*, Vol. 2, No. 11, e298.
- ⁵⁰⁷ Gray, R. H. et al. 2007. Male circumcision for HIV prevention in young men in Rakai, Uganda: a randomised trial. *The Lancet*, Vol. 369, pp. 657–66.
- ⁵⁰⁸ Bailey, R. C. et al. 2007. Male circumcision for HIV prevention in young men in Kisumu, Kenya: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, Vol. 369 (9562), pp. 643–56.

- ⁵⁰⁹ The Centre for the AIDS Program of Research in South Africa (CAPRISA) 004 trial which assessed the effectiveness and safety of a 1 per cent vaginal gel formulation of tenofovir.
- ⁵¹⁰ UNAIDS. 2012. Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁵¹¹ UN . 2010. Report of the United Nations Special Rapporteur on the Right to Education. New York, UN.
- ⁵¹² See for example Bali Global Youth Forum Declaration, 2012, http://icpdbeyond2014.org/ uploads/browser/files/bali_global_youth_forum_declaration.pdf, and Accra Call to Action, 2012, http://www.unfpa.org.br/cairo20/accra_call_action_icpd.pdf.
- ⁵¹³ Boonstra, H. D. 2011. Advancing sexuality education in developing countries: evidence and implications. *Guttmacher Policy Review*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 17–33.
- ⁵¹⁴ UNICEF Evaluation Office. 2012. Global Evaluation of Life Skills Education Programmes. New York, UNICEF.
- ⁵¹⁵ Boonstra, H. D. 2011. Advancing sexuality education in developing countries: evidence and implications. *Guttmacher Policy Review*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. pp. 17–33.
- ⁵¹⁶ http://www.plusnews.org/Report/94046/RWANDA-Parents-teachers-divided-overcondom-initiative.
- ⁵¹⁷ Njue, C., Voeten, H. and Ahlberg, B.M. 2011. 'Youth in a void': sexuality, HIV / AIDS and communication in Kenyan public schools. *Sex Education*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 459–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14681811.2011.595271.
- ⁵¹⁸ Ibid.
- ⁵¹⁹ IPPF. 2013. *The ViiV Healthcare Effect*. http://www.viivhealthcareeffect.com/tour-ourprogrammes/act-tour-2012.aspx. (Accessed 21 October 2013.)
- ⁵²⁰ Al-Iryani, B., Basaleem, H., Al-Sakkaf, K., Crutzen, R., Kok, G. and Van den Borne, B. 2011. Evaluation of a school-based HIV prevention intervention among Yemeni adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 11, No. 279.
- ⁵²¹ Ahmed, Z. 2011. Youth at the nexus: ideology in HIV prevention in Nairobi, Kenya. Sex Education, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 129–54. DOI: 10.1080/14681811.558422.
- ⁵²² UNFPA. 2013. *Population Reproductive Health in the Russian Federation*. Unpublished document.
- ⁵²³ IPPF European Network Choices. 2011. Sexuality Education in Europe and Central Asia. Brussels. http://www.ippfen.org/NR/rdonlyres/CAEAED62-A6D0-4327-B109-87F9B80AB501/0/ippfchoices2011.pdf.
- ⁵²⁴ Larson, C. 2013. Chinese parents support more sex education in schools. *Bloomberg Business Week*, 4 June. http://www.businessweek.com/articles/2013-06-04/chinese-parents-support-more-sex-education-in-schools. (Accessed 21 October 2013.)
- ⁵²⁵ St Leger, L., Young, I., Blanchard, C. and Perry, M. 2010. *Promoting Health in Schools: From Evidence to Action*. Paris, IUHPE.
- ⁵²⁶ Focusing Resources on Effective School Health is a partnership between UN agencies, including UNESCO, and civil society to improve the health and learning outcomes of school children and staff. See www.freshschools.org.
- ⁵²⁷ IUHPE. 2009. Achieving Health Promoting Schools: Guidelines for Promoting Health in Schools. 2nd Edition of the document formerly known as "Protocols and Guidelines for Health Promoting Schools" (2008). IUHPE. http://www.iuhpe.org/index. html?page=516&lang=en#sh_guidelines .(Accessed 1 April 2013.)
- 528 Ibid.

- ⁵²⁹ World Association for Sexual Health. 2008. Sexual Health for the Millennium: A Declaration and Technical Document. Minneapolis, World Association for Sexual Health.
- ⁵³⁰ Nussbaum, M.C. 2010. Not for Profit: Why Democracy Needs the Humanities. Princeton, Princeton University Press.
- ⁵³¹ Silin, J.G. 1995. Sex, Death, and the Education of Children: Our Passion for Ignorance in the Age of AIDS. New York, Teachers College Press.
- ⁵³² Torstensson, G. and Brundrett, M. 2009. The challenges to primary school leadership of HIV / AIDS in Botswana: the inadequacy of school effectiveness models in the context of the pandemic. *ISEA*, Vol. 37, No. 1, pp. 74–90.
- ⁵³³ Silin, J.G. 1995. Sex, Death, and the Education of Children: Our Passion for Ignorance in the Age of AIDS. New York, Teachers College Press.
- ⁵³⁴ Howe, K. 1998. The interpretive turn and the new debate in education. *Educational Researcher*, Vol. 27, No. 8, pp. 13–20.
- ⁵³⁵ Wood, L. 2012. 'Every teacher is a researcher!': creating indigenous epistemologies and practices for HIV prevention through values-based action research. SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS: An Open Access Journal, Vol. 9, No. Sup 1, pp. S19–S27. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1080/17290376.2012.744910.
- ⁵³⁶ Michielsen, K., Beauclair, R., Delva, W., Roelens, K., Van Rossem, R. and Temmerman, M. 2012. Effectiveness of a peer-led HIV prevention intervention in secondary schools in Rwanda: results from a non-randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*, Vol. 12, No. 729. http://www.biomedcentral.com.
- ⁵³⁷ World Association for Sexual Health. 2008. Sexual Health for the Millennium: A Declaration and Technical Document. Minneapolis, World Association for Sexual Health.
- ⁵³⁸ Bhana, D. 2009. 'They've got all the knowledge': HIV education, gender, and sexuality in South African primary schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 165–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01425690802700222.
- ⁵³⁹ Noar, S., Anderman, E. M., Zimmerman, R. S. and Cupp, P. 2004. Fostering student motivation in health education: are we applying relevant theory to school-based HIV prevention programs? *Journal of Psychology and Human Sexuality*, Vol. 16, pp. 59–76, quoted in Anderman, E. M. et al. 2011. Classroom goal structures and HIV pregnancy prevention education in rural high school health classrooms. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, Vol. 21, No. 4, pp. 904–22. DOI: 10.11/j.1532-7795.2011.00751.x.
- ⁵⁴⁰ See for example Dewey's *Experience & Education* (1938); Freire's *Education for Critical Consciousness* (1973); Darling-Hammond's *Powerful Learning: What We Know About Teaching for Understanding* (2008).
- 541 Ibid.
- ⁵⁴² Silin, J.G. 1995. Sex, Death, and the Education of Children: Our Passion for Ignorance in the Age of AIDS. New York, Teachers College Press.
- 543 Ibid.
- ⁵⁴⁴ Delors, J. 1996. Learning: The Treasure Within. Report to UNESCO of the International Commission on Education for the Twenty-first Century. (Highlights.) Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁴⁵ Cuban, L. 1993. How Teachers Taught: Constancy and Change in American Classrooms 1890–1990. New York, Teacher's College Press.
- ⁵⁴⁶ Martin, J. 1981. Models of Classroom Management. Calgary, Detselig Enterprises.
- ⁵⁴⁷ UNICEF Barbados and the Eastern Caribbean. 2011. *Final Regional Report: Situation Analysis of Sexuality Education in the Caribbean*. Unpublished report..

- ⁵⁴⁸ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁴⁹ Bhana, D. 2009. 'They've got all the knowledge': HIV education, gender, and sexuality in South African primary schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 165–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01425690802700222.
- ⁵⁵⁰ Holderness, W.L. 2012. Equipping educators to address HIV and AIDS: a review of selected teacher education initiatives. SAHARA-J: Journal of Social Aspects of HIV / AIDS: An Open Access Journal, Vol. 9 (Suppl 1), pp. S48–S55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1729037 6.2012.744901.
- ⁵⁵¹ Bhana, D. 2009. 'They've got all the knowledge': HIV education, gender, and sexuality in South African primary schools. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, Vol. 30, No. 2, pp. 165–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01425690802700222.
- ⁵⁵² See for example Dankmeijer, P. (ed.). 2011. GALE Toolkit: Working with Schools 1.0. Tools for school consultants, principals, teachers, students and parents to integrate adequate attention of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender topics in curricula and school policies. Amsterdam, GALE (The Global Alliance for LGBT Education). www.lgbt-education.info.
- ⁵⁵³ For more information see UNESCO. 2012. *Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Health Education: Education Sector Responses to Homophobic Bullying*. Booklet 8. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁵⁴ UNICEF. 2010. Blame and Banishment. The Underground HIV Epidemic Affecting Children in Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Geneva, UNICEF. http://www.unicef.org/ceecis/ UNICEF_BlameBanishment_WEB_final.pdf.
- ⁵⁵⁵ For more information see UNESCO. 2012. *Good Policy and Practice in HIV and Health Education: Education Sector Responses to Homophobic Bullying*. Booklet 8. Paris, UNESCO.
- ⁵⁵⁶ UNAIDS IATT. 2013. 2011–2012 Education Sector HIV and AIDS Global Progress Survey. Progression, Regression or Stagnation? Paris, UNESCO.
- 557 See Vygotsky's Mind in Society: The development of Higher Psychological Processes (1978)
- ⁵⁵⁸ ILO. 2012. Joint ILO UNESCO Committee of Experts on the Application of the Recommendations Concerning Teaching Personnel, Final Report. Geneva, ILO.
- ⁵⁵⁹ Torstensson, G. and Brundrett, M. 2009. The challenges to primary school leadership of HIV / AIDS in Botswana: the inadequacy of school effectiveness models in the context of the pandemic. *ISEA*, Vol. 37, No. 1, pp. 74–90.
- 560 Ibid.
- ⁵⁶¹ Silin, J.G. 1995. Sex, Death, and the Education of Children: Our Passion for Ignorance in the Age of AIDS. New York, Teachers College Press.
- ⁵⁶² UNICEF. 2013. Technical Brief. Effectiveness of HIV Prevention, Treatment and Care Interventions Among Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. New York, UNICEF.
- ⁵⁶³ UNFPA. 2012. Status Report: Adolescents and Young People in Sub-Saharan Africa. New York,

UNFPA. http://www.prb.org/pdf12/status-reportyouth-subsaharan-Africa.pdf. (Accessed 30 August 2013.)

⁵⁶⁴ Council of Europe. 2011. *Report on Discrimination on Grounds of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity in Europe*. 2nd ed. Paris, Council of Europe.

- ⁵⁶⁵ UNAIDS. 2011. UNAIDS Terminology Guidelines. Geneva, UNAIDS.
- ⁵⁶⁶ UNICEF Evaluation Office. 2012. Global Evaluation of Life Skills Education Programmes. New York, UNICEF.
- ⁵⁶⁷ International Commission of Jurists. 2007. Yogyakarta Principles Principles on the Application of International Human Rights Law in Relation to Sexual Orientation and Identity. http://www.yogyakartaprinciples.org/principles_en.pdf.
- ⁵⁶⁸ UNAIDS. 2010. An Introduction to Indicators. Geneva, UNAIDS.

EDUCATION ON THE MOVE

Bringing the latest thinking in education to education specialists worldwide

Created by UNESCO, the series – **Education on the Move** – focuses on key trends in education today and challenges for tomorrow. The series seeks to bring research knowledge produced by various academic disciplines and within various organizations to those who can shape educational policies and drive reforms. As such, it also intends to contribute to on-going reflections on the international education agenda.

Charting the Course of Education and HIV

More than three decades after the identification of the virus, HIV continues to affect millions of people worldwide even though infection rates are down in a number of countries. From the beginning, the education sector has played a central role in responding to HIV. However, its role and the contribution of school-based HIV education has been the subject of much debate. This book provides an overview of how the role of the education sector and approaches to HIV education have evolved over time. Building on the findings of recent research and regional studies, it examines lessons learned, emerging challenges and opportunities, and proposes a way forward for the education sector to contribute to the prevention of new infections, treatment and care, and the reduction of stigma and discrimination.





United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization Education Sector